

Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports

2016

# Controls on ecosystem nitrogen (N) status and carbon (C) balance in red spruce forests located in a region of historically high atmospheric N deposition.

Kenneth R. Smith

Follow this and additional works at: https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd

#### **Recommended Citation**

Smith, Kenneth R., "Controls on ecosystem nitrogen (N) status and carbon (C) balance in red spruce forests located in a region of historically high atmospheric N deposition." (2016). *Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports.* 8176. https://researchrepository.wvu.edu/etd/8176

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by the The Research Repository @ WVU with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you must obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/ or on the work itself. This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in WVU Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Problem Reports collection by an authorized administrator of The Research Repository @ WVU. For more information, please contact researchrepository@mail.wvu.edu.

Controls on ecosystem nitrogen (N) status and carbon (C) balance in red spruce forests located in a region of historically high atmospheric N deposition

Kenneth R. Smith

Dissertation submitted to the Eberly College of Arts and Sciences at West Virginia University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Biology

Richard B. Thomas, Ph. D., Chair Amy Hessl, Ph. D. James B. McGraw, Ph. D. Brenden McNeil, Ph. D. William T. Peterjohn, Ph. D.

Department of Biology Morgantown, West Virginia 2016

Keywords: nitrogen; nitrogen deposition; red spruce; carbon allocation

Copyright 2016 Kenneth R. Smith

#### Abstract

## Controls on ecosystem nitrogen (N) status and carbon (C) balance in red spruce forests located in a region of historically high atmospheric N deposition

#### Kenneth R. Smith

Atmospheric deposition of reactive nitrogen (N) can have a strong influence on patterns of carbon (C) and N cycling in forest ecosystems. High-elevation red spruce (*Picea rubens* Sarg.) forests in the central Appalachian Mountains have historically been among the most sensitive ecosystems to the negative effects of N deposition. I examined the primary environmental factors that influence 1) N status, 2) belowground C balance, and 3) red spruce aboveground growth in seven high-elevation study sites that are located in an area where N deposition has been historically moderate to high. I established the seven sites in 2011 along a transect of N deposition within the central Appalachian Mountains with the goal of determining whether historically elevated rates of N deposition were continuing to have long-term effects on ecosystem function.

With respect to N-induced changes to forest N status, I found no evidence that patterns of N availability were associated with N deposition; instead, I found that site-level differences in the abundance of broadleaf deciduous tree species were a consistently better predictor of N status at these sites. Likewise, annual rates of soil respiration and total belowground C allocation (TBCA) were positively correlated with a higher abundance of broadleaf species, but were unrelated to N deposition. These results suggest that the abundance of broadleaf tree species had a strong influence on N status and soil C balance via differences in the quality and decomposability of aboveground litterfall inputs. I found that the variation in red spruce aboveground growth along this transect was primarily related to differences in mean annual temperature between sites. I observed a weak negative trend relating red spruce growth to imbalances in foliar gas exchange (i.e. ratio of foliar dark respiration to net photosynthesis), suggesting that tree growth was reduced in locations where photosynthetic C uptake was more significantly offset by C losses via respiration. Overall, these red spruce growth patterns indicate that cooler temperatures were a stronger limiting factor to aboveground production than N availability or N deposition.

This research suggests that environmental factors apart from N deposition control C and N cycling dynamics in these forests, despite the fact that red spruce ecosystems throughout the Northeast have been negatively affected by acidic deposition in the past. However, while rates of N deposition have significantly declined since their peak in the mid 1980s, it is possible that current rates of N deposition may still have some impacts on ecosystem function, but these effects were undetectable given the overwhelming influence of tree species. Overall, these results are encouraging and could indicate that red spruce forests in this region are in a period of recovery from pollution.

#### Acknowledgements

First, I would like to offer my sincerest thanks to my mentor, Dr. Richard Thomas. Richard, you have provided me with a wealth of knowledge over the last several years, and have remained a true friend and colleague throughout this time. I would also like to thank the remaining members of my dissertation committee, Drs. Amy Hessl, James McGraw, Brenden McNeil, and William Peterjohn, for their time and dedication toward my development as a researcher. To West Virginia University and especially the faculty, graduate students, and staff of the Biology Department, I am grateful for your support and for facilitating a positive and enjoyable work environment. In particular, Dr. Zach Fowler has been among the most caring and thoughtful mentors I have had at WVU, and I owe much of my successes to this friendship. I would also like to thank the countless graduate students and interns who I have worked with the Thomas Lab over the years. Justin Mathias and Ben Hedin deserve specific mention, as both of you have not only contributed to this dissertation work directly, but are also two of my closest friends and colleagues.

A special thanks goes to the US Forest Service, and especially Kent Karriker and Stephanie Connolly for providing advice as well as access to these red spruce ecosystems. Finally, I must thank my friends, family, and most importantly my parents, Daniel and Candace Smith. Without your love and support, none of my accomplishments would have been possible.

## **Table of Contents**

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Figures	vi
List of Tables	viii
Chapter 1. General Introduction	
1.1. Research Overview.	
1.2. Study Area and Plot Descriptions.	7
1.3. Study Objectives.	
1.4. Literature Cited.	
Chapter 2. Site-level importance of broadleaf deciduous tree nitrogen (N) deposition on ecosystem N status of Central App	s outweighs the legacy of high palachian red spruce forests.16
2.1. Abstract.	
2.2. Introduction	
2.3. Methods.	
2.4. Results	
2.5. Discussion.	
2.6. Tables and Figures.	
2.7. Literature Cited.	
Chapter 3. Annual soil respiration and belowground carbon red spruce forests are linked to broadleaf controls on N statu	allocation in high-elevation Is
3.1. Abstract.	
3.2. Introduction	
3.3. Methods.	
3.4. Results	
3.5. Discussion.	
3.6. Tables and Figures.	
3.7. Literature Cited.	
Chapter 4. Aboveground growth of red spruce trees at seven Appalachian Mountains with differing N availabilities	forest locations in the Central 
4.1. Abstract	
4.2. Introduction	

4.3. Methods	
4.4. Results	
4.5. Discussion	
4.6. Tables and Figures	
4.7. Literature Cited	
Chapter 5. General conclusions about the controls on N status and C ba Appalachian red spruce forests.	alance in Central 121
Appendix. Supplementary Tables and Figures	

#### **List of Figures**

- **Figure 3.1.** Comparison of (a) cumulative effective degree days and (b) cumulative precipitation between 2011 (solid line) and 2012 (dotted line), averaged across all study sites (shaded area depicts standard error of the mean for n = 7 sites). Cumulative effective degree days were iteratively calculated as the number of days in which the average daily air temperature was > 5°C. Similarly, cumulative precipitation was calculated as the sum of total daily precipitation throughout the year. The two vertical dashed lines represent the first (DOY 157) and last (DOY 287) sampling campaigns that were conducted across all sites for both 2011 and 2012.

- **Figure 3.4.** Comparisons of soil respiration and climatic conditions between the two study years (2011 and 2012): (a) data points are daily mean observed soil respiration ( $R_s$ ) for all study sites (2011, closed circles; 2012 open circles) while the daily trend line is modeled mean daytime (0700-1900 hrs) soil respiration averaged across n = 7 sites (2011, solid line; 2012, dotted line); (b) data points are daily mean observed soil temperature at 5-cm depth ( $T_s$ ) for all sites (2011, closed circles; 2012 open circles) while the daily trend line is datalogged mean daytime (0700-1900 hrs) soil temperature averaged across all sites (2011, solid line; 2012, dotted line); (c) mean cumulative monthly precipitation (Ppt) (± standard error bars)

- Figure 3.5. Relationships between annual soil respiration and annual litterfall for this study (2011: closed circles, 2012: open circles) and for a recently published meta-analysis (plus signs) (Davidson et al. 2002). Linear regression of these variables showed a slight trend for 2011 data (p = 0.057,  $R^2 = 0.54$ ), but was not significant for 2012 data (p = 0.15,  $R^2 = 0.36$ ).

### List of Tables

<ul> <li>Table 2.1. Site descriptions of the seven red spruce stands in the central Appalachian Mountains. Estimates of atmospheric N deposition rates were derived from National Atmospheric Deposition Program (2014). Annual and growing season (May through September) mean temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) were derived from PRISM Climate Group dataset for 1981-2010 normals (available online at http://prism.oregonstate.edu; accessed 17 April 2015). Year of stand establishment ("Est. Year") was determined by the age of the oldest red spruce tree sampled using standard tree core cross-dating techniques. Relative importance of canopy broadleaf deciduous species ("BD RIV") was calculated using the point-quarter sampling method in May 2014.</li> </ul>
<b>Table 2.2.</b> Comparison of corrected Akaike Information Criterion ( $\Delta AIC_c$ ) values for linear regression models of potential drivers of N availability and indices of N availability. $\Delta AIC$ values reflect the difference between the AIC of the most parsimonius model ( $\Delta AIC = 0$ ) and competing models. 36
<b>Table 3.1.</b> Model parameter estimates of Lloyd and Taylor (1994) function ( <i>Equation</i> 4) applied to empirical observations of soil temperature (5 cm) and soil respiration. Models were generated for the entire dataset ("All Pts"), and for 2011 and 2012 observations separately. Note: For the 2012 model, I included some 2011 observations (campaigns shown in parentheses) when low temperature data was not available for 2012
<b>Table 3.2.</b> Monthly comparisons of discrete field measurements (i.e. soil respiration and soil temperature), continuously logged temperature data, and estimated total precipitation between the summer months of 2011 and 2012 (calculated as the average of $n = 7$ sites). Monthly means were compared by year using one-way ANOVA; asterisks denote values that were significantly different in 2012. Note: No field campaigns were conducted during August 2011.73
<b>Table 3.3.</b> Estimates of annual soil respiration, the temperature response function (Q <sub>10</sub> ) of soil respiration over the soil temperature interval 10-15°C, annual litterfall C, and total belowground C allocation (TBCA) for 2011 and 2012
<b>Table 3.4.</b> Coefficients of determination ( $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) for linear regressions of soil respiration, $Q_{10}$ (over the soil temperature interval 10-15°C), and total belowground C allocation (TBCA) versus site-level predictor variables. $\Delta AIC_c$ for each column of data are shown in parentheses, with $\Delta AIC_c = 0$ for the most parsimonious model. Values shown in bold are significant (p<0.05).
<b>Table 4.1.</b> Coefficients of determination ( $R^2$ ) for linear regressions of red spruce growth (expressed on a per red spruce tree basis and averaged over a two-year interval, 2011-2013) and gas exchange (expressed in units of biomass and standardized to 25°C) versus site-level predictor variables. <i>BAI</i> , basal area increment; <i>BCI</i> , biomass C increment; <i>ABG</i> , total aboveground growth; $A_{net}$ , light-saturating photosynthesis; $R_{dark}$ , foliar dark respiration; $R_{wood}$ , wood CO <sub>2</sub> efflux. <sup>†</sup> , p < 0.1; *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01; ***, p < 0.0001
<b>Table 4.2.</b> Coefficients of determination $(R^2)$ for linear regressions of red spruce gas exchange (expressed on the basis of either surface area or biomass) and red spruce growth parameters.

BAI, basal area increment; BCI, biomass C increment; ABG, total aboveground growth;  $A_{\text{net}}$ ,

li 0.	ight-saturating photosynthesis; $R_{dark}$ , foliar dark respiration; $R_{wood}$ , wood CO <sub>2</sub> efflux. <sup>†</sup> , p < 0.1; *, p < 0.05; **, p < 0.01
Table M di	<b>S2.1.</b> Community composition for the seven red spruce stands in the central Appalachian Aountains. Species composition was determined using the point-quarter sampling method uring May 2014
Table su S U P ht	<b>S2.2.</b> Soil descriptions of red spruce study sites. Soil pH determined from 10 g ubsamples of homogenized mineral soil (5 cm depth) collected from each site during deptember 2012. Courtesy: Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture. Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database for Pocahontas, Randolph and Tucker Cos., WV and for Giles Co., VA. Available online at ttp://soildatamart.nrcs.usda.gov. Accessed 6 Dec 2012
Table P 20 sp n	<b>S2.3.</b> Nutrient supply rates (means and standard error) for each site measured using PRS, Plant Root Simulator <sup>TM</sup> -probes. Data was collected across a 59-day interval during June 011. Values with an asterisk (*) are significantly greater ( $p < 0.05$ ) than remaining red pruce sites. Italicized values are below method detection limit (MDL) for each measured utrient.
Table D	<b>S2.4.</b> Geology of red spruce study sites. Associated formations are shown in parentheses. Data derived from geological maps of West Virginia (ca. 1968) and Virginia (ca. 1993), ourtesy of the WV Geological and Economic Survey
Table ba	<b>S2.5.</b> Coefficients of determination $(R^2)$ for bivariate regression models between field- ased indices of soil N availability and specific N cycling rates from laboratory incubations. 131

Chapter 1. General Introduction.

#### 1.1. Research Overview.

Since the early 1900s increased industrial processes and fossil fuel emissions have led to a significant escalation in global atmospheric  $CO_2$  concentrations compared with preindustrial times. Forest ecosystems are the primary terrestrial sink for atmospheric  $CO_2$ , sequestering about 2.4 Pg C y<sup>-1</sup> or roughly 30% of fossil fuel C emissions (Pan et al. 2011; Le Quéré et al. 2013). However, while increases in atmospheric  $CO_2$  may stimulate the productivity of forests over short timescales, there is now a growing uncertainty as to whether increased  $CO_2$  uptake and sequestration by forests can be maintained (Hayes et al. 2011; Ma et al. 2012). Current models of climate and C cycling indicate that  $CO_2$  uptake may decrease as plant productivity declines and ecosystem respiration increases (Friedlingstein et al. 2006). The ability of forests to sequester atmospheric C depends on numerous factors, including species composition, forest age, climate, and nutrient availability. In forests that are nitrogen (N) limited,  $CO_2$  assimilation may be constrained by soil N availability or stimulated if N concentrations are replenished through fertilization or atmospheric deposition (Jain et al. 2009).

In addition to releasing greenhouse gases like  $CO_2$ , industrial and automotive fossil fuel burning also emits nitrogen oxides (NO<sub>x</sub>) and sulfur oxides (SO<sub>x</sub>) into the atmosphere. These primary pollutants undergo reactions in the atmosphere to form secondary compounds, such as nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>) and sulfuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>). Prevailing winds transport these secondary compounds away from their emission source and deposit them on terrestrial landscapes as acidic deposition. For many forest ecosystems, high rates of acidic deposition can lead to important changes in soil chemistry and forest productivity via increases in soil acidification, leaching of essential base cations, heavy metal mobilization, and sulfur (S) and N accumulation (Driscoll et al. 2001).

Atmospheric N deposition influences ecosystem function primarily through its effects on N availability and C balance. In many temperate forests, the availability of N places a significant nutrient constraint on net primary productivity (NPP) (Vitousek and Howarth 1991; LeBauer and Treseder 2008); therefore, increased inputs of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> through atmospheric deposition have the potential to stimulate C assimilation and tree growth (McNulty and Aber 1993; Pregitzer et al. 2008). However, chronic N deposition has also been shown to have negative

effects on forest productivity, including decreased frost hardiness in coniferous stands (Friedland et al. 1984; McNulty et al. 1996) and low root and mycorrhizal biomass (Dighton and Jansen 1991; Brandrud 1995). Whether forests exhibit positive or negative responses to atmospheric N deposition largely depends on the factors that determine the strength of ecosystem N sinks. For example, the most pronounced negative effects of deposition occur when N additions far exceed the demands of a N-limited ecosystem, resulting in a phenomenon known as N saturation (Aber et al. 1989, 1998).

The classic conceptual model of N saturation proceeds across four general stages (Aber et al. 1989, 1998). Under normal conditions most temperate forests are characterized as being N-limited (stage 0), with relatively low foliar N concentrations and low NPP. At this stage, soil  $NH_4^+$  is the primary source of inorganic N that is available for plant and mycorrhizal uptake, while rates of nitrification and  $NO_3^-$  leaching are low. As N additions increase through atmospheric deposition (stage 1), soil N is in greater supply and invariably stimulates plant growth. During this stage, soil N mineralization increases along with increases in foliar N content, biomass, and ultimately net primary productivity. With chronic addition of N, net nitrification becomes induced (stage 2), thus further contributing to high soil  $NO_3^-$  content. Once N inputs exceed plant demand (stage 3), critical changes in soil nutrient cycling begin to occur. At this point, rates of nitrification typically increase above ambient levels resulting in detectable  $NO_3^-$  losses through leaching, which can be accompanied by the loss of base cations (Aber et al. 1989; Fenn et al. 1998). Additionally, increased rates of denitrification may occur wherein  $N_2O$  and  $N_2$  are released back into the atmosphere (Davidson et al. 2000).

Recent empirical evidence has challenged the model of progressive N saturation proposed by Aber et al. (1989, 1998). For example, elevated rates of N deposition may stimulate net N mineralization, nitrification, and nitrate leaching for some sites but not others (Lovett and Rueth 1999; Nave et al. 2009). Moreover, tree growth responses to atmospheric N deposition appear to be species-specific (Thomas et al. 2010), and while foliar N content tends to be higher for sites that receive greater N inputs (Pardo et al. 2006; McNeil et al. 2007), this is not always the case (Aber et al. 2003). Much of this uncertainty likely reflects differences in N retention due to variability in climate, stand age, and species composition (Aber et al. 2003; Phillips et al. 2013).

To resolve some of these uncertainties, Lovett and Goodale (2011) developed a new conceptual model of N saturation, suggesting that the degree to which an ecosystem exhibits symptoms of N saturation depends on the strength of plant and soil N sinks, as well as the factors that influence how N is transferred between sinks. A key distinction between this model and the model proposed by Aber et al. (1989, 1998) is that N saturation can proceed through numerous pathways simultaneously, rather than through a stepwise series of events. While this model may explain why some ecosystems are more resilient to the negative impacts of N deposition, it does not provide an explicit framework to predict ecosystem responses to deposition due to our limited understanding of how state factors (e.g. climate, topography, geology, biota, and time) (Jenny 1994) interactively control the transfer of N to various sinks.

High-elevation red spruce (Picea rubens Sarg.) forests in the eastern United States are among the more sensitive ecosystems to environmental stressors like atmospheric N deposition; thus, they are an ideal model system to compare the strength of various state factor controls on forest C and N cycling dynamics. In the Central Appalachian Mountains of West Virginia and Virginia, red spruce communities once spanned an estimated 600,000 ha prior to European settlement (Hopkins 1899). These forests inhabited only the highest peaks and ridgelines in the region, exhibiting a strong preference for low temperature, subalpine conditions (Thomas-Van Gundy et al. 2012). During this pre-settlement time, natural disturbances like periodic extreme wind and snow storms were the primary agents responsible for canopy gap-phase dynamics (White et al. 1993; Rentch et al. 2010), while naturally-occurring wildfires were rare due to the cool, humid microclimates that red spruce forests occupy (White and Cogbill 1992). However, at the onset of the Industrial Revolution, the expansion of improved railroad technologies into these highelevation areas provided logging access to this high value timber species; as a result, many of these ecosystems were decimated by extensive clear-cutting practices and uncontrolled slash fires (Lewis 1998; Nowacki and Wendt 2010). Because of these disturbances by human activities, red spruce forests in this region currently occupy a much more limited range of about 10,000 ha (Lewis 1998).

High rates of acidic deposition have also had a severe, negative effect on these high-elevation red spruce forests. Between the mid 1960s and mid 1980s, native red spruce stands in the eastern

United States experienced periodic and unexplained growth declines throughout the species' range (Siccama et al. 1982; Johnson and Siccama 1983; Foster and Reiners 1983; Scott et al. 1984; Johnson and McLaughlin 1986). Initially, researchers were uncertain of the underlying causes of this decline and speculated that multiple factors could be responsible, including: age-related senescence, climate change, biotic pathogens, and acid deposition (Siccama et al. 1982; Johnson and McLaughlin 1986; Cook and Johnson 1989). However, a number of observational and experimental studies revealed that this widespread disturbance was most likely the result of increased acidic deposition due to the abundance of industrial activities in the eastern United States (Shortle and Smith 1988; DeHayes et al. 1999; Adams et al. 2012).

Indeed, experiments on red spruce trees have shown a variety of negative physiological responses to enhanced acidic deposition. Under high rates of atmospheric deposition, the accumulation of  $H^+$  ions displaces base cations from the soil exchange complex resulting in more acidic soils (Fernandez et al. 2003). As base cations such as  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  are displaced, they become highly mobile in soils and can be easily leached away through ground water (Likens et al. 1996; Fernandez et al. 2003). Acidic deposition can also induce  $Ca^{2+}$  losses directly through foliar leaching. Experimental studies have demonstrated that leaves exposed to acidic mist have accelerated rates of  $Ca^{2+}$  leaching, which may exacerbate foliar calcium deficiencies due to soil leaching (Joslin et al. 1988; DeHaves et al. 1991; McLaughlin et al. 1996; DeHaves et al. 1999; Schaberg et al. 2000). Because  $Ca^{2+}$  is critically important in plant stress responses, foliar  $Ca^{2+}$ depletions may potentially disrupt the ability of red spruce to cope with excessively cold temperatures, freezing injury, and  $Al^{3+}$  toxicity and may lead to decreased C storage over time (Minocha et al. 1996, 1997; DeHayes et al. 1999; Hawley et al. 2006; Halman et al. 2008). In particular, freezing injury associated with acid deposition can result in severe foliar dieback that can ultimately lead to reduced crown volume and basal area in red spruce populations (Wilkinson 1990; Tobi et al. 1995).

Given the inherent difficulties of studying long-term effects of atmospheric deposition on forest productivity, a large majority of studies have relied on high-dose fertilizer experiments to simulate chronic deposition. While these studies have provided ample evidence that excessive N additions can often lead to severe growth declines in both temperate deciduous (Duchesne et al.

2002) and coniferous forests (Aber et al. 1993; McNulty and Aber 1993; Magill et al. 2004), there are limitations to this approach that may impede our understanding of atmospheric deposition and forest health. First, high-dose fertilization experiments conducted over short intervals do not mimic anthropogenic N deposition, which is a chronic, low-level process occurring over a large temporal and spatial scale. Furthermore, plant responses to experimental N additions can vary over the course of an experiment depending on the rate and total amount of fertilizer applied.

In contrast, I conducted this research project using a gradient-based approach in order to examine whether patterns of N availability, belowground C balance, and tree growth in red spruce forests were associated with historically high rates of N deposition for the Central Appalachian region. Unlike studies that rely on experimental N additions, this type of observational approach across a large spatial scale offers distinct advantages. First, since these forests have only experienced N inputs from atmospheric deposition, these sites may be more representative of natural stands compared to those that receive high-dose experimental inputs. In addition, high-elevation red spruce forests have been historically sensitive to atmospheric N deposition; thus, this research affords a unique opportunity to study the effects of deposition in forests that are particularly vulnerable and may be more likely to respond.

Though high N deposition was a severe environmental perturbation in the 1980s, the passage of the 1990 Clean Air Act has initiated significant declines in  $NO_x$  emissions beginning around 2000. Consequently, rates of atmospheric N deposition have also decreased over the last two decades. While numerous studies have examined the negative effects of increased N deposition on terrestrial ecosystems, very few have examined the potential legacy effects of historically high pollution. As such there remains many uncertainties as to how quickly ecosystem processes return to ambient conditions following years of N additions. Thus, the aim of this research project was to evaluate whether historically high rates of N deposition were continuing to have effects on C and N cycling patterns in high-elevation forests.

#### **1.2. Study Area and Plot Descriptions.**

This research project was conducted in seven high-elevation red spruce forests located in the Appalachian Mountains of West Virginia and Virginia, a region where atmospheric N deposition rates have historically been among the highest in the United States. I established these study sites in 2011 along a 200 km transect that encompasses a range of estimated N deposition values for the region. In the mid 1980s, estimates of wet-only N deposition  $(NO_3^- + NH_4^+)$  along this transect were between 8.1 and 2.0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> (North to South) (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2014). However, following the Clean Air Act of 1990, significant reductions in NO<sub>x</sub> emissions have led to a 39-51% decrease in rainwater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations for this area (for comparison, rainwater  $NH_4^+$  concentrations have remained relatively constant since the 1980s) (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2016). As a result, this spatial gradient of atmospheric N deposition is currently less steep, with recent estimates that range between 6.6 and 3.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> (North to South). Despite these declines in N deposition, it remains an open question whether historically high rates of N deposition can have persistent impacts on forest health, particularly as N accumulates in ecosystem sinks. To account for potential legacy effects of historical deposition, I used interpolated data from the National Atmospheric Deposition Program (2014) to calculate cumulative N loading to each study site for the period between 1985 and 2012. Along the study transect, site-level estimates of wet-only  $(NO_3^- + NH_4^+)$  cumulative N deposition ranged between 117.5 and 206.9 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. After taking into account N inputs from dry deposition (HNO<sub>3</sub> + NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> + NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>), I estimated cumulative total N deposition (wet + dry) to range from 326.1 to 399.6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for these sites.

In the Central and Southern Appalachian Mountains, red spruce forests are naturally restricted to high elevation areas; thus, all of the study sites are located above 900 m, with each having a SW aspect and slopes between 0 and 10%. These sites represent second growth forests (~65-154 years) with red spruce as a major, canopy-dominant species, and eastern hemlock (*Tsuga canadensis*), yellow birch (*Betula alleghaniensis* var. *alleganiensis*), red maple (*Acer rubrum*), and black cherry (*Prunus serotina* var. *serotina*) as common associates. In 2011 my colleagues and I estimated the year of stand establishment for these forests by crossdating a representative sample of red spruce tree cores taken from each site (Stokes and Smiley 1996). The variation in

stand age for these sites ranged between 68-157 years, which was supported by independent estimates from the U.S. Forest Service (Kent Karriker, *personal communication*).

While soil types at each site vary slightly across the spatial gradient, they are all representative of red spruce forests, with high organic matter content, low pH, and low micronutrient supply. Since long-term climatological records for these sites are unavailable, I relied on digital grid estimates of point data to evaluate site-level differences in precipitation and temperature. Averaged over the period 1981-2010, annual precipitation for these sites varies between 1238 and 1591 mm, while mean annual temperature (MAT) ranges from 6.3 and 8.4°C across the study gradient (PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University).

#### 1.3. Study Objectives.

In this research project conducted in seven red spruce forests in the Central Appalachian Mountains, I tested three main objectives:

In *Chapter 2*, I examined whether the variation in N status at these sites was associated with historically high rates of N deposition. To characterize ecosystem N status, I used multiple indicators of N availability that incorporate the N cycling history of a forest stand over varying timescales, from seasons (e.g. net N transformations and resin ion-exchange) to years (e.g. foliar and soil  $\delta^{15}$ N composition) to decades (e.g. soil C:N). I then used a model selection approach to compare the relative strength of various environmental controls on N status, including N deposition, climate (temperature and precipitation), stand age, and tree species composition.

In *Chapter 3*, I tested the hypothesis that belowground C balance would be related to differences in N status. Over a two-year interval, I took repeated measurements of soil  $CO_2$  efflux and litterfall in order to obtain annual estimates of soil respiration and total belowground C allocation by plants. I then examined the primary environmental controls on these processes using the same model selection approach employed in *Chapter 2*. In *Chapter 4*, I examined the growth of red spruce trees at each site to determine whether historically high rates of N deposition were continuing to have negative effects on red spruce aboveground growth. In addition, I measured the C balance of red spruce foliage and stems to determine whether the observed growth responses were reflected by differences in C uptake via net photosynthesis and C loss via dark respiration. These estimates of growth and C flux were then modeled against a suite of environmental factors (including N deposition) to determine the main controls on aboveground C balance.

#### 1.4. Literature Cited.

- Aber, J. D., A. Magill, R. Boone, J. M. Melillo, and P. Steudler. 1993. Plant and soil responses to chronic nitrogen additions at the Harvard Forest, Massachusetts. Ecological Applications 3:156–166.
- Aber, J., W. McDowell, K. Nadelhoffer, A. Magill, G. Berntson, M. Kamakea, S. McNulty, W. Currie, L. Rustad, and I. Fernandez. 1998. Nitrogen saturation in temperate forest ecosystems. BioScience 48:921–934.
- Aber, J. D., C. L. Goodale, S. V. Ollinger, M.-L. Smith, A. H. Magill, M. E. Martin, R. A. Hallett, and J. L. Stoddard. 2003. Is Nitrogen Deposition Altering the Nitrogen Status of Northeastern Forests? BioScience 53:375–389.
- Aber, J. D., K. J. Nadelhoffer, P. Steudler, and J. M. Melillo. 1989. Nitrogen saturation in northern forest ecosystems. BioScience 39:378–386.
- Adams, M. B., C. Cogbill, E. R. Cook, D. H. DeHayes, I. J. Fernandez, K. F. Jensen, A. H. Johnson, D. W. Johnson, R. J. Kohut, and S. B. McLaughlin. 2012. Ecology and decline of red spruce in the eastern United States. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Brandrud, T. E. 1995. The effects of experimental nitrogen addition on the ectomycorrhizal fungus flora in an oligotrophic spruce forest at Gårdsjön, Sweden. Forest Ecology and Management 71:111–122.
- Cook, E. R., and A. H. Johnson. 1989. Climate change and forest decline: A review of the red spruce case. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution 48:127–140.
- Davidson, E. A. M. Keller, H. E. Erickson, L. V. Verchot, and E. Veldkemp. 2000. Testing a conceptual model of soil emissions of nitrous and nitric oxides. BioScience 50:667–680.
- DeHayes, D. H., P. G. Schaberg, G. J. Hawley, and G. R. Strimbeck. 1999. Acid rain impacts on calcium nutrition and forest health. BioScience 49:789–800.
- DeHayes, D. H., F. C. Thornton, C. E. Waite, and M. A. Ingle. 1991. Ambient cloud deposition reduces cold tolerance of red spruce seedlings. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 21:1292–1295.
- Dighton, J., and A. E. Jansen. 1991. Atmospheric pollutants and ectomycorrhizae: more questions than answers? Environmental Pollution 73:179–204.
- Driscoll, C. T., G. B. Lawrence, A. J. Bulger, T. J. Butler, C. S. Cronan, C. Eager, K. F. Lambert, G. E. Likens, J. L. Stoddard, and K. C. Weathers. 2001. Acidic deposition in the northeastern United States: Sources and inputs, ecosystem effects, and management strategies. BioScience 51:180–198.

- Duchesne, L., R. Ouimet, and D. Houle. 2002. Basal area growth of sugar maple in relation to acid deposition, stand health, and soil nutrients. Journal of Environmental Quality 31:1676–1683.
- Fenn, M. E., M. A. Poth, J. D. Aber, J. S. Baron, B. T. Bormann, D. W. Johnson, A. D. Lemly, S. G. McNulty, D. F. Ryan, and R. Stottlemyer. 1998. Nitrogen excess in North American ecosystems: Predisposing factors, ecosystem responses, and management strategies. Ecological Applications 8:706–733.
- Fernandez, I. G., L. E. Rustad, S. A. Norton, J. S. Kahl, and B. J. Cosby. 2003. Experimental acidification causes soil base-cation depletion at the Bear Brook Watershed in Maine. Soil Society of America Journal 67:1909–1919.
- Foster, J. R., and W. A. Reiners. 1983. Vegetation patterns in a virgin subalpine forest at Crawford Notch, White Mountains, New Hampshire. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 110:141–153.
- Friedland, A. J., R. A. Gregory, L. Kärenlampi, and A. H. Johnson. 1984. Winter damage to foliage as a factor in red spruce decline. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 14:963– 965.
- Friedlingstein, P., P. Cox, R. Betts, L. Bopp, W. von Bloh, V. Brovkin, P. Cadule, S. Doney, M. Eby, I. Fung, G. Bala, J. John, C. Jones, F. Joos, T. Kato, M. Kawamiya, W. Knorr, K. Lindsay, H. D. Matthews, T. Raddatz, P. Rayner, C. Reick, E. Roeckner, K.-G. Schnitzler, R. Schnur, K. Strassmann, A. J. Weaver, C. Yoshikawa, and N. Zeng. 2006. Climate-carbon cycle feedback analysis: Results from the C<sup>4</sup>MIP model intercomparison. Journal of Climate 19:3337–3353.
- Halman, J. M., P. G. Schaberg, G. J. Hawley, and C. Eagar. 2008. Calcium addion at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest increases sugar storage, antioxidant activity, and cold tolerance in native red spruce (*Picea rubens* Sarg.). Tree Physiology 11:83–90.
- Hawley, G. J., P. G. Schaberg, C. Eagar, and C. H. Borer. 2006. Calcium addition at the Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest reduced winter injury to red spruce in a high-injury year. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 36:2544–2549.
- Hayes, D. J., A. D. McGuire, D. W. Kicklighter, K. R. Gurney, T. J. Burnside, and J. M. Melillo. 2011. Is the northern high-latitude land-based CO<sub>2</sub> sink weakening? Global Biogeochemical Cycles 25.
- Hopkins A. D. 1899. Report on Investigations to Determine the Cause of Unhealthy Conditions of the Spruce and Pine from 1880–1893. WV Agricultural Experimental Station. Fairmont Index Steam Print, Morgantown, WV.

- Jain, A., X. Yang, H. Kheshgi, A. D. McGuire, W. Post, and D. Kicklighter. 2009. Nitrogen attenuation of terrestrial carbon cycle response to global environmental factors. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 23:GB4028
- Jenny, H. 1994. Factors of soil formation: a system of quantitative pedology. Courier Corporation.
- Johnson, A. H., and T. G. Siccama. 1983. Acid deposition and forest decline. Environmental Science and Technology 17:294A–305A.
- Johnson, A. H., and S. B. McLaughlin. 1986. The nature and timing of the deterioration of red spruce in the northern Appalachian Mountains. Pages 200–230 *in* Gibson, J., editors. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Joslin, J. D., C. McDuffie, and P. F. Brewer. 1988. Acidic cloud water and cation loss from red spruce foliage. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 39:355–363.
- LeBauer, D. S., and K. K. Treseder. 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. Ecology 89:371–379.
- Le Quéré, C., G. P. Peters, R. J. Andres, R. M. Andrew, T. Boden, P. Ciais, P. Friedlingstein, R. A. Houghton, G. Marland, and R. Moriarty. 2013. Global carbon budget 2013. Earth System Science Data Discussions 6:689–760.
- Lewis R. L. 1998. Transforming the Appalachian Countryside: Railroads, Deforestation, and Social Change in West Virginia, 1880-1990. University of North Carolina Press.
- Likens, G. E., C. T. Driscoll, and D. C. Buso. 1996. Long-term effects of acid rain: Response and recovery of a forest ecosystem. Science 272:244–246.
- Lovett, G. M., and C. L. Goodale. 2011. A New Conceptual Model of Nitrogen Saturation Based on Experimental Nitrogen Addition to an Oak Forest. Ecosystems 14:615–631.
- Lovett, G. M., and H. Rueth. 1999. Soil nitrogen transformations in beech and maple stands along a nitrogen deposition gradient. Ecological Applications 9:1330–1344.
- Ma, Z., C. Peng, Q. Zhu, H. Chen, G. Yu, W. Li, X. Zhou, W. Wang, and W. Zhang. 2012. Regional drought-induced reduction in the biomass carbon sink of Canada's boreal forests. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109:2423–2427.
- Magill, A. H., J. D. Aber, W. S. Currie, K. J. Nadelhoffer, M. E. Martin, W. H. McDowell, J. M. Melillo, and P. Steduler. 2004. Ecosystem response to 15 years of chronic nitrogen additions at the Harvard Forest LTER, Massachusetts, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 196:7–28.

- Marx, D. H., A. B. Hatch, and J. F. Mendicino. 1977. High soil fertility decreases sucrose content and susceptibility of loblolly pine roots to ectomycorrhizal infection by *Pisolithus tinctorius*. Canadian Journal of Botany 55:1569–1574.
- McLaughlin, J. W., I. J. Fernandez, and K. J. Richards. 1996. Atmospheric deposition to a lowelevation spruce-fir forest, Maine, USA. Journal of Environmental Quality 25:248–259.
- McNeil, B. E., J. M. Read, and C. T. Driscoll. 2007. Foliar nitrogen responses to elevated atmospheric nitrogen deposition in nine temperate forest canopy species. Environmental Science and Technology 41:5191–5197.
- McNulty, S. G., and J. D. Aber. 1993. Effects of chronic nitrogen additions on nitrogen cycling in a high-elevation spruce–fir stand. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23:1252–1263.
- McNulty, S. G., J. D. Aber, and S. D. Newman. 1996. Nitrogen saturation in a high elevation spruce-fir stand. Forest Ecology and Management 84:109–121.
- Minocha, R., W. C. Shortle, D. J. Coughlin, and S. C. Minocha. 1996. Effects of aluminum on growth, polyamine metabolism, and inorganic ions in suspension cultures of red spruce (*Picea rubens*). Canadian Journal of Forest Research 26:550–559.
- Minocha, R., W. C. Shortle, G. B. Lawrence, M. B. David, and S. C. Minocha. 1997.
   Relationships among foliar chemistry, foliar polyamines, and soil chemistry in red spruce trees growing across the northeastern United States. Plant and Soil 191:109–122.
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program. 2014. Total Deposition Maps. Version 2014.02. http://nadp.sws.uiuc.edu/committees/tdep/tdepmaps. Accessed 19 March 2015.
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program. 2016. NTN Data Access. NADP Program Office, Illinois State Water Survey, University of Illinois, Champaign, IL. http://nadp.isws.illinois.edu/data/ntn. Accessed 1 January 2016.
- Nave, L. E., E. D. Vance, C. W. Swanston, and P. S. Curtis. 2009. Impacts of elevated N inputs on north temperate forest soil C storage, C/N, and net N-mineralization. Geoderma 153:231–240.
- Nowacki G. and D. Wendt. 2010. The current distribution, predictive modeling, and restoration potential of red spruce in West Virginia. Pages 163–178 *in* Proceedings from the Conference on the Ecology and Management of High-Elevation Forests in the Central and Southern Appalachian Mountains. USDA-FS Northern Research Station, Slatyfork, WV.
- Pan, Y., R. A. Birdsey, J. Fang, R. Houghton, P. E. Kauppi, W. A. Kurz, O. L. Phillips, A. Shvidenko, S. L. Lewis, and J. G. Canadell. 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science 333:988–993.

- Pardo, L. H., P. H. Templer, C. L. Goodale, S. Duke, P. M. Groffman, M. B. Adams, P. Boeckx, J. Boggs, J. Campbell, B. Colman, J. Compton, B. Emmett, P. Gundersen, J. Kjønaas, G. Lovett, M. Mack, A. Magill, M. Mbila, M. J. Mitchell, G. McGee, S. McNulty, K. Nadelhoffer, S. Ollinger, D. Ross, H. Rueth, L. Rustad, P. Schaberg, S. Schiff, P. Schleppi, J. Spoelstra, and W. Wessel. 2006. Regional assessment of N saturation using foliar and root δ<sup>15</sup>N. Biogeochemistry 80:143–171.
- Phillips, R. P., E. Brzostek, and M. G. Midgley. 2013. The mycorrhizal-associated nutrient economy: a new framework for predicting carbon-nutrient couplings in temperate forests. New Phytologist 199:41–51.
- Pregitzer, K. S., A. J. Burton, D. R. Zak, and A. F. Talhelm. 2008. Simulated chronic nitrogen deposition increases carbon storage in Northern Temperate forests. Global Change Biology 14:142–153.
- PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University. http://prism.oregonstate.edu. Accessed 17 April 2015.
- Rentch, J. S., T. M. Schuler, G. J. Nowacki, N. R. Beane, and W. M. Ford. 2010. Canopy gap dynamics of second-growth red spruce-northern hardwood stands in West Virginia. Forest Ecology and Management 260:1921–1929.
- Schaberg, P. G., D. H. DeHayes, G. J. Hawley, G. R. Strimbeck, J. R. Cumming, P. F. Murakami, and C. H. Borer. 2000a. Acid mist and soil Ca and Al alter the mineral nutrition and physiology of red spruce. Tree Physiology 20:73–85.
- Scott, J. T., T. G. Siccama, A. H. Johnson, and A. R. Breisch. 1984. Decline of red spruce in the Adirondacks, New York. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 111:438–444.
- Shortle, W. C., and K. T. Smith. 1988. Aluminum-induced calcium deficiency syndrome in declining red spruce. Science 240:1017–1021.
- Siccama, T. G., M. Bliss, and H. W. Vogelmann. 1982. Decline of red spruce in the Green Mountains of Vermont. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 109:162–168.
- Stokes M. A. and T. L. Smiley. 1996. An Introduction to Tree-Ring Dating. University of Arizona Press, Tuscon, AZ
- Thomas, R. Q., C. D. Canham, K. C. Weathers, and C. L. Goodale. 2010. Increased tree carbon storage in response to nitrogen deposition in the U.S. Nature Geoscience 3:13–17.
- Thomas-Van Gundy, M., M. Strager, and J. Rentch. 2012. Site characteristics of red spruce witness tree locations in the uplands of West Virginia, USA. Journal of the Torrey Botanical Society 139:391–405.

- Tobi, D. R., P. M. Wargo, and D. R. Bergdahl. 1995. Growth response of red spruce after known periods of winter injury. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 25:669–681.
- Vitousek, P. M., and R. W. Howarth. 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? Biogeochemistry 13:87–115.
- White, P. S., E. R. Buckner, J. D. Pittillo, and C. V. Cogbill. 1993. High-elevation forests: spruce-fir forests, northern hardwood forests, and associated communities. Pages 305–338 *in* Martin, W. H., S.G. Boyce, and A. C. Echternacht, editors. Biodiversity of the Southeastern United States: Upland Terrestrial Communities. John Wiley and Sons, New York, NY.
- White, P. S., and C. V. Cogbill. 1992. Spruce-fir forests of eastern North America. Pages 3–39 *in* Eagar, C., and M. B. Adams, editors. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY.
- Wilkinson, R. C. 1990. Effects of winter injury on basal area and height growth of 30-year-old red spruce from 12 provenances growing in northern New Hampshire. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 20:1616–1622.

# Chapter 2. Site-level importance of broadleaf deciduous trees outweighs the legacy of high nitrogen (N) deposition on ecosystem N status of Central Appalachian red spruce forests.

Published as: Smith, K. R., J. M. Mathias, B. E. McNeil, W. T. Peterjohn, and R. B. Thomas. 2016. Site-level importance of broadleaf deciduous trees outweighs the legacy of high nitrogen (N) deposition on ecosystem N status of Central Appalachian red spruce forests. Plant and Soil. doi: 10.1007/s11104-016-2940-z, in press.

#### 2.1. Abstract.

Atmospheric nitrogen (N) deposition can influence forest ecosystem N status, and the resilience of forests to the effects of N deposition depends on a number of co-occurring environmental factors that regulate N retention or loss. In this study, I test the idea that N deposition may have important and long-lasting impacts on patterns of N cycling by using field and laboratory techniques to assess N status in seven high-elevation Central Appalachian red spruce (Picea rubens Sarg.) forests located at sites that historically received moderate to high inputs of N atmospheric deposition. During 2011 and 2012, I measured multiple indices of N availability (e.g. foliar/soil C:N and  $\delta^{15}$ N, resin ion-exchange, and N transformation rates) that integrate N cycling over seasonal to decadal time scales. Using a model selection approach, I compared the strength of the association between various environmental factors and temporally-integrated indices of N status in a series of regression models. Site-level differences in the relative importance value of broadleaf deciduous (BD) trees consistently explained most of the observed variation in N status. Soil C:N was significantly lower for sites with greater BD importance ( $R^2$ = 0.67-0.77), and there was a strong positive relationship between BD importance and soil  $\delta^{15}$ N content ( $R^2 = 0.64 \cdot 0.85$ ). Despite a four-fold difference in historic deposition across the seven forest sites, I did not observe any significant relationships between site N status and N deposition. These findings suggest that potential legacy effects of N deposition were obscured by the influence of BD importance on N status at these sites. My results add strong support to the idea that predicting the resilience of forests to the effects of N deposition requires detailed knowledge on the contribution of tree species composition to soil N cycling and retention.

#### **2.2. Introduction.**

Forest ecosystems are the largest terrestrial carbon (C) sink, sequestering ~ 2.4 Pg C annually (Pan et al. 2011) and about 30% of C emissions from fossil fuel combustion (Le Quéré et al. 2013). For many forests in the northeastern United States, a key limitation to forest C storage is the forest nitrogen (N) status, or amount of plant-available N in soils (Vitousek and Howarth 1991; LeBauer and Treseder 2008; Nadelhoffer et al. 1985; Reich et al. 1997). However, despite the importance of N status as a potential constraint to ecosystem production, there are many research challenges associated with defining and measuring plant-available N as well as characterizing and distinguishing the numerous factors that have shown to impact N cycling in forest ecosystems (Gundersen et al. 1998; Ros et al. 2011). Thus, improving our understanding of the controls on soil N status will reduce uncertainty in current models of ecosystem dynamics.

The deposition of reactive N on terrestrial forests can have large, and potentially long-lasting, impacts on nutrient availability, plant productivity, and C storage. Since the enactment of the Clean Air Act in 1990, both pollutant emissions and subsequent rates of N deposition have declined for the Central Appalachian region (US Environmental Protection Agency 2015), which raises the question of how long the effects of chronic pollution will persist following reductions in N deposition. While a few studies have examined these 'legacy effects' (Boxman et al. 1995, 1998; Koopmans et al. 1995; Strengbom et al. 2001; Chen and Högberg 2006), there is little consensus on the time required for full ecosystem recovery. For example, some N addition experiments have reported elevated rates of N mineralization decades after N treatments had ceased (Vinton and Burke 1995; Chen and Högberg 2006). In contrast, throughfall manipulation studies found that net N mineralization rates, foliar N, and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) leaching recovered within only 2-4 years of N removal (Boxman et al. 1995, 1998; Koopmans et al. 1995). The long-term effects of N deposition may also be evident in forest ecosystems that have only been exposed to background levels of pollution. Despite widespread declines in pollutant emissions for the eastern United States, several studies conducted along ambient N deposition gradients in this region have observed strong relationships between estimates of N deposition and foliar and soil chemistry (Boggs et al. 2005; Pardo et al. 2007; McNeil et al. 2012).

Much of the uncertainty about the resilience of forests to chronic N deposition depends on how N cycling is altered by other environmental factors like in climate, disturbance history, and species composition (Aber et al. 2003; Phillips et al. 2013); thus, a better understanding of what factors control ecosystem N status should improve our ability to predict how forests recover from long-term pollution (Galloway et al. 2004). For instance, while foliar N concentration is often reported to increase in response to atmospheric N deposition (Pardo et al. 2006; McNeil et al. 2007; Crowley et al. 2012), studies conducted across broad spatial gradients of elevation and latitude have shown that foliar N concentrations can vary with respect to climatic differences as well (Aber et al. 2003), where cooler temperatures and shorter growing seasons are associated with enriched foliar N (Körner 1989; Yin 1992). Likewise, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> export to surface waters has been shown to increase with N fertilization (Magill et al. 2000; Lovett and Goodale 2011), but may also be related to differences in mean annual temperature (MAT) (Murdoch et al. 1998). In addition to climate, disturbances like forest harvest and wildfire can have both short- and longterm impacts on N status. For example, forest harvest can result in initial increases in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> export due to reduced plant uptake (Aber et al. 2002); however, over longer timescales (e.g. several decades after harvest), NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> export may decline due to high N demand during forest regrowth (Goodale et al. 2000). Since NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching losses are generally higher for soils that have high nitrification rates and low soil C:N ratios (Gundersen et al. 1998), these N cycling patterns are also expected to be related to tree species controls on soil quality. Indeed, tree species can also affect N cycling in forest ecosystems primarily through the quality and decomposability of their aboveground litter, which ultimately leads to the development of distinct soil profiles that vary in their N cycling characteristics (Melillo et al. 1982; Stump and Binkley 1993; Lovett et al. 2004). This relationship between tree species and N status has been observed in a variety of forests in the northeastern United States, where differences in tree species composition were strongly correlated with interspecific variation in soil C and N pools as well as rates of N transformations and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> export (Finzi et al. 1998; Lovett et al. 2002, 2004).

Identifying which factors exert the greatest influence over soil N availability can also be difficult since various factors operate at different timescales and on different components of the N cycle. For example, additions of reactive N from fertilizers and atmospheric deposition can strongly influence soil N availability in the short-term as added N is rapidly (i.e. within minutes)

immobilized by the soil microbial community, and later mineralized back into soil solution as plant available N (Zogg et al. 2000). On the other hand, chronic, low-doses of N deposition can have long-term (i.e. years to decades) effects on N availability as inorganic N is assimilated into aboveground biomass, and transported back to the forest floor via litterfall where it can then be incorporated into soil organic matter (SOM; Nadelhoffer et al. 1995; Zak et al. 2004). Consequently, long-term N status indicators like soil C:N ratios are often associated with differences in tree species composition and their associated litterfall characteristics (Lovett et al. 2004). Moreover, many studies have shown a negative correlation between soil C:N and shortto medium-term N status indicators including net N mineralization and nitrification (Ollinger et al. 2002), NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> export (Lovett et al. 2002), and the fractionation of stable N isotopes ( $^{15}N/^{14}N$ ) in vegetation and soil sinks (Pardo et al. 2007). On the other hand, climate variation may also affect forest N status over varying time frames via direct physical effects on biochemical processes like N transformations (Robinson 2002) or possibly through indirect effects on tree species composition. Thus, improving our understanding of how N is cycled through forest ecosystems requires a multifaceted approach to not only examine the numerous factors that can influence N availability, but also to examine indices of N availability that correspond to the timescale with which these factors are important.

In the Central Appalachian Mountains, high-elevation forests containing red spruce (*Picea rubens* Sarg.) have historically been sensitive to a wide range of natural and anthropogenic disturbances; thus, these forests provide an ideal system to examine the various controls on ecosystem N status. Beginning in the late 1800s, improved railroad technologies allowed the logging of these restricted high-elevation areas; as a result, extensive cutting and related slash fires reduced red spruce populations to their present extent of about 10,000 ha (Hopkins 1899; Lewis 1998). Elevated rates of acid precipitation have also had a severe impact on these red spruce ecosystems. Between the mid-1960s and mid-1980s, unexplained dieback and growth declines were reported in several red spruce stands throughout the Northeast (Siccama et al. 1982; Foster and Reiners 1983; Johnson and Siccama 1983; Scott et al. 1984; Johnson and McLaughlin 1986). Initial speculation about the cause of this decline included age-related senescence, insect outbreak, climate change, pollution, or a combination of these factors (Siccama et al. 1982). However, empirical evidence from controlled N addition experiments and

from sampling along gradients of atmospheric N deposition revealed a strong linkage between N deposition and critical changes in forest floor and foliar N concentrations, suggesting that red spruce decline was likely caused by a combination of foliar nutrient imbalance (e.g. Ca/N and Mg/N; McNulty et al. 1991; McNulty et al. 2005), and reduced cold stress tolerance (DeHayes et al. 1999; Schaberg et al. 2002).

The objective of this study was to assess the extent to which N availability in red spruce forests in the Central Appalachian Mountains is associated with N deposition. Following the assumptions of the classic conceptual model of progressive N saturation (Aber et al. 1989, 1998), it is expected that inorganic N inputs from deposition would enhance the N status of red spruce ecosystems, particularly during periods of peak N deposition. However, recent evidence has challenged these assumptions, instead suggesting that long-term responses to N deposition are dependent on the factors that influence how N is retained by ecosystem sinks (Lovett and Goodale 2011). Thus, in the context of declining N deposition, it remains an open question whether historically high rates of N deposition can have persistent effects on enhanced N availability, or whether ecosystem N status is more strongly influenced by other environmental factors. I examined this question by assessing N status along a transect consisting of seven red spruce stands located in a region where high rates of N deposition have been declining since the Clean Air Act of 1990. During the mid-1980s, forests at the northern end of the transect received approximately four times greater wet-only N deposition than the southern end, with estimates ranging from 8.1 to 2.0 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (North to South). Since 1990, reduced  $NO_x$ emissions have lowered the concentration of  $NO_3^-$  in wet deposition (kg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>) by 45-55% throughout the region (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2016). Consequently, the N deposition gradient is weaker, with recent estimates of N deposition that range between 6.6 and  $3.5 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$  (North to South). In addition to the legacy effects of N deposition, these mixed red spruce stands differ in climate, stand age, and the relative importance of BD trees, providing a range of factors that need to be assessed when determining the environmental factors that most strongly influence the N status of these forests.

#### 2.3. Methods.

#### *Study site details*

In June 2011, I established seven study sites (100-m diameter) containing red spruce as a major, canopy-dominant species. All sites are at high elevations within the central Appalachian Mountains, a region of moderate to high levels of historic atmospheric N deposition (Figure 2.1; Table 2.1). Since red spruce naturally occurs at high elevations along the central Appalachian Mountains, all study sites are above 900 m, each having a southwesterly aspect and slopes between 0 and 10%. All sites represent second growth forests with red spruce and eastern hemlock (*Tsuga canadensis*) as the commonly-occurring NE species. The selected sites also ranged in BD tree abundance which allowed me to assess the relative influence of BD species composition on N availability. The most common BD associates at my sites included yellow birch (*Betula alleghaniensis* var. *alleganiensis*), red maple (*Acer rubrum*), and black cherry (*Prunus serotina* var. *serotina*). I assessed the tree species composition at each site using the point-quarter sampling method (Pollard 1971) along three parallel 50-m transects (separated by 25 m) by sampling trees (> 10 cm DBH) at five randomly spaced points on each transect (n = 15 points). Relative importance values (RIV) for tree species found at each site and additional community characteristics of these red spruce stands are given in Table S2.1.

Soil types vary slightly between the study sites; however, they all have high organic matter content, low pH, and low micronutrient availability (Tables S2.2 and S2.3). The underlying geologic formations of these sites include Pennsylvanian Pottsville sandstone, Devonian Chemung shale, and Silurian-Devonian undivided shale (Table S2.4; WV Geological Survey).

Using standard tree core cross-dating techniques (Stokes and Smiley 1996), I estimated the year of stand establishment for each study site according to the age of the oldest red spruce tree that was sampled (Table 2.1). My tree-ring stand age dates for these sites range from 68 to 157 years, in agreement with independent estimates made by the U.S. Forest Service (Kent Karriker, *personal communication*). The variation in stand age at these sites is likely due to the timing of extensive spruce timber harvests and subsequent wildfires that occurred throughout the Central Appalachians during the late 1800s to early 1900s (Clarkson 1964; Lewis 1998; Nowacki and

Wendt 2010). It is also possible that these stand-resetting disturbances affected the present-day differences in species composition at my sites. However, there is not a significant co-variation among stand age and BD RIV at these sites, indicating that disturbance history and species composition could have independent effects on N availability.

#### Atmospheric N Deposition and Climate Variables

Historically, anthropogenic N inputs from wet deposition have been moderate to high for the study region, with wet deposition rates as high as ~9.3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> in the mid 1980s (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2016). Following the 1990 Clean Air Act Amendments, both nitrogen oxide (NO<sub>x</sub>) emissions, as well as subsequent deposition of atmospheric NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, have declined by ~45-55% (US Environmental Protection Agency 2015; National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2016). Nevertheless, decades of elevated N inputs could result in important legacy effects that still enhance N availability in these forests.

I used a highly-resolved and well-validated spatial model of atmospheric N deposition to estimate annual rates of inorganic N (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> + NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) inputs at each of my field sites for the period between 1985 and 2012 (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2014). Sites were then selected based on estimates of accumulated wet-only N deposition so that they ranged in cumulative N inputs from 117.5 to 206.9 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (Table 2.1). Taking into account the recent declines in NO<sub>x</sub> emissions, average wet N deposition rates over the period 1985 to 2012 range from 4.2 to 7.4 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. To account for the influence of dry deposition (HNO<sub>3</sub> + NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> + NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>), I used a spatial model of total (wet + dry) N deposition rates for the period that data were available, between 2000-2012 (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2014). I then calculated the proportion of wet deposition to total deposition on a pixel-wide basis for the mid-Atlantic region (West Virginia and surrounding states) to generate a set of site-specific correction factors, which were used to estimate total N deposition rates for the years 1985 to 1999. For my sites, average rates of total N deposition range from 11.6 to 14.3 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> while cumulative total deposition loading ranged from 326.1 to 399.6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for the period between 1985 and 2012 (Table 2.1).

Since climatological data for these high-elevation sites are limited, I used interpolated PRISM climate data for each study site to estimate 30-year averages (1981-2010) of annual and growing season (May through September) temperature and precipitation (Table 2.1; PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University). My study sites received between 1238 and 1591 mm of precipitation annually, and mean annual temperature (MAT) varies between 6.3 and 8.4°C.

#### Indices of soil N availability

I measured a suite of N availability indices that are thought to integrate over different temporal scales in their assessment of soil N status. Laboratory measurements of net N mineralization and net nitrification were used to estimate the current N status under controlled conditions; whereas, ion-exchange resins provided a snapshot of plant available N under current field conditions. I measured the natural abundance of <sup>15</sup>N as an indicator of N status that should integrate over several years (e.g. needle <sup>15</sup>N) or several decades (e.g. soil <sup>15</sup>N). Finally, soil C:N was used as an index of N availability that should integrate over the time period since the stand-resetting clear cutting and fires that occurred in the early 1900s. All sample measurements were taken from a single 30-m diameter sample plot at the center of each 100-m study site.

Two 28-day laboratory incubations were conducted in July and September 2012 to measure net rates of soil N transformations, using methods adapted from Rinkes et al. (2011). Each 30-m plot was divided into four quadrants and multiple soil cores (5-cm diameter) were removed from the top 5 cm of mineral soil until approximately 200 g of soil (wet weight) were collected from each quadrant in both sampling periods. Soil samples were returned to the laboratory within 24 h of collection and immediately homogenized by hand and coarse debris and roots were removed.

Approximately 28 g (wet weight) of homogenized soil was added to six glass jars and were incubated in the dark at 20°C for 0, 1, 2, 7, 14, or 28 d. Jars were loosely covered to allow gas exchange while reducing evaporation. Each week deionized water was added to compensate for evaporative water loss. The incubated soil samples were then collected after the appropriate incubation time to measure extractable  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$ .

Inorganic N content (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) was determined using colorimetric microplate assays of soil extracts. Subsamples of soil (5 g wet weight) were extracted by adding 25 ml of 0.5 M K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> and shaking the mixture on an orbital shaker for ~ 1 hr. Samples were then vacuum-filtered and extracts were frozen until further analysis. A modified Berthelot reaction (Rhine et al. 1998) was used to determine the NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> concentration of soil extracts, while NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations were measured using a modified Griess reaction (Doane and Horwáth 2003). Both assays were conducted in 96-well microplates, and absorbance was measured using a Tecan Genios microplate reader (Tecan Group Ltd., Mannedorf, Switzerland) at 660 nm for NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and 540 nm for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. I calculated rates of net nitrification and net N mineralization as the change in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and total inorganic N content (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), respectively, that occurred after a given time interval.

To estimate plant available N *in situ*, I installed ion-exchange resins (Plant Root Simulator (PRS<sup>TM</sup>) probes; Western Ag Innovations Inc., Saskatoon, SK) in each 30-m sample plot in July 2011. These probes consisted of either an anion or cation exchange resin housed within a plastic casing. At each site, between 16 and 20 anion and cation probes were randomly deployed by inserting each vertically starting at the surface of the O horizon (~ 12 cm depth). After 59 days, all probes were removed and cleaned with a coarse brush and deionized water to remove soil debris. Probes were kept on ice during transport and then immediately shipped to the Western Ag Innovations, Inc. laboratory in Saskatoon, SK. Both anion and cation exchange resins were analyzed for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, and total inorganic N and were expressed as soil N supply rates ( $\mu$ g 10 cm<sup>-2</sup> burial length<sup>-1</sup>).

During the 2011 growing season, I measured the N isotopic composition ( $\delta^{15}$ N) of red spruce needles and of organic and mineral soil. Red spruce needles were harvested from three randomly selected canopy trees near the center point of each 30-m study plot using a shotgun. To account for differences in leaf morphology through the canopy, I sampled needles at three general canopy heights: lower, middle, and upper. Foliar samples were dried for 48 h at 65°C and ground using a Wiley Mill (#40 mesh). All samples were analyzed for %N and  $\delta^{15}$ N isotopic composition using a ThermoFisher Delta V+ Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (Central Appalachians Stable Isotope Facility, University of Maryland Center for Environmental Science, Frostburg, MD). Foliar %N and  $\delta^{15}$ N were expressed as the average N content across all canopy heights for all trees sampled at a given site (*n* = 9 trees).

To determine soil isotopic N content and C:N ratio, I divided each 30-m sample plot into four quadrants from which I collected two cores (5-cm diameter) from the organic horizon ( $O_e$  and  $O_a$ ) and two cores (2.2-cm diameter) from the upper 5 cm of the mineral horizon. Soil samples were immediately returned to the laboratory, dried for 48 h at 65°C, hand-homogenized to remove all debris, and ground to pass a #40 mesh using a Wiley Mill. Samples were analyzed for  $\delta^{15}$ N isotopic composition using a ThermoFisher Delta V+ Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometer (Central Appalachians Stable Isotope Facility, University of Maryland Center for Environmental Science, Frostburg, MD). A small subsample (~15 mg) of soil from each site was analyzed in triplicate for total soil C and N content by Dumas combustion using a NC 2500 elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy).

#### Statistical analysis

I compared several regression models to assess the relative strength of several environmental factors as predictors of soil N availability in mixed red spruce forests in the study region. In each model, I used an index of N availability (rates of net nitrification, net N mineralization, soil N supply rates, foliar %N and  $\delta^{15}$ N, soil  $\delta^{15}$ N, and soil C:N) as a response variable regressed against several environmental predictor variables that can influence plant-available N. The environmental variables I used were cumulative atmospheric N deposition for the period 1985-2012 (wet and total), mean temperature (annual and growing season, May through September), precipitation (annual and growing season), stand age, and relative importance of BD trees (hereafter referred to as BD RIV). Each regression model was then compared using Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC) to determine the likelihood of a particular model; those models that yielded the lowest AIC values were considered more likely and were therefore given greater statistical support. To account for low sample size (n = 7 study sites), I used corrected AIC (AIC<sub>c</sub>) for all model comparisons (Burnham and Anderson 2002). Results of this analysis were expressed as  $\triangle AIC_c$ , which is the difference between the AIC<sub>c</sub> of the best model ( $\triangle AIC_c = 0$ ) and competing models. In cases where the  $\Delta AIC_c$  value between two competing models was less than two. I treated the models as indistinguishable in terms of their ability to predict a response
in N availability. Relationships between measured rates of N cycling and field-based indices of N availability were conducted using bivariate regression models. All statistical analyses were performed using SAS-JMP 10.0 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

# 2.4. Results.

# Factors affecting N availability

Across all the potential factors I examined that could affect short- to long-term N availability, BD RIV was the parameter that most consistently explained differences in N status at my sites (Figure 2.2; Table 2.2). The foliar chemistry data for spruce trees showed a positive relationship between foliar N concentration and BD RIV (p = 0.016); likewise, I observed a positive trend relating the variation in foliar  $\delta^{15}$ N to differences in BD importance (p = 0.074). BD RIV was also associated with medium- to long-term N availability at these sites, as illustrated by the positive relationships with soil  $\delta^{15}$ N (p = 0.003-0.03) and negative relationships with soil C:N (p = 0.009-0.023). For each N availability index that was significantly related to BD importance,  $\Delta AIC_c$  between the BD RIV model and the "next best" model ranged from 3.2 to 10.1 suggesting that BD RIV is a much better predictor of differences in N status at these sites compared with alternative models, including cumulative N deposition (Table 2.2).

In some instances, BD RIV was not the best model to explain the short-term variation in N cycling and availability. For example, stand age produced a better model fit than BD RIV for my estimates of both net N mineralization and  $NH_4^+$  supply rate; however, neither of these were statistically significant and the models were indistinguishable from those with BD RIV as a predictor ( $\Delta AIC_c = 0.7$ -1.7). Similarly, a non-significant relationship was found relating net nitrification to annual precipitation, but this was largely influenced by the only two sites that had detectable rates of nitrification (McGowan Mountain and Cranberry Glades). Despite the lack of a significant response relating laboratory-measured N cycling rates and ion resin N supply rates to differences in BD importance, I nevertheless observed significantly higher rates of net nitrification, net N mineralization, and resin N supply above a threshold of ~40% BD RIV (Figure 2.2).

## Comparison of N availability indices

I observed strong, positive correlations between field-based indices of soil N availability (ion resin N supply rates,  $\delta^{15}$ N, and soil C:N) and specific soil N cycling rates measured in laboratory incubations (Table S2.5). I observed significantly greater PRS-available N in sites where net N mineralization and nitrification rates were high (p = 0.004-0.03; Figure S2.1). However, this relationship is mostly driven by two sites (McGowan Mountain and Cranberry Glades) that had significantly higher N supply rates compared to all remaining sites (p < 0.01). Of the total inorganic N measured on PRS probes at these two sites, approximately 71% was in the form of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> rather than NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, suggesting that the higher rates of net nitrification at these two sites provided more plant-available NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> to be captured by the soil resins. Rates of net mineralization rates were positively correlated with natural <sup>15</sup>N abundances in red spruce foliage and organic and mineral soil (p = 0.003-0.03; Figure 2.3A). I also observed strong negative relationships between net N mineralization rates and soil C:N in both the organic and mineral horizons (p = 0.0003-0.02; Figure 2.3B). Similar trends relating soil  $\delta^{15}$ N and C:N to net nitrification rates were also observed; however, these relationships were not as pronounced (p = 0.01-0.1; Table S2.5).

#### 2.5. Discussion.

The Central Appalachian Mountains have historically had moderate to high levels of N deposition; therefore, I anticipated that N deposition would still have a strong association with N availability for this region. I especially expected to see this impact of N deposition on measures of N availability that integrate over longer time periods predating the steep declines in N deposition (e.g. soil C:N). However, across the seven forest sites I examined, the relative importance of BD tree species was consistently better than N deposition and all other environmental variables in predicting variability in N status (Figure 2.2; Table 2.2). In addition, the current N status at my field sites (measured by soil N transformations) appears to be strongly associated with the decadal-scale development of distinct soil profiles, marked by differences in SOM quality (soil C:N) and an integrated history of N cycling (foliar and soil  $\delta^{15}$ N; Figure 2.3; Table S2.5). Together, my results suggest that variation in short-, medium-, and long-term soil N status is primarily due to the influence of forest species composition.

Tree species can have important effects on short-term and long-term soil N cycling due to differences in the quality of aboveground litter inputs, where low quality litter (e.g. high C:N or high lignin:N) decomposes more slowly and accumulates more in SOM than high quality litter (Melillo et al. 1982; Stump and Binkley 1993; Prescott et al. 1993; Prescott 1995). In turn, these differences in SOM quality are often tightly correlated with short- (e.g. rates of net N mineralization; Scott and Binkley 1997) and medium-term (e.g.  $\delta^{15}$ N in vegetation and soil; Pardo et al. 2007) indices of N cycling across a variety of forest types. In a comparison of 30 diverse forested stands in New Hampshire, Ollinger et al. (2002) observed patterns of foliar and soil chemistry that were linked to differences in tree species composition. In general, stands dominated by BD species like sugar maple (Acer saccharum) or yellow birch (Betula alleghaniensis) had greater soil N availability (e.g. low soil C:N, high N transformation rates) compared to stands dominated by NE species like red spruce and eastern hemlock (*Tsuga canadensis*). My results are in agreement with many studies that show a positive correlation between rates of soil N transformations and increasing SOM quality (Pastor et al. 1984; Plymale et al. 1987; Finzi et al. 1998; Thomas and Prescott 2000). For my forest sites, approximately 67-94% of the variation in net N mineralization and net nitrification could be explained by soil C:N (coefficients of determination in Table S2.5). Moreover, net nitrification was only detected at sites where the C:N ratio of organic soil was below  $\sim 24$ , a critical threshold by which increased net nitrification is typically observed (McNulty et al. 1991; Lovett and Rueth 1999; Goodale and Aber 2001).

Natural abundances of stable N isotope ratios are often positively correlated with the N cycling history of a particular site (Högberg and Johannisson 1993; Garten and Van Miegroet 1994; Robinson 2001). As organic matter is decomposed by soil microbes, isotopic fractionation occurs whereby enzymatic processes favor the lighter <sup>14</sup>N isotope; as a result, the product of net N mineralization and net nitrification is isotopically-depleted relative to the <sup>15</sup>N-enriched substrate (Mariotti et al. 1981). This is especially important for sites with a more open N cycle, wherein the production and subsequent losses of isotopically-light NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> will result in residual soil N pools that are enriched in  $\delta^{15}$ N (Nadelhoffer and Fry 1994). Therefore, differences in foliar and soil  $\delta^{15}$ N can be influenced by the factors that also promote increased net nitrification,

including experimental N additions (Pardo et al. 1998), background rates of atmospheric N deposition (Emmett et al. 1998), and disturbance from harvesting (Pardo et al. 2002). However, a regional-scale analysis of foliar  $\delta^{15}$ N showed the variation in  $\delta^{15}$ N content was best explained by local soil conditions that regulate N availability (e.g. tree species effects on litter and SOM quality, soil C:N, and net nitrification/mineralization), not regional differences in N deposition (Pardo et al. 2006). My results support the findings of Pardo et al. (2006) where the  $\delta^{15}$ N composition of soil (organic and mineral horizons) and red spruce foliage was positively correlated with net N mineralization and nitrification (Table S2.5). Likewise, the variation in  $\delta^{15}$ N at my forest sites was best explained by differences in BD importance rather than N deposition (Table 2.2).

To address why I did not observe any effects of N deposition on N status, I present three possible explanations: 1) modeled values of N deposition were inaccurate; 2) the historic or current N deposition gradient was not sufficiently broad to elicit a measurable response; 3) effects of deposition are outweighed by effects of species composition on N availability. I find little support for the first two explanations. First, my N deposition estimates are derived from a robust and well-validated model constructed from long-term atmospheric deposition monitoring data throughout the region (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2014). It is possible that my estimates of total (wet + dry) N deposition were less precise than my estimates of wet-only N deposition, primarily since the dataset used to derive estimates of dry deposition was more limited in scope (available data ranged between 2000-2012) and was interpolated over a coarser resolution (36 km grid) compared with my estimates of wet-only deposition (dataset ranged between 1985-2012; 2.6 km grid). Because of the uncertainty in dry deposition amounts at these high elevation sites, the actual magnitude of these deposition estimates may be imprecise. Nevertheless, the endpoints of this gradient are strongly grounded by two long-running atmospheric deposition monitoring stations, so the differences in historical N inputs at the high elevation sites between these stations should be proportionally consistent.

Second, although the current range of estimated N deposition rates is likely too narrow to be detected via changes in N status, I would expect that the four-fold difference (2.0-8.1 kg N ka<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) in historical wet-only N deposition rates along this gradient is sufficiently broad to have had an

influence on the N status of these sites at one point. Moreover, other studies in high-elevation red spruce forests have detected responses along smaller or at least comparable deposition gradients in the northern and southern Appalachian Mountains (McNulty et al. 1991; Boggs et al. 2005). These studies were conducted closer to the peak of deposition in the 1980s, so to test whether historical estimates of peak N deposition could potentially explain my results, I examined incremental changes in accumulated and average atmospheric N inputs for every year that data was available. Using the same model selection approach to determine potential drivers of N availability, I found that the variation in N availability indices was still best explained by either BD importance or stand age ( $\Delta AICc > 3.1$ ). Hence, my results are qualitatively unchanged because of the recent declines in N deposition to the region.

Given that the range of estimated N deposition rates is lower relative to the range of broadleaf abundance at these sites, the most plausible explanation for my results is that any potential longterm effects of atmospheric N deposition on N status were masked by differences in the abundance of BD species that produce high quality aboveground litter. This has important implications for studies seeking to assess the rate and patterns of ecosystem recovery from declines in atmospheric N deposition. For instance, Power et al. (2006) showed that microbial activity and microbial biomass N remained high 6-8 years after experimental N additions had ceased, suggesting that N-induced shifts to soil nutrient cycling may persist for several years after treatment. Likewise, some studies have observed elevated N mineralization rates in plots that had received experimental N inputs 12-14 years prior (Chen and Högberg 2006; Clark et al. 2009). By contrast, there is evidence from artificial roof experiments that the removal of N inputs resulted in rapidly (within 1 year) suppressed N mineralization rates via immobilization (Koopmans et al. 1995; Corre and Lamersdorf 2004). The variation in these ecosystem responses to reduced N fertilization likely depends on the abiotic and biotic factors that influence N cycling and retention. Thus, while my study cannot presently determine the degree to which these sites have recovered from historical deposition, my results have shown that tree species composition may be an overriding control on N status, regardless of the chosen metric of N status.

The influence that the composition of tree species can have on N status has been supported by numerous studies (Finzi et al. 1998; Lovett and Rueth 1999; Peterjohn et al. 1999; Christ et al. 2002; Lovett et al. 2004). For example, in a survey of 39 streams in the Catskill Mountains, Lovett et al. (2000) found 17-fold differences in stream-water  $NO_3^-$  concentrations despite similar topography, land use history, and atmospheric deposition rates across the study area. The authors hypothesized that differences in the relative abundance of certain tree species could be responsible for some of the variability that was observed. More specifically, watersheds with low stream-water  $NO_3^-$  concentrations tended to be dominated by either red oak (*Quercus rubra*) or American beech (*Fagus grandifolia*); whereas, oak was completely absent from watersheds with high stream-water  $NO_3^-$ . Since both oak and beech are characterized as having recalcitrant litter with high lignin:N ratios and low rates of net nitrification (Finzi et al. 1998), this could partially explain why stream-water  $NO_3^-$  concentrations were low in these watersheds. In general, species producing more recalcitrant litter (e.g. oaks, beech, and conifers) are associated with lower  $NO_3^-$  availability and losses than species that produce more labile litter (e.g. sugar maple and birch).

While my model comparison approach reveals valuable insight on the effects of BD tree abundance on N status, it does not allow me to explicitly examine the potential influence of individual tree species at my plots. Part of this limitation stems from the fact that many of the species that I surveyed are not present at all of the study sites. However, the most common BD species, yellow birch and red maple, were found in at least five of the seven sites. I analyzed for potential relationships between either yellow birch or red maple RIV and my indices of N availability, and I only found significant (p < 0.05) relationships between yellow birch RIV and red spruce foliar %N,  $\delta^{15}$ N of organic soil, and C:N of organic soil. In contrast, no significant relationships were found between red maple RIV and indices of N availability; however, this was likely due to narrow range in red maple abundance (i.e. 0-19.9% RIV). While the scope of analysis is limited, it does offer support that yellow birch is an important contributor to enhanced soil N availability (Templer et al. 2003; Lovett et al. 2004; Christenson et al. 2009).

Most studies conducted along N deposition gradients (e.g. McNulty et al. 1991; Lovett and Rueth 1999; Boggs et al. 2005, 2007) do not explicitly include a gradient of BD abundance; as

such, comparing the relative influence of plant functional type and atmospheric N deposition is not possible for these types of experiments. However, McNeil et al. (2008) did examine differences in N status along multiple environmental gradients (e.g. N deposition, species composition, climate, stand history, and geology) in Adirondack Park, New York. The results of this analysis showed that across a N deposition gradient of similar magnitude (i.e. ~4.5-7.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), the variation in canopy N and soil C:N was still largely associated with differences in species composition. However, when analyzed on an individual species basis, N deposition was a significant predictor for changes in foliar N, suggesting that deposition effects may be evident within the N status of individual tree species (McNeil et al. 2012). Moreover, a recent meta-analysis of 30 N addition experiments showed that mycorrhizal association was a strong predictor of forest responses to deposition (Midgley and Phillips 2014). The results of this study lend further support to the idea that species composition (and perhaps their mycorrhizal associations) remains an important control on ecosystem N status, even in studies where N is added in severe excess of background rates.

Given the association between tree species composition and patterns of N availability, it is expected that future changes in BD importance will also have a considerable impact on ecosystem N status, particularly if these BD species include those with easily mineralizable litter like maple or birch (Templer et al. 2003; Lovett et al. 2004). I can consider two possible scenarios: 1) a BD forest is converted to a spruce forest; and 2) a red spruce forest is gradually replaced by encroaching BD species. In a study conducted by Kelly et al. (2011), soil N cycling rates were compared between two adjacent watersheds in the Fernow Experimental Forest. Both watersheds originally contained a mix of BD species but were clearcut and managed with herbicide between 1964-1969; one of the watersheds (WS 6) was replanted with Norway spruce (Picea abies) while the other (WS 7) was allowed to regenerate as a BD forest. Despite similar aspect, topography, and climate between the two watersheds, the BD forest had nitrification rates that were nine times greater than the spruce forest (Kelly et al. 2011). Accordingly, stream NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> export also significantly differed between the two watersheds, with mean annual rates that were two orders of magnitude higher in the BD forest compared to the spruce forest (Kelly 2010). Based on this evidence, I can assume that encroachment by BD tree species into spruce-fir forests of the Central Appalachians will also have significant consequences for C and N pools.

There is some evidence that red spruce forests have been pushed to higher elevations in response to climate warming (Hamburg and Cogbill 1988); as such, red spruce has been predicted to disappear from West Virginia under future climatic stress (Prasad et al. 2007; Iverson et al. 2008). In addition to the substantial release of C into the atmosphere from the decomposition of SOM (Lal 2005), the replacement of red spruce dominated forests by BD species (especially maple or birch) is likely to be accompanied by significant increases in N status, with possible adverse effects on N loading to surface waters.

#### Conclusions

In this study conducted in seven red spruce forests in the central Appalachian Mountains, I found strong co-variation between multiple indicators of N availability that integrate over seasonal to decadal time scales. To assess the relative importance of environmental factors causing these consistent site-level differences in N availability, I used a model selection approach. I found robust evidence that the site-level importance of BD tree species was a better predictor of N status than all other environmental factors, including historically moderate to high rates of atmospheric N deposition. Although red spruce trees are well represented at all sites, the increased importance of BD tree species, and their associated litterfall characteristics, had a significant positive effect on ecosystem N status. As such, any observable legacy effects on soil N availability from atmospheric N deposition was likely obscured by the influence of BD tree species; however, this does not preclude the potential importance of atmospheric N deposition on N availability in temperate forests of the Central Appalachian Mountains. Thus, this study adds strong support to the idea that predicting forest responses to changes in anthropogenic N inputs will require a strong understanding of the role of tree species as a primary control on ecosystem N status, particularly in forests with mixed species composition.

# 2.6. Tables and Figures.

**Table 2.1.** Site descriptions of the seven red spruce stands in the central Appalachian Mountains. Estimates of atmospheric N deposition rates were derived from National Atmospheric Deposition Program (2014). Annual and growing season (May through September) mean temperature (°C) and precipitation (mm) were derived from PRISM Climate Group dataset for 1981-2010 normals (available online at http://prism.oregonstate.edu; accessed 17 April 2015). Year of stand establishment ("Est. Year") was determined by the age of the oldest red spruce tree sampled using standard tree core cross-dating techniques. Relative importance of canopy broadleaf deciduous species ("BD RIV") was calculated using the point-quarter sampling method in May 2014.

Study Site	Abbrev.	Ave. N Dep. (kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> yr <sup>-1</sup> )		Cumulative N Dep. (kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )		Mean Temperature (°C)		Precipitation (mm)		Est. Year	BD RIV
		Wet	Total	Wet	Total	Annual	Growing	Annual	Growing	-	(%)
			(wet + dry)		(wet + dry)		Season		Season		
Flat Ridge	FLR	7.4	14.3	206.9	399.6	6.8	15.1	1469.3	675.5	1939	26.2
Gaudineer Knob	GKB	6.8	13.1	189.0	366.8	6.3	14.5	1420.1	687.2	1911	0.0
McGowan Mtn	MCG	6.7	13.6	188.5	380.3	7.9	16.2	1407.0	674.5	1858	49.8
Cranberry Glades	CGL	6.5	13.1	182.4	366.4	7.3	15.6	1591.2	736.0	1858	43.1
Upper Middle Mtn	UMM	6.2	13.3	173.6	372.4	7.1	15.2	1361.7	643.4	1947	26.2
Span Oak Run	SOR	6.1	13.1	171.5	366.4	7.6	15.6	1276.4	594.4	1885	37.6
Little Spruce Bog	LSB	4.2	11.6	117.5	326.1	8.4	16.5	1238.8	573.3	1865	32.6

**Table 2.2.** Comparison of corrected Akaike Information Criterion ( $\Delta AIC_c$ ) values for linear regression models of potential drivers of N availability and indices of N availability.  $\Delta AIC$  values reflect the difference between the AIC of the most parsimonius model ( $\Delta AIC = 0$ ) and competing models.

$\Delta AIC_c$										
Nitr.	Min.	Total N	$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	$NO_3^-$	%N <sub>f</sub>	$\delta^{15}N_f$	$\delta^{15}N_{Org}$	$\delta^{15}N_{Min}$	C:N <sub>Org</sub>	C:N <sub>Min</sub>
5.4	4.7	4.3	5.0	4.5	8.6	4.6	13.0	7.0	10.3	7.8
5.6	4.8	4.5	5.3	4.6	8.0	4.8	13.0	7.0	10.3	7.8
5.6	4.2	4.2	4.9	4.4	7.0	4.5	10.8	5.2	7.4	5.9
5.3	3.7	3.4	4.3	3.6	5.9	4.2	10.1	4.7	5.8	5.0
0	2.1	2.0	2.6	2.2	8.7	3.6	13.0	7.0	9.7	7.3
1.1	2.6	1.9	2.4	2.1	8.8	3.9	13.0	7.1	9.8	7.4
2.9	0	1.1	0	2.0	7.4	2.1	10.1	4.3	3.2	3.3
3.6	0.7	0	1.7	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
0.55	0.49	0.50	0.53	0.51	0.72	0.50	0.85	0.64	0.77	0.68
0.055	0.078	0.077	0.062	0.072	0.016	0.074	0.003	0.030	0.009	0.023
	Nitr. 5.4 5.6 5.6 5.3 0 1.1 2.9 3.6 0.55 0.055	Nitr.         Min.           5.4         4.7           5.6         4.8           5.6         4.2           5.3         3.7           0         2.1           1.1         2.6           2.9         0           3.6         0.7           0.55         0.49           0.055         0.078	Nitr.         Min.         Total N           5.4         4.7         4.3           5.6         4.8         4.5           5.6         4.2         4.2           5.3         3.7         3.4           0         2.1         2.0           1.1         2.6         1.9           2.9         0         1.1           3.6         0.7         0           0.55         0.49         0.50           0.055         0.078         0.077	Nitr.         Min.         Total N $NH_4^+$ 5.4         4.7         4.3         5.0           5.6         4.8         4.5         5.3           5.6         4.2         4.2         4.9           5.3         3.7         3.4         4.3           0         2.1         2.0         2.6           1.1         2.6         1.9         2.4           2.9         0         1.1         0           3.6         0.7         0         1.7           0.55         0.49         0.50         0.53           0.055         0.078         0.077         0.062	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $

Nitr., net nitrification; Min., net N mineralization; Total N/NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>/NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, PRS<sup>TM</sup> Total N/NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>/NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> supply rate; %N<sub>f</sub>, foliar %N;  $\delta^{15}N_{f}$ , foliar  $\delta^{15}N$ ;  $\delta^{15}N_{org}$ , organic soil  $\delta^{15}N$ ;  $\delta^{15}N_{org}$ , organic soil C:N; C:N<sub>Min</sub>, mineral soil C:N.

**Figure 2.1.** Map of the seven red spruce stands in the central Appalachian Mountains. Arranged by highest to lowest estimates of N deposition, the seven study sites are: Flat Ridge (FLR), Gaudineer Knob (GKB), McGowan Mountain (MCG), Cranberry Glades (CGL), Upper Middle Mountain (UMM), Span Oak Run (SOR), and Little Spruce Bog (LSB).



**Figure 2.2.** Regressions of mean net N transformation rates (± std. error bars; n = 2), mean total dissolved inorganic N (DIN) supply rates (measured using PRS<sup>TM</sup> probes across a 59-d burial period; ± std. error bars; n = 5), soil and foliar  $\delta^{15}$ N composition (n = 1), and mean soil C:N (± std. error bars; n = 3) versus cumulative inorganic N in wet deposition (A, C, E, G) and relative importance values of all broadleaf deciduous (BD) species (B, D, F, H) for each site along the study gradient (n = 7). *n.s.*, not significant (p < 0.10), \*, p < 0.05, \*\*, p < 0.01.



**Figure 2.3.** Bivariate regressions of mean net N mineralization rates ( $\pm$  std. error bars; n = 2) versus  $\delta^{15}$ N composition of red spruce leaves, organic and mineral soil (A), and soil C:N content in both the organic and mineral soil horizons (B) for each study site along a gradient of atmospheric N deposition (n = 7). Mineralization rates were fit against N availability indices using an exponential function. \*, p < 0.05, \*\*, p < 0.01, \*\*\*, p < 0.001.



# 2.7. Literature Cited.

- Aber, J., W. McDowell, K. Nadelhoffer, A. Magill, G. Berntson, M. Kamakea, S. McNulty, W. Currie, L. Rustad, and I. Fernandez. 1998. Nitrogen saturation in temperate forest ecosystems. BioScience 48:921–934.
- Aber, J. D., C. L. Goodale, S. V. Ollinger, M.-L. Smith, A. H. Magill, M. E. Martin, R. A. Hallett, and J. L. Stoddard. 2003. Is Nitrogen Deposition Altering the Nitrogen Status of Northeastern Forests? BioScience 53:375–389.
- Aber, J. D., K. J. Nadelhoffer, P. Steudler, and J. M. Melillo. 1989. Nitrogen saturation in northern forest ecosystems. BioScience 39:378–386.
- Aber, J. D., S. V. Ollinger, C. T. Driscoll, G. E. Likens, R. T. Holmes, R. J. Freuder, and C. L. Goodale. 2002. Inorganic nitrogen losses from a forested ecosystem in response to physical, chemical, biotic, and climatic perturbations. Ecosystems 5:648–658.
- Boggs, J. L., S. G. McNulty, and L. H. Pardo. 2007. Changes in conifer and deciduous forest foliar and forest floor chemistry and basal area tree growth across a nitrogen (N) deposition gradient in the northeastern US. Environmental Pollution 149:303–314.
- Boggs, J. L., S. G. McNulty, M. J. Gavazzi, and J. M. Myers. 2005. Tree growth, foliar chemistry, and nitrogen cycling across a nitrogen deposition gradient in southern Appalachian deciduous forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35:1901–1913.
- Boxman, A. W., D. Vandam, H. F. G. Vandijk, R. F. Hogervorst, and C. J. Koopmans. 1995. Ecosystem responses to reduced nitrogen and sulfur inputs into two coniferous forest stands in the Netherlands. Forest Ecology and Management 71:7–29.
- Boxman A. W., P. J. M. van der Ven, and J. G. M. Roelefs. 1998. Ecosystem recovery after a decrease in nitrogen input to a Scots pine stand at Ysselsteyn, the Netherlands. Forest Ecology and Management 101:155–163.
- Burnham, K. P., and D. R. Anderson. 2002. Model selection and multi-model inference: a practical information-theoretic approach. Springer-Verlag, New York.
- Chen Y. and P. Högberg. 2006. Gross nitrogen mineralization rates still high 14 years after suspension of N input to a N-saturated forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 38:2001–2003.
- Christ, M. J., W. T. Peterjohn, J. R. Cumming, and M. B. Adams. 2002. Nitrification potentials and landscape, soil and vegetation characteristics in two Central Appalachian watersheds differing in NO3– export. Forest Ecology and Management 159:145–158.

- Christenson, L. M., G. M. Lovett, K. C. Weathers, and M. A. Arthur. 2009. The influence of tree species, nitrogen fertilization, and soil C to N ratio on gross soil nitrogen transformations. Soil Science Society of America Journal 73:638–646.
- Clark, C. M., S. E. Hobbie, R. Venterea, and D. Tilman. 2009. Long lasting effects on nitrogen cycling 12 years after treatments cease despite minimal long term nitrogen retention. Global Change Biology 15:1755–1766.
- Clarkson R. B. 1964. Tumult on the Mountains: Lumbering in West Virginia 1770-1920. McClain Printing Company.
- Crowley, K. F., B. E. McNeil, G. M. Lovett, C. D. Canham, C. T. Driscoll, L. E. Rustad, E. Denny, R. A. Hallett, M. A. Arthur, J. L. Boggs, C. L. Goodale, J. S. Kahl, S. G. McNulty, S. V. Ollinger, L. H. Pardo, P. G. Schaberg, J. L. Stoddard, M. P. Weand, and K. C. Weathers. 2012. Do nutrient limitation patterns shift from nitrogen toward phosphorus with increasing nitrogen deposition across the northeastern United States? Ecosystems 15:940–957.
- Corre, M. D., and N. P. Lamersdorf. 2004. Reversal of nitrogen saturation after long-term deposition reduction: impact on soil nitrogen cycling. Ecology 85:3090–3104.
- DeHayes, D. H., P. G. Schaberg, G. J. Hawley, and G. R. Strimbeck. 1999. Acid rain impacts on calcium nutrition and forest health. BioScience 49:789–800.
- Doane, T. A., and W. R. Horwáth. 2003. Spectrophotometric Determination of Nitrate with a Single Reagent. Analytical Letters 36:2713–2722.
- Emmett, B. A., O. J. Kjønaas, P. Gundersen, C. Koopmans, A. Tietema, and D. Sleep. 1998. Natural abundance of <sup>15</sup>N in forests across a nitrogen deposition gradient. Forest Ecology and Management 101:9–18.
- Finzi, A. C., N. V. Breemen, and C. D. Canham. 1998. Canopy tree-soil interactions within temperate forests: species effects on soil carbon and nitrogen. Ecological Applications 8:440–446.
- Foster, J. R., and W. A. Reiners. 1983. Vegetation patterns in a virgin subalpine forest at Crawford Notch, White Mountains, New Hampshire. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 110:141–153.
- Galloway, J. N., F. J. Dentener, D. G. Capone, E. W. Boyer, R. W. Howarth, S. P. Seitzinger, G. P. Asner, C. C. Cleveland, P. A. Green, and E. A. Holland. 2004. Nitrogen cycles: past, present, and future. Biogeochemistry 70:153–226.
- Garten, J., Charles T., and H. V. Miegroet. 1994. Relationships between soil nitrogen dynamics and natural <sup>15</sup>N abundance in plant foliage from Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 24:1636–1645.

- Goodale, C. L., and J. D. Aber. 2001. The long-term effects of land-use history on nitrogen cycling in northern hardwood forests. Ecological Applications 11:253–267.
- Goodale, C. L., J. D. Aber, and W. H. McDowell. 2000. The long-term effects of disturbance on organic and inorganic nitrogen export in the White Mountains, New Hampshire. Ecosystems 3:433–450.
- Gundersen, P., I. Callesen, and W. De Vries. 1998. Nitrate leaching in forest ecosystems is related to forest floor CN ratios. Environmental pollution 102:403–407.
- Hamburg, S. P., and C. V. Cogbill. 1988. Historical decline of red spruce populations and climatic warming. Nature 331:428–431.
- Högberg, P., and C. Johannisson. 1993. <sup>15</sup>N abundance of forests is correlated with losses of nitrogen. Plant and Soil 157:147–150.
- Hopkins A. D. 1899. Report on Investigations to Determine the Cause of Unhealthy Conditions of the Spruce and Pine from 1880–1893. WV Agricultural Experimental Station. Fairmont Index Steam Print, Morgantown, WV.
- Iverson, L. R., A. M. Prasad, S. N. Matthews, and M. Peters. 2008. Estimating potential habitat for 134 eastern US tree species under six climate scenarios. Forest Ecology and Management 254:390–406.
- Johnson, A. H., and T. G. Siccama. 1983. Acid deposition and forest decline. Environmental Science and Technology 17:294A–305A.
- Johnson, A. H., and S. B. McLaughlin. 1986. The nature and timing of the deterioration of red spruce in the northern Appalachian Mountains. Pages 200–230 *in* Gibson, J., editors. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Kelly, C. N. 2010. Carbon and nitrogen cycling in watersheds of contrasting vegetation types in the Fernow Experimental Forest, West Virginia. Forestry PhD Dissertation.
- Kelly, C. N., S. H. Schoenholtz, and M. B. Adams. 2011. Soil properties associated with net nitrification following watershed conversion from Appalachian hardwoods to Norway spruce. Plant and Soil 344:361–376.
- Koopmans, C. J., W. C. Lubrecht, and A. Tietema. 1995. Nitrogen transformations in two nitrogen saturated forest ecosystems subjected to an experimental decrease in nitrogen deposition. Plant and Soil 175:205–218.
- Körner, C. 1989. The nutritional status of plant from high altitudes. Oecologia 81:379–391.

- Lal, R. 2005. Forest soils and carbon sequestration. Forest Ecology and Management 220:242–258.
- LeBauer, D. S., and K. K. Treseder. 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. Ecology 89:371–379.
- Le Quéré, C., G. P. Peters, R. J. Andres, R. M. Andrew, T. Boden, P. Ciais, P. Friedlingstein, R. A. Houghton, G. Marland, and R. Moriarty. 2013. Global carbon budget 2013. Earth System Science Data Discussions 6:689–760.
- Lewis R. L. 1998. Transforming the Appalachian Countryside: Railroads, Deforestation, and Social Change in West Virginia, 1880-1990. University of North Carolina Press.
- Lovett, G. M., and C. L. Goodale. 2011. A New Conceptual Model of Nitrogen Saturation Based on Experimental Nitrogen Addition to an Oak Forest. Ecosystems 14:615–631.
- Lovett, G. M., and H. Rueth. 1999. Soil nitrogen transformations in beech and maple stands along a nitrogen deposition gradient. Ecological Applications 9:1330–1344.
- Lovett, G. M., K. C. Weathers, and M. A. Arthur. 2002. Control of nitrogen loss from forested watersheds by soil carbon:nitrogen ratio and tree species composition. Ecosystems 5:712–718.
- Lovett, G. M., K. C. Weathers, M. A. Arthur, and J. C. Schultz. 2004. Nitrogen cycling in a northern hardwood forest: Do species matter? Biogeochemistry 67:289–308.
- Lovett, G. M., K. C. Weathers, and W. V. Sobczak. 2000. Nitrogen saturation and retention in forested watersheds of the Catskill Mountains, New York. Ecological Applications 10:73–84.
- Magill, A. H., J. D. Aber, G. M. Berntson, W. H. McDowell, K. J. Nadelhoffer, J. M. Melillo, and P. Steudler. 2000. Long-term nitrogen additions and nitrogen saturation in two temperate forests. Ecosystems 3:238–253.
- Mariotti, A., J. C. Germon, P. Hubert, P. Kaiser, R. Letolle, A. Tardieux, and P. Tardieux. 1981. Experimental determination of nitrogen kinetic isotope fractionation: some principles; illustration for the denitrification and nitrification processes. Plant and Soil 62:413–430.
- McNeil, B. E., J. M. Read, and C. T. Driscoll. 2007. Foliar nitrogen responses to elevated atmospheric nitrogen deposition in nine temperate forest canopy species. Environmental Science and Technology 41:5191–5197.
- McNeil, B. E., J. M. Read, and C. T. Driscoll. 2012. Foliar nitrogen responses to the environmental gradient matrix of the Adirondack Park, New York. Annals of the Association of American Geographers 102:1–16.

- McNeil, B. E., J. M. Read, T. J. Sullivan, T. C. McDonnell, I. J. Fernandez, and C. T. Driscoll. 2008. The spatial pattern of nitrogen cycling in the Adirondack Park, New York. Ecological Applications 18:438–452.
- McNulty, S. G., J. D. Aber, and R. D. Boone. 1991. Spatial changes in forest floor and foliar chemistry of spruce-fir forests across New England. Biogeochemistry 14:13–29.
- McNulty, S. G., J. Boggs, J. D. Aber, L. Rustad, and A. Magill. 2005. Red spruce ecosystem level changes following 14 years of chronic N fertilization. Forest Ecology and Management 219:279–291.
- Meentemeyer, V. 1978. Macroclimate and lignin control of litter decomposition rates. Ecology 59:465–472.
- Melillo, J. M., J. D. Aber, and J. F. Muratore. 1982. Nitrogen and lignin control of hardwood leaf litter decomposition dynamics. Ecology 63:621–626.
- Midgley, M. G., and R. P. Phillips. 2014. Mycorrhizal associations of dominant trees influence nitrate leaching responses to N deposition. Biogeochemistry 117:241–253.
- Murdoch, P. S., D. A. Burns, and G. B. Lawrence. 1998. Relation of climate change to the acidification of surface waters by nitrogen deposition. Environmental Science and Technology 32:1642–1647.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., J. D. Aber, and J. M. Melillo. 1985. Fine roots, net primary production, and soil nitrogen availability: a new hypothesis. Ecology 66:1377–1390.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., M. R. Downs, B. Fry, J. D. Aber, A. H. Magill, and J. M. Melillo. 1995. The fate of <sup>15</sup>N-labelled nitrate additions to a northern hardwood forest in eastern Maine, USA. Oecologia 103:292–301.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., and B. Fry. 1994. Nitrogen isotope studies in forest ecosystems. Pages 22–44 *in* Lajtha, K., and R. J. Michener, editors. Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program. 2014. Total Deposition Maps. Version 2014.02. http://nadp.sws.uiuc.edu/committees/tdep/tdepmaps. Accessed 19 March 2015.
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program. 2016. NTN Data Access. NADP Program Office, Illinois State Water Survey, University of Illinois, Champaign, IL. http://nadp.isws.illinois.edu/data/ntn. Accessed 1 January 2016.
- Norby, R. J., J. M. Warren, C. M. Iversen, B. E. Medlyn, and R. E. McMurtrie. 2010. CO<sub>2</sub> enhancement of forest productivity constrained by limited nitrogen availability. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107:19368–19373.

- Nowacki G. and D. Wendt. 2010. The current distribution, predictive modeling, and restoration potential of red spruce in West Virginia. Pages 163–178 *in* Proceedings from the Conference on the Ecology and Management of High-Elevation Forests in the Central and Southern Appalachian Mountains. USDA-FS Northern Research Station, Slatyfork, WV.
- Ollinger, S. V., M. L. Smith, M. E. Martin, R. A. Hallett, C. L. Goodale, and J. D. Aber. 2002. Regional variation in foliar chemistry and N cycling among forests of diverse history and composition. Ecology 83:339–355.
- Oren, R., D. S. Ellsworth, K. H. Johnsen, N. Phillips, B. E. Ewers, C. Maier, K. V. R. Schäfer, H. McCarthy, G. Hendrey, and S. G. McNulty. 2001. Soil fertility limits carbon sequestration by forest ecosystems in a CO<sub>2</sub>-enriched atmosphere. Nature 411:469–472.
- Pan, Y., R. A. Birdsey, J. Fang, R. Houghton, P. E. Kauppi, W. A. Kurz, O. L. Phillips, A. Shvidenko, S. L. Lewis, and J. G. Canadell. 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science 333:988–993.
- Pardo, L. H., H. F. Hemond, J. P. Montoya, T. J. Fahey, and T. G. Siccama. 2002. Response of the natural abundance of <sup>15</sup>N in forest soils and foliage to high nitrate loss following clear-cutting. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32:1126–1136.
- Pardo, L. H., S. G. McNulty, J. L. Boggs, and S. Duke. 2007. Regional patterns in foliar <sup>15</sup>N across a gradient of nitrogen deposition in the northeastern US. Environmental Pollution 149:293–302.
- Pardo L. H., P. G. Schaberg, S. G. McNulty. 1998. Response of natural abundance of <sup>15</sup>N in spruce foliage to chronic N addition. Page 105 *in* Proceedings of the 83<sup>rd</sup> Annual Meeting of the Ecological Society of America, Baltimore, MD.
- Pardo, L. H., P. H. Templer, C. L. Goodale, S. Duke, P. M. Groffman, M. B. Adams, P. Boeckx, J. Boggs, J. Campbell, B. Colman, J. Compton, B. Emmett, P. Gundersen, J. Kjønaas, G. Lovett, M. Mack, A. Magill, M. Mbila, M. J. Mitchell, G. McGee, S. McNulty, K. Nadelhoffer, S. Ollinger, D. Ross, H. Rueth, L. Rustad, P. Schaberg, S. Schiff, P. Schleppi, J. Spoelstra, and W. Wessel. 2006. Regional assessment of N saturation using foliar and root δ<sup>15</sup>N. Biogeochemistry 80:143–171.
- Pastor, J., J. D. Aber, C. A. McClaugherty, and J. M. Melillo. 1984. Aboveground production and N and P cycling along a nitrogen mineralization gradient on Blackhawk Island, Wisconsin. Ecology 65:256–268.
- Peterjohn, W. T., C. J. Foster, M. J. Christ, and M. B. Adams. 1999. Patterns of nitrogen availability within a forested watershed exhibiting symptoms of nitrogen saturation. Forest Ecology and Management 119:247–257.

- Phillips, R. P., E. Brzostek, and M. G. Midgley. 2013. The mycorrhizal-associated nutrient economy: a new framework for predicting carbon-nutrient couplings in temperate forests. New Phytologist 199:41–51.
- Plymale, A. E., R. E. J. Boerner, and T. J. Logan. 1987. Relative nitrogen mineralization and nitrification in soils of two contrasting hardwood forests: Effects of site microclimate and initial soil chemistry. Forest Ecology and Management 21:21–36.
- Pollard, J. H. 1971. On distance estimators of density in randomly distributed forests. Biometrics 991–1002.
- Power, S. A., E. R. Green, C. G. Barker, J. N. B. Bell, and M. R. Ashmore. 2006. Ecosystem recovery: heathland response to a reduction in nitrogen deposition. Global Change Biology 12:1241–1252.
- Prasad, A. M., L. R. Iverson, S. Matthews, and M. Peters. 2007. A Climate Change Atlas for 134 Forest Tree Species of the Eastern United States [Database]. Northern Research Station, USDA Forest Service, Delaware, OH.
- Prescott, C. E. 1995. Does nitrogen availability control rates of litter decomposition in forests? Pages 83–88 in Nilsson, L. O., R. F. Hüttl, and U. T. Johansson, editors. Nutrient Uptake and Cycling in Forest Ecosystems. Springer Netherlands, Dordrecht.
- Prescott, C. E., B. R. Taylor, W. F. J. Parsons, D. M. Durall, and D. Parkinson. 1993. Nutrient release from decomposing litter in Rocky Mountain coniferous forests: influence of nutrient availability. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23:1576–1586.
- PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University. http://prism.oregonstate.edu. Accessed 17 April 2015.
- Reich, P. B., D. F. Grigal, J. D. Aber, and S. T. Gower. 1997. Nitrogen mineralization and productivity in 50 hardwood and conifer stands on diverse soils. Ecology 78:335–347.
- Rhine, E. D., R. L. Mulvaney, E. J. Pratt, and G. K. Sims. 1998. Improving the Berthelot reaction for determining ammonium in soil extracts and water. Soil Science Society of America Journal 62:473–480.
- Rinkes, Z. L., M. N. Weintraub, J. L. DeForest, and D. L. Moorhead. 2011. Microbial substrate preference and community dynamics during decomposition of Acer saccharum. Fungal Ecology 4:396–407.
- Robinson, C. H. 2002. Controls on decomposition and soil nitrogen availability at high latitudes. Plant and Soil 242:65–81.
- Robinson, D. 2001.  $\delta^{15}$ N as an integrator of the nitrogen cycle. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 16:153–162.

- Ros, G. H., E. J. M. Temminghoff, and E. Hoffland. 2011. Nitrogen mineralization: a review and meta analysis of the predictive value of soil tests. European Journal of Soil Science 62:162–173.
- SAS Institute. 2003. SAS-JMP version 10.0. SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina, USA
- Schaberg, P. G., D. H. DeHayes, G. J. Hawley, P. F. Murakami, G. R. Strimbeck, and S. G. McNulty. 2002. Effects of chronic N fertilization on foliar membranes, cold tolerance, and carbon storage in montane red spruce. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32:1351– 1359.
- Scott, J. T., T. G. Siccama, A. H. Johnson, and A. R. Breisch. 1984. Decline of red spruce in the Adirondacks, New York. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 111:438–444.
- Scott, N. A., and D. Binkley. 1997. Foliage litter quality and annual net N mineralization: comparison across North American forest sites. Oecologia 111:151–159.
- Siccama, T. G., M. Bliss, and H. W. Vogelmann. 1982. Decline of red spruce in the Green Mountains of Vermont. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 109:162–168.
- Stokes M. A. and T. L. Smiley. 1996. An Introduction to Tree-Ring Dating. University of Arizona Press, Tuscon, AZ
- Strengbom, J., A. Nordin, T. Näsholm, and L. Ericson. 2001. Slow recovery of boreal forest ecosystem following decreased nitrogen input. Functional Ecology 15:451–457.
- Stump, L. M., and D. Binkley. 1993. Relationships between litter quality and nitrogen availability in Rocky Mountain forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23:492–502.
- Templer, P. 2003. Soil microbial biomass and nitrogen transformations among five tree species of the Catskill Mountains, New York, USA. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35:607–613.
- Thomas, K. D., and C. E. Prescott. 2000. Nitrogen availability in forest floors of three tree species on the same site: the role of litter quality. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30:1698–1706.
- US Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. National Emissions Inventory (NEI) Air Pollution Emissions. US Environmental Protection Agency, Chicago. http://www.epa.gov/ttn/chief/trends/index.html. Accessed 15 August 2015.
- Vinton, M. A., and I. C. Burke. 1995. Interactions between individual plant species and soil nutrient status in shortgrass steppe. Ecology 1116–1133.
- Vitousek, P. M., and R. W. Howarth. 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? Biogeochemistry 13:87–115.

- Yin, X. 1992. Empirical relationships between temperature and nitrogen availability across North American forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 22:707–712.
- Zak, D. R., K. S. Pregitzer, W. E. Holmes, A. J. Burton, and G. P. Zogg. 2004. Anthropogenic N deposition and the fate of <sup>15</sup>NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in a northern hardwood ecosystem. Biogeochemistry 69:143–157.
- Zogg, G. P., D. R. Zak, K. S. Pregitzer, and A. J. Burton. 2000. Microbial immobilization and the retention of anthropogenic nitrate in a northern hardwood forest. Ecology 81:1858–1866.

# Chapter 3. Annual soil respiration and belowground carbon allocation in high-elevation red spruce forests are linked to broadleaf controls on N status

To be submitted for publication as: Smith, K. R., J. M. Mathias, B. Hedin, W. T. Peterjohn, and R. B. Thomas. Biogeochemistry.

# 3.1. Abstract.

Soils can be important sinks or sources for atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>; however, quantifying the major fluxes of belowground carbon (C) balance remains a major source of uncertainty in attempts to develop precise global C budgets. Two fluxes are primarily responsible for soil net C storage: soil respiration and total belowground C allocation (TBCA). Many factors influence these two processes including climate, species composition, gross primary productivity (GPP), and substrate availability. Atmospheric inputs of reactive nitrogen (N) may also influence both soil respiration and TBCA through mechanisms such as enhanced plant productivity, shifts in biomass allocation, increased stabilization of organic matter, and alterations in microbial enzyme synthesis. In this study, I examined annual rates of soil respiration and TBCA in seven highelevation red spruce communities that vary in tree species composition and N status. Since these forests are also located in a region where atmospheric N deposition has been historically high. I tested whether patterns of soil respiration and TBCA were more strongly associated with the potential legacy effects of N deposition or with the N status of these sites. I used repeated field measurements of soil respiration and TBCA at each of the seven sites to estimate annual belowground C balance in 2011 and 2012. Annual soil respiration estimates varied between 577-863 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2011 and between 823-1384 g m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2012; likewise, TBCA varied between 511-745 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2011 and between 734-1267 g m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2012. I attributed the 42-70% increase in soil respiration between 2011 and 2012 and TBCA to the warmer conditions in 2012. Contrary to my expectations, no significant relationships between modeled N deposition and annual estimates of soil respiration and TBCA were observed. Instead, I found that these processes were positively correlated with site-level differences in both N status and tree species composition. In particular, I found that the  $\delta^{15}N$  content of organic soil was consistently a strong predictor of both soil respiration (2011:  $R^2 = 0.84$ ; 2012:  $R^2 = 0.95$ ) and TBCA (2011:  $R^2 = 0.86$ ; 2012:  $R^2 = 0.96$ ). I also found that the relative importance of broadleaf deciduous trees was a strong predictor of soil respiration (2011:  $R^2 = 0.81$ ; 2012:  $R^2 = 0.91$ ) and TBCA (2011:  $R^2 = 0.83$ ; 2012:  $R^2 = 0.81$ ). The result that soil respiration and TBCA were positively correlated with N status was surprising given that belowground C allocation tends to increase when resources (like N availability) are limited. On the other hand, this study does not account for the proportion of GPP that was allocated belowground; thus, it remains an open question whether the relative balance of TBCA to GPP was actually negatively associated with increasing soil fertility.

## **3.2. Introduction.**

As Earth's climate continues to change in response to increasing atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations, a greater understanding of the mechanisms that underlie the global carbon (C) balance is necessary. For forest ecosystems, two primary processes determine net C storage: C assimilated through gross primary production (GPP), and C lost through ecosystem respiration. Over the last several decades, improved experimental and modeling techniques have produced reliable aboveground estimates of forest C sequestration, with aboveground net primary productivity (ANPP) accounting for a significant proportion (approximately 30%) of forest GPP (Waring et al. 1998; Litton et al. 2007). However, our ability to estimate whole ecosystem C storage is limited by a number of uncertainties associated with quantifying belowground C balance. From a technical standpoint, belowground C fluxes are among the most difficult to measure, despite the numerous methodological approaches that have been developed over recent years. Furthermore, the various environmental controls on belowground C balance remain poorly understood, which complicates our ability to develop robust C budget models that are applicable to a broad range of forest environments. Resolving these issues is of critical importance in efforts to better predict the strength of forest C sinks under future environmental change.

The major fluxes that constitute belowground C balance include respiration by roots and soil microbes (the latter of which is related to the decomposition of above- and belowground detritus), and allocation of C to the production of coarse and fine roots, as well as rhizosphere exudates, and mycorrhizal symbionts. Total soil respiration, or the sum of autotrophic (root) plus heterotrophic (microbial) respiration, is by far the most important of these belowground fluxes that accounts for ~60-80% of respiration for forest ecosystems (Law et al. 1999; Janssens et al. 2001). On a global scale, soil respiration is the greatest source of C emissions from terrestrial ecosystems, releasing ~80-98 Pg C annually (Raich et al. 2002; Bond-Lamberty and Thomson 2010), which is approximately 10 times the current rate of global fossil fuel C emissions (Boden et al. 2010). Given that soils make up the largest terrestrial pool of organic C (Batjes 2014), there is growing concern that positive feedbacks between soil respiration and

environmental stress could augment C emissions from anthropogenic sources, and enhance warming (Jenkinson et al. 1991; Davidson and Janssens 2006).

The importance of such a positive feedback mechanism depends, in part, on the temperature sensitivity of soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux. And indeed, many studies have shown that rates of soil respiration are positively correlated with soil temperature, with the temperature response of respiration most commonly following an exponential Q<sub>10</sub> or Arrhenius-type curve (Singh and Gupta 1977; Raich and Schlesinger 1992; Lloyd and Taylor 1994; Kicklighter et al. 1994; Peterjohn et al. 1994). While soil temperature can reliably explain a large portion of the variance in soil respiration (Raich and Schlesinger 1992; Fang and Moncrieff 2001), other factors can have a strong influence on respiration as well, including: soil moisture (Howard and Howard 1993; Davidson et al. 1998; Qi and Xu 2001; Gaumont-Guay et al. 2006), photosynthetically assimilated C (Högberg et al. 2001), microbial biomass (Scott-Denton et al. 2003), and the decomposability of litter (Taylor et al. 1989).

Since soil respiration includes the activity of autotrophs as well as heterotrophs, it is also highly dependent on how plant processes allocate C to belowground structures. Total belowground C allocation (TBCA) includes all of the photosynthate that is partitioned to production and respiration of roots and mycorrhizae, as well as root exudation, making it an integral component of forest C budgets (Giardina and Ryan 2002; Litton et al. 2007). However, despite accounting for a significant fraction of GPP (~40%; Litton et al. 2007), TBCA remains one of the least understood components of forest C balance due to difficulties with measuring root and mycorrhizal activity *in situ* (Hanson et al. 2000). To overcome these methodological constraints, Raich and Nadelhoffer (1989) developed a C mass balance approach to estimate TBCA as:

$$TBCA = F_s + F_E - F_A + \Delta [C_s + C_R + C_L] / \Delta t$$
<sup>(1)</sup>

where  $F_S$  is soil respiration,  $F_E$  is C export (e.g. erosion and leaching),  $F_A$  is litterfall C, and  $C_S$ ,  $C_R$ , and  $C_L$  are the change in C stocks of mineral soil, root biomass, and surface litter, respectively over time *t*. Thus, TBCA is the net annual sum of soil C release ( $F_S + F_E$ ) minus C inputs ( $F_A$ ) plus changes in C stocks ( $\Delta[C_S + C_R + C_L]$ ). If we assume that the annual change in

soil, root, and litter C stocks is negligible and that C losses via export are small (which is to be expected in mature, undisturbed forests; Nadelhoffer et al. 1998), then we can rearrange *Equation 1* as:

$$TBCA = F_s - F_A \tag{2}$$

where litterfall ( $F_A$ ) and soil respiration ( $F_S$ ) are the predominant fluxes of C into and out of soil, and the difference between them provides an estimate of the remaining C that was allocated belowground. Provided that these steady-state assumptions are met, this conservation of mass approach provides a reliable, yet simple method to estimate a major component of forest C balance.

For many forests of the world, productivity is strongly co-limited by the availability of inorganic N to support growth (Vitousek and Howarth 1991; Elser et al. 2007; LeBauer and Treseder 2008); consequently, most tree species are expected to allocate a greater proportion of GPP belowground in order to increase nutrient uptake in these N-limited ecosystems (Chapin 1991; Phillips and Fahey 2008). One method to test this hypothesis is by comparing forest C balance between stands that differ in N availability. Recent N addition studies have shown that the fraction of GPP that is allocated belowground (TBCA/GPP ratio) typically declines as a function of soil fertility (Ryan et al. 1996, 2004). Likewise, Bae et al. (2015) showed that TBCA was inversely related to N status in forest sites that differ in native fertility. However, TBCA has also been shown to increase along gradients of N availability that are associated with differences in tree species composition (Nadelhoffer et al. 1985). Whether TBCA increases or decreases in response to changes in N status likely depends on the N sensitivity of the components of belowground C flux.

Changes in N status via experimental fertilization or atmospheric N deposition can also have a direct impact on belowground C cycling through altered rates of litter decomposition and soil respiration (Aber et al. 1998). Like TBCA, soil respiration rates often decline in response to experimental N additions for a variety of forest types (Söderstrom et al. 1983; Haynes and Gower 1995; Bowden et al. 2004; Burton et al. 2004); however, some neutral (Kane et al. 2003;

Allison et al. 2008) and positive responses have also been reported (Craine et al. 2001; Yan et al. 2010). A variety of mechanisms may explain these N-associated effects on soil C cycling. In Nenriched soils, the reduction in belowground C allocation to roots and mycorrhizal root symbionts can directly inhibit rates of rhizosphere respiration (Phillips and Fahey 2007). Shifts in TBCA may also limit exudation of organic compounds that would otherwise be used as a C source for soil microbial decomposition (Högberg and Högberg 2002). In addition, chronic atmospheric N inputs can also reduce soil respiration through changes in saprotrophic community structure and function (Janssens et al. 2010). Ågren et al. (2001) suggested that shifts in microbial community composition toward more efficient decomposers (i.e. low N demand, high C assimilation per unit CO<sub>2</sub> lost) could partially explain why N additions decrease organic matter decomposition. Studies have also reported N-induced changes in the activity of enzymes directly involved in decomposition, such that cellulose-degrading enzymes are upregulated (Carreiro et al. 2000; Sjöberg et al. 2004) while enzymes involved in lignindegradation are inhibited (DeForest et al. 2004). It is likely that chronic N additions lead to changes in the activity of both autotrophic and heterotrophic organisms, often with a net result of reduced decomposition, soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux, and TBCA.

The objective of this study was to examine whether belowground C balance was associated with differences in N status in seven high-elevation red spruce (*Picea rubens*) forests in the Central Appalachian Mountains. I conducted this study as part of a larger body of research that examined the long-term effects of chronic N deposition on N and C cycling of these red spruce stands. In a previous study (Smith et al. 2016), I tested whether the site-level variation in N status among these seven study sites was associated with the legacy of historically high rates of N deposition in the region. The results of that study revealed that differences in N status were more associated with the abundance of broadleaf deciduous (BD) tree species than the cumulative N inputs from deposition. This suggests that the variation in N availability appears to be independent of the N deposition history of a particular site. Despite this decoupling of N status from atmospheric N inputs, the long-term effects of N deposition may still be manifested through alterations in belowground C storage and flux, since red spruce ecosystems are widely regarded as one of the more sensitive forest types to N deposition (Siccama et al. 1982; Scott et al. 1984; Schaberg et al. 2002; Thomas et al. 2010). In this study, I tested two hypotheses. First,

I hypothesized that TBCA and soil respiration would be strongly associated with site-level differences in N status, which I have previously characterized using multiple indices of N status (see Smith et al. 2016). However, since both negative (e.g. Bae et al. 2015) and positive (Nadelhoffer et al. 1985) responses have been observed, this remains a major source of uncertainty in our current understanding of how resource limitation affects C allocation strategies. Alternatively, I hypothesized that TBCA and soil respiration would be negatively related to the historically high rates of atmospheric N inputs that these stands have received. Given that soil respiration is typically (but not always) suppressed in response to N deposition, this too remains an open question whether the cumulative, long-term effects of N deposition are manifested via reductions in soil C release and belowground C allocation. To test these hypotheses, I took repeated measures of soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux and litterfall C to estimate annual rates of soil respiration and TBCA at each of the seven red spruce stands over a two-year interval. I then used a model selection approach to evaluate which environmental factors (i.e. N status, N deposition, climate, stand age, and broadleaf abundance) could best explain the observed differences in soil respiration and TBCA.

#### 3.3. Methods.

#### Study area and site descriptions

This study was performed in seven high-elevation study sites (n = 7, 100-m diameter) containing red spruce in the Central Appalachian Mountains. I established these sites in June 2011 along a transect of moderate to high N deposition as part of a larger study to examine the long-term influences of enhanced N deposition on ecosystem N status and C balance. In the mid-1980s, peak estimates of wet-only N deposition (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> + NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>) in these high-elevation areas ranged from 2.0 to 8.1 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> (South to North). Today, the magnitude of this gradient is less steep, with recent estimates that range from 3.5 to 6.6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> (South to North). I attribute the weakening of this gradient to recent declines (45–55%) in rainwater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentrations following the Clean Air Act in 1990 (in contrast, rainwater NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> has remained relatively constant or has slightly increased in some areas). I estimated N deposition rates for each study site using a spatially-interpolated model of wet-only N deposition for the period 1985 to 2012 (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2014). To evaluate the cumulative long-term effects of N deposition for these study sites, I iteratively calculated the sum of annual estimates for the range of data that was available. Along this spatial gradient, cumulative wet-only N inputs ranged from 117.5 to 206.9 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> between 1985 and 2012. Using a separate dataset from the National Atmospheric Deposition Program (2014) to account for the contribution of dry deposition (HNO<sub>3</sub> + NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> + NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>), I found that cumulative total (wet + dry) N deposition ranged from 326.1 to 399.6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for the period 1985 to 2012.

All seven stands are located above 900 m in elevation and are typical of second growth red spruce communities in the Central Appalachian Mountains, with red spruce, yellow birch, eastern hemlock, and red maple as the primary canopy-dominant species. Soil types vary in taxonomic classification across all study sites, but generally have similar soil drainage characteristics from moderately well-drained to well-drained. Along the spatial gradient, mean annual temperature (MAT) varies between 6.3 and 8.4°C, while annual precipitation is between 1238 and 1591 mm (PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University). Complete descriptions of N deposition, community composition, climate, and soil type for these stands can be found in Smith et al. (2016).

## Estimates of N status

Site-level differences in N status were estimated at each study site using multiple indices that integrate the N cycle over different time scales following the methods described in Smith et al. (2016). These indices included: 1) laboratory incubations of soil samples to capture current rates of net nitrification and N mineralization under controlled conditions; 2) ion-exchange resins to measure soil N supply rates under current field conditions; 3) stable <sup>15</sup>N isotopic composition of soils (both the organic and mineral horizons), and red spruce foliar samples, which provided a historically integrated index of soil N dynamics (Shearer et al. 1974; Garten and Van Miegroet 1994; Nadelhoffer and Fry 1994); and 4) soil C:N ratio for the organic and mineral horizons, which provided an long-term index of N availability and soil organic matter quality.

## Measurements of soil respiration and temperature

Preliminary soil respiration measurements began in March and April 2011 for four of the study sites (McGowan Mountain, Gaudineer Knob, Cranberry Glades, and Little Spruce Bog). Three additional stands (Flat Ridge, Upper Middle Mountain, and Span Oak Run) were established in June 2011 at which point measurements were conducted across the entire spatial gradient. Prior to initial measurements, 16 polyvinyl chloride (PVC) collars (4 cm height, 10 cm inside diameter) were permanently installed at random locations within each study site. After clearing aboveground litter and debris from the soil surface, I inserted each collar approximately 2-3 cm into the soil profile using care to limit subsurface root damage. Collars were installed at least two weeks prior to measurements of soil respiration to prevent abnormally high CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes as a result of soil disturbance.

Soil respiration was measured using a closed chamber, soil CO<sub>2</sub> flux system attached to a portable infrared gas analyzer (LI-8100 with LI-8100-102 chamber, Li-Cor Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA). Measurements of soil respiration were made weekly across the entire gradient from June through the end of July, and monthly from September through November. Despite increasing evidence that winter soil respiration should be accounted for in subalpine forests (Mast et al. 1998; McDowell et al. 2000), a persistent snowpack and limited access to field sites throughout the winter and early spring prevented consistent sampling during those months, although two measurement campaigns were conducted during March and April 2011.

On a given sampling campaign, soil respiration was measured once at each of the 16 collars in each study site. After connecting the LI-8100-102 chamber to a PVC collar, a single measurement cycle was conducted over a 90 s period during which the chamber opened and closed automatically. Rates of soil  $CO_2$  efflux were calculated as the exponential increase in chamber  $CO_2$  concentration over the measurement interval.

During each respiration measurement I recorded soil temperatures (5 cm depth) directly adjacent to each collar using a digital stainless-steel thermometer. In addition, hourly air and soil (5 cm depth) temperatures were measured continuously at each site using dataloggers (three dataloggers per study site, two soil, one air; HOBO Pendant Temperature Data Logger, Onset

Computer Corporation, Bourne, MA, USA) between January 2011 and December 2012. Occasional gaps in this dataset were filled by building multiple linear regression models to predict hourly temperature for any particular site. The general form of this model is given as:

$$T_{a,s} = a + b_1 T_1 + b_2 T_2 + \dots + b_p T_p \tag{3}$$

where  $T_{a,s}$  is the missing hourly temperature value (air or soil, respectively) for a given site, *a* is the intercept, *b* is the regression coefficient, and *T* is the observed hourly temperature (air or soil) for an adjacent study site (up to six additional sites). Stepwise regression was used to determine which sites should be included in the model to best predict the missing temperature term. I found that when temperature data was unavailable, this method produced a more unbiased estimate of hourly temperature compared to other gap-filling methods like simple linear interpolation between points.

I used my continuous air temperature data from each site to estimate cumulative growing degree days, calculated as the total number of days throughout the year (2011 and 2012) where daily mean air temperature was  $> 5^{\circ}$ C (Figure 3.1a). Similarly, I estimated cumulative precipitation as the sum of total daily rainfall measurements for both 2011 and 2012 (Figure 3.1b). Since precipitation data were unavailable for my study sites, I relied on an open-access spatial dataset to estimate daily and monthly precipitation for each site (Livneh et al. 2015) (Figure 3.4c).

## *Litterfall* C

I collected total aboveground litterfall (leaves plus woody tissue < 1 cm in diameter) in eight litter baskets (0.42 m<sup>2</sup> ground area) at each site. Litter samples were periodically collected in June, September, and October, beginning in June 2011 and concluding in June 2013. On each sample date I returned litter samples to the laboratory where they were hand-sorted into leaf and wood litter (including twigs, branches, bark, and reproductive tissue) for red spruce, other needleleaf evergreen species (e.g. hemlock and pine), and all broadleaf deciduous tree species (e.g. yellow birch and red maple). Sorted samples were then dried at 65°C for 48 hrs and weighed to estimate dry biomass of each litter and plant type.

Samples from each category (leaves and woody tissue for red spruce, other conifers, and all broadleaf deciduous trees) were pooled for a particular site and year. Pooled samples were ground to pass a #40 mesh using a Wiley Mill and a small subsample of each was analyzed for total C content using a NC 2500 elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy). I found that regardless of litter type and tree species, the C content of all samples was approximately 50%. This value was applied to all litterfall biomass estimates to calculate annual litterfall C (g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) for each site.

## Data analysis

For each study site, I used hourly soil temperature data to estimate annual soil respiration based on the relationship between observed rates of soil  $CO_2$  efflux and discrete soil temperature measurements. Though the temperature response of soil respiration is often modeled using an exponential Q<sub>10</sub> function (Raich and Schlesinger 1992; Raich and Potter 1995), strong evidence has shown that the temperature sensitivity of respiration is higher at low temperatures (Kirschbaum 1995; Lloyd and Taylor 1994). For this reason, I chose the Lloyd and Taylor (1994) model to estimate annual soil respiration since it allows the temperature response function to vary with changes in measurement temperature. Similar to an Arrhenius function, the Lloyd and Taylor (1994) model is given as:

$$R_s = A e^{-E_0/(T - T_0)} \tag{4}$$

where  $R_s$  is the rate of soil respiration (mg C m<sup>-2</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>) at temperature *T* (K),  $E_0$  is a fitted parameter similar to a temperature-dependent activation energy, and  $T_0$  (K) is a fitted temperature parameter between 0 K and *T*. *A* is a site-specific model parameter calculated as the mean of observed soil respiration rates (mg C m<sup>-2</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>). Similar to methods described in Savage and Davidson (2001), I multiplied the *A* value by 1000 in order to parameterize  $E_0$  to a value within the range of expected activation energies. For each site, I used nonlinear least squares regression to estimate model parameters using the Gauss-Newton algorithm with SAS-JMP Pro 10.0 software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC). Using this relationship, I calculated hourly estimates of total soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux and integrated these values for the period from 1 January 2011 to 31 December 2012 to determine annual rates of soil respiration for each site. During preliminary data analysis I anticipated that site-specific temperature responses of soil respiration would vary between 2011 and 2012. To test whether the temperature response of respiration depended on sample year (and study site), I used a general linear model with two fixed nominal variables (sample year and study site) and one continuous variable (soil temperature), and included all interactions. To meet the assumptions of normality for this model, all soil respiration data were transformed using the Box-Cox power transformation. To examine how the temperature response of soil respiration varied by year (and site), I estimated the temperature response function  $Q_{10}$  as:

$$Q_{10} = \left(\frac{R_s}{R_0}\right)^{10/(T-T_0)}$$
(5)

where  $R_s$  is the rate of soil respiration (mg C m<sup>-2</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>) at temperature T (°C),  $R_0$  is the rate of soil respiration (mg C m<sup>-2</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>) at temperature  $T_0$  (°C), and  $Q_{10}$  is a unitless scalar that describes the factor by which soil respiration is increased over the range from  $T_0$  to T. However, since the Lloyd and Taylor (1994) temperature response function (see *Equation 4*) allows  $Q_{10}$  to vary with respect to measurement temperature, I calculated  $Q_{10}$  values between 10-15°C, the interval at which ~60% of my soil temperature measurements were taken.

Although my field measurements of litterfall and soil respiration occurred simultaneously during the summer and fall of both 2011 and 2012, my modeled estimates of annual soil respiration (January 2011 through December 2012) were not aligned with the timing of litterfall sampling (June 2011 through May 2013). To account for this discrepancy, I first assumed that the largest differences in litterfall rates between years would occur during the growing season and early fall (June through October); whereas, I assumed that litterfall rates during the winter and spring (November through May) would be similar between years. Operating under these assumptions, I calculated daily "winter" litterfall for both 2011 and 2012 as the total amount of litterfall that occurred between November and May divided by the number of days in this time interval. These estimates were used to calculate the average daily "winter" litterfall rates between 2011 and 2012. Next, I applied this metric to back-calculate total litterfall that occurred prior to sampling in 2011 (January through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through through May) and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through through May and to account for litterfall that occurred from November through through May and to account

December 2012. These calculations allowed me to express annual soil respiration and litterfall over the same time frame for both study years.

I used a conservation of mass approach to estimate total belowground carbon allocation (TBCA;  $g C m^{-2} y^{-1}$ ) at each of my study sites. Following Raich and Nadelhoffer (1989), I calculated TBCA as the difference between annual estimates of soil respiration and litterfall C (see *Equation 2*).

To assess potential controls of temperature response functions, annual soil respiration, litterfall C, and TBCA, I performed regression analyses relating estimates of each response variable to abiotic and biotic environmental factors for each site. The environmental factors considered included site-specific N deposition estimates (cumulative wet and total deposition), indices of N status (rates of net nitrification, net N mineralization, ion-resin N supply rates, foliar and soil  $\delta^{15}$ N, and soil C:N), stand age, the relative importance of canopy broadleaf deciduous trees (hereafter referred to as BD RIV), mean temperature (annual and growing season, May through September), and precipitation (annual and growing season). I then compared the likelihood of competing regression models using corrected Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC<sub>c</sub>). In comparing two or more models, those with the lowest AIC<sub>c</sub> value were considered to be better predictors of changes in soil respiration, litterfall, and TBCA. Units were expressed as  $\Delta AIC_c$ , which indicates the difference between the model with the strongest statistical support and competing models. Thus, the most parsimonious model will have  $\Delta AIC_c$  equal to 0, while weaker models will have  $\Delta AIC_c$  greater than 0. All statistical analyses were performed with SAS-JMP Pro 10.0 software (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC).

#### 3.4. Results.

### Seasonal variation of soil respiration

Throughout the two-year study period, soil respiration for all sites varied as a function of changes in soil temperature (Figure 3.2). The range of measured soil respiration values was between 0.17 and 13.53  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> while discrete soil temperature measurements were between 0.9 and 19.3°C. Use of the Lloyd and Taylor (1994) function produced good fits ( $R^2 = 0.49$ -

0.71) for models that included all mean observed soil respiration rates for 2011 and 2012 (Table 3.1). However, in comparing observations for 2011 and 2012, I found strong differences in respiration rates despite minor differences in soil temperature (Table 3.2). Across all sites, June soil respiration was 31-48% greater in 2012 compared to 2011; whereas, soil temperature was 0.76-0.01% lower. Likewise, in July I observed respiration rates that were 26-103% greater in 2012 than 2011, while the difference in soil temperature between years was between -0.13 and 0.61%. Since the large differences in observed respiration rates between study years were likely not due to changes in soil temperature alone, I modeled the temperature response of respiration for 2011 and 2012 separately. In order to ensure that both models operated similarly at low temperatures for both years, I included some 2011 observations (n  $\leq$  3) when low temperature data was not available for the 2012 year. Separating the overall fit into two independent models greatly improved model fits for both years ( $R^2 = 0.72-0.96$ ).

Given the higher rates of soil respiration observed in 2012, I found that the temperature sensitivity of soil respiration was also significantly higher in 2012 (p = 0.04). In addition, I found that the between-year variation in the response of soil respiration to changes in soil temperature was different among sites (p = 0.04), with some sites (e.g. McGowan Mountain and Cranberry Glades) exhibiting markedly higher temperature sensitivities between 2011 and 2012.

I found only minor site-level differences in estimated  $Q_{10}$  values for my 2011 data, with estimates ranging between 2.51 and 3.02 (Table 3.3). In contrast, my 2012 data revealed much stronger site-level variation with values that ranged between 2.33 and 4.67. I also observed that the greatest percent change in  $Q_{10}$  between 2011 and 2012 occurred at sites that were previously characterized as having greater N availability as well as a higher abundance of broadleaf associates (e.g. Cranberry Glades, 72% increase; McGowan Mountain, 68% increase). In comparison, sites that were dominated primarily by needleleaf evergreen species exhibited only minor interannual differences in their temperature response functions (e.g. Flat Ridge, 22% decrease; Gaudineer Knob, 9% increase). I conducted simple bivariate regressions to examine the environmental factors (e.g. N status, N deposition, climate, stand age, and broadleaf abundance) that best predicted the interannual variation in temperature response functions across study sites. Due to the lack of site-level differences in  $Q_{10}$  for 2011, I found no predictor
variables that could significantly explain the variation in  $Q_{10}$  (Table 3.4). For my 2012 data, however, I found that  $Q_{10}$  of soil respiration was best predicted by site-level differences in stand age (p = 0.01,  $R^2 = 0.76$ ) (Figure 3.3a), soil C:N in the organic (p = 0.01,  $R^2 = 0.74$ ) (Figure 3.3c) and mineral horizons (p = 0.02,  $R^2 = 0.70$ ), and mean temperature (annual, p = 0.03,  $R^2 = 0.64$ ; growing season, p = 0.02,  $R^2 = 0.72$ ). I also found a weak positive trend relating  $Q_{10}$  values with differences in BD RIV for 2012 (p = 0.06,  $R^2 = 0.53$ ) but not 2011 (p = 0.44,  $R^2 = 0.12$ ) (Figure 3.3b).

#### Model estimates compared to observed

For each site, hourly estimates of soil respiration were calculated by applying continuous measurements of soil temperature to *Equation* 4. I compared the seasonal variation in simulated daytime (0700-1900 h) soil respiration to my observed values of mean soil respiration measured in the field and found that across all sites, my modeled estimates strongly predicted my observed data for both years ( $R^2 = 0.89$  for 2011 and  $R^2 = 0.86$  for 2012) (Figure 3.4a). Likewise, I found strong agreement between my continuous measurements of mean daytime soil temperature and discrete soil temperature measurements ( $R^2 = 0.96$  for 2011 and  $R^2 = 0.93$  for 2012) (Figure 3.4b).

#### Annual estimates of soil respiration, litterfall C, and belowground C allocation

Along the study gradient, modeled estimates of annual soil respiration varied between 577-863 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> for 2011 and between 823-1384 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> for 2012 (Table 3.3). Total soil respiration during the growing season (May 15 through September 15) accounted for the majority of annual soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux for both years (~55-57% in 2011 and ~51-64% in 2012) (Figure 3.4a). The between-year variation in my estimates of litterfall C was not as pronounced as soil respiration, with litterfall rates ranging from 65-118 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2011 and 87-117 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2012 (Table 3.3). I did find that the site-level variation in litterfall estimates was a good predictor of annual soil respiration rates for 2011 (p = 0.057) (Figure 3.5) but not 2012 (p = 0.15). Because of this positive relationship, my mass balance estimates of TBCA primarily reflected the spatial variation in soil respiration, with estimates that ranged from 511-745 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2011 and 734-1267 g C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> in 2012 (Table 3.3).

Neither cumulative wet deposition nor total deposition could adequately explain the variation in either annual soil respiration or TBCA for my study sites (p > 0.76) (Table 3.4; Figure 3.6b). Instead, soil respiration and TBCA for both 2011 and 2012 were strongly associated with both N status and BD RIV at these sites (Table 3.4). For my 2011 estimates, annual soil respiration and TBCA were significantly related to the  $\delta^{15}$ N content of organic soil (p < 0.004) (Figure 3.6a). I also observed slight trends relating 2011 soil respiration and TBCA to organic soil C:N (p < p0.06) (Figure 3.6c) and mineral soil  $\delta^{15}$ N (p < 0.10). Likewise, in 2012, I found that annual soil respiration and TBCA were strongly associated with differences in the  $\delta^{15}$ N content of organic (p < 0.0002) (Figure 3.6a) and mineral soil (p < 0.04), and of red spruce leaves (p < 0.03). My 2012 estimates of soil respiration and TBCA were also related to organic (p < 0.05) (Figure 3.6c) and mineral soil C:N (p < 0.06). Despite the positive trend between soil respiration and litterfall (Figure 3.5), I did not observe any significant relationships between litterfall and any of my environmental predictor variables. For both 2011 and 2012, annual soil respiration and TBCA were positively associated with differences in canopy BD RIV (Table 3.4), with BD RIV explaining  $\sim$ 81% of the variability in annual soil respiration and TBCA for 2011 and 2012 (p < 0.006, respectively) (Figure 3.6d).

The results from my model selection approach suggest that for 2011, differences in soil respiration among sites were best explained by organic soil  $\delta^{15}$ N content ( $\Delta AIC_c = 0$ ) (Table 3.4) and the relative importance of BD species ( $\Delta AIC_c = 1.0$ ). For 2012, the single best predictor of changes in annual soil respiration was organic soil  $\delta^{15}$ N ( $\Delta AIC_c = 0$ ), although I did observe significant relationships between soil respiration and the relative importance of BD species ( $\Delta AIC_c = 9.3$ ), foliar and mineral soil  $\delta^{15}$ N content ( $\Delta AIC_c = 13.6$  and 14.7, respectively), and organic soil C:N ( $\Delta AIC_c = 14.9$ ). Of all of the models included in this approach, however, N deposition was the least likely to explain differences in respiration for both years ( $\Delta AIC_c = 12.7-20.9$ ).

My model selection results for TBCA were nearly identical to those for soil respiration (Table 3.4), with organic soil  $\delta^{15}$ N explaining 86% of the variation in TBCA for 2011 ( $\Delta AIC_c = 0$ ), and 96% of the variation in TBCA for 2012 ( $\Delta AIC_c = 0$ ).

#### 3.5. Discussion.

In this study, I found that soil respiration was strongly associated with seasonal changes in soil temperature, but also varied with respect to study year and study site. In comparing the variation of soil respiration between study years, I found that respiration rates were significantly higher in 2012 compared to 2011 (Table 3.2), but the magnitude of this interannual variation was dependent on site. Likewise, some sites exhibited markedly different temperature responses of soil respiration between study years, and these differences seem to be related to site-level variation in stand history, tree species composition, and soil organic matter quality (Figure 3.3). In addition, my use of a C mass balance approach to estimate annual belowground C allocation revealed similar results as were observed with soil respiration, where the spatial variation in TBCA was positively related to tree species effects on the N status of these sites (Table 3.4; Figure 3.4). These results partially supported the hypothesis that spatial patterns of belowground C balance would be correlated with differences in N status; however, my study was not in agreement with the generally observed trend that soil C release and belowground allocation typically decline as soil fertility increases (Gower et al. 1994; Litton et al. 2007; Phillips and Fahey 2007; Janssen et al. 2010; Bae et al. 2015). Finally, I did not find any supporting evidence to suggest that the high rates of N deposition that these sites have historically received had any impact on current patterns of soil respiration and TBCA.

### Seasonal and interannual variability of soil respiration

I examined a number of factors that could explain the seasonal and interannual variation of soil respiration. For both years, soil temperature was a strong predictor of the seasonal variability of soil respiration (Figure 3.2); however, I found that the higher rates of respiration in 2012 could not be explained by differences in soil temperature alone (Table 3.2; Figure 3.4). Given that absolute rates of soil respiration are not only related to seasonal changes in temperature but also soil moisture (Davidson et al. 1998; Gaumont-Guay et al. 2006), photosynthesis (Högberg et al. 2001), and litter quality (Taylor et al. 1989), I hypothesized that the higher rates of respiration in 2012 may have been driven by indirect effects of early growing season climate and site-level differences in tree species composition and soil organic matter quality. Prior to initial sample measurements during the 2012 field season (DOY 157), my sites experienced 8-21 more

65

growing-degree days (sum of days with mean air temperature  $> 5^{\circ}$ C starting on January 1 of a given year) in 2012 compared to the same date in 2011 (Figure 3.1a). This increased period of warming is important for forest C dynamics since the number of cumulative growing-degree days can alter plant phenology and stimulate plant productivity (Cleland et al. 2007; Piao et al. 2007). Thus, the interannual differences in the early growing season temperatures I observed may have facilitated earlier leafout in 2012, potentially resulting in increased canopy photosynthesis, which, in turn, could provide more photosynthetically assimilated C to be allocated to root and rhizosphere respiration (Högberg et al. 2001; Savage and Davidson 2001). In addition, I would expect this phenological "priming" effect on soil respiration to be more pronounced in mixed forests that contain a greater abundance of high-productivity tree species (Raich and Tufekciogul 2000; Yuste et al. 2004; Khomik et al. 2006). My results tend to support this idea, where sites with greater broadleaf abundance (e.g. McGowan Mountain and Cranberry Glades) exhibited much greater interannual variability in soil respiration than sites that were dominated by needleleaf evergreen species (e.g. Flat Ridge and Gaudineer Knob) (Figure 3.2). Since the allocation of recent photosynthate to root respiration has been shown to account for ~52-56% of total soil respiration (Högberg et al. 2001), I suggest that species-specific differences in C uptake and belowground C allocation are likely responsible for much of the spatial and temporal heterogeneity in observed respiration rates that could not be ascribed to interannual temperature variation alone.

Differences in tree species composition (and in particular, different leaf strategies among species) can influence the apparent temperature sensitivity of soil respiration ( $Q_{10}$ ) as well. In a study that compared soil respiration rates under different tree species in a mixed temperate forest, Yuste et al. (2004) showed that seasonal  $Q_{10}$  values were significantly higher under deciduous canopies compared with evergreen canopies. These results suggest that under similar climate regimes, broadleaf deciduous trees allocate comparatively more photosynthate to root activity (growth and respiration) than their needleleaf evergreen counterparts (Steele et al. 1997); thus, species-level differences in phenology and root C allocation patterns are expected to modulate the temperature response of soil respiration, resulting in a positive relationship between  $Q_{10}$  values and the deciduousness of a particular forest. My results generally agree with this

finding, where estimated  $Q_{10}$  values were positively associated with differences in broadleaf abundance for 2012, but not 2011 (Table 3.4; Figure 3.3).

The interannual variability of soil respiration at my sites may also have been related to differences in precipitation between 2011 and 2012. At the start of the growing season in 2012 (April-June), precipitation patterns were characteristic of a waning La Niña system that brought variable drought conditions across most of the United States including the Central Appalachians (NOAA 2012). As a result, cumulative precipitation prior to June sampling was 38-185 mm lower (137 mm average) in 2012 compared to 2011 (Figures 3.1b and 3.4c). This evidence (in combination with the interannual differences in cumulative degree days) suggests that these study sites likely experienced a relatively cool, moist spring in 2011 and a warm, dry spring in 2012 (Figures 3.1 and 3.4), which could alter both the timing and magnitude of peak respiration rates during the growing season (Savage and Davidson 2001; Scott-Denton et al. 2003). For example, in a comparison of interannual soil respiration rates between two New England forests, Savage and Davidson (2001) found that when springtime soil conditions were warm and moist, soil respiration increased earlier in the spring but also peaked earlier in the summer. However, when spring conditions were warm and dry, increases in soil respiration were delayed until ~mid-June. Although warmer temperatures usually result in elevated rates of total soil respiration (owing to Michaelis-Menten enzyme kinetics), the temperature stimulation of soil respiration can be depressed under conditions of low soil moisture, obscuring the apparent temperature sensitivity of respiration (Savage and Davidson 2001; Scott-Denton et al. 2003). Thus, while the warmer temperatures of 2012 may have initiated earlier leafout and greater productivity, the confounding effects of low soil moisture during the early spring may have suppressed peak soil respiration rates until mid- to late-June.

Finally, the 26-103% higher rates of soil respiration in July 2012 (Table 3.2) may have been related to a destructive derecho (straight-line wind storm) that tracked across the Midwestern United States and through most of West Virginia on June 29, 2012 (DOY 181). Maximum wind speeds for this event were as high as 87 mph, which resulted in multiple tip-ups and canopy damage at most of my study sites. Studies on the effects of wind-throw on forest C balance show that soil disturbance and increased decay of canopy deadwood can enhance ecosystem

67

respiration for several weeks or months after disturbance (Knohl et al. 2002; Lindroth et al. 2009). Thus, I hypothesize that the variation in growing-degree days and cumulative precipitation during the early growing season, coupled with severe weather in late June could partially explain the higher observed respiration rates throughout summer 2012 (Table 3.2).

#### Spatial controls on belowground C cycling

My analysis of the components of the TBCA budget revealed similar results as studies that have also used a C mass balance approach to estimate belowground C allocation (e.g. Raich and Nadelhoffer 1989; Davidson et al. 2002). These studies show that annual soil respiration tends to be positively related to litterfall C inputs across a broad range of forest types, with estimates of TBCA that are about 4x higher than litterfall on average. I examined whether my annual estimates of soil respiration and litterfall agreed with this trend by plotting my values against a similar dataset from Davidson et al. (2002) (Figure 3.5). For my 2011 data, annual litterfall was a strong predictor for the spatial variation in soil respiration (p = 0.057) with a slope (slope = 3.4) that was similar to what Davidson et al. (2002) reported for forests worldwide (slope = 3.6). In contrast, I did not find a significant relationship between soil respiration and litterfall for my 2012 data (p = 0.15). In general, my results tended to be more biased toward higher rates of soil respiration, although this was more apparent in 2012 than 2011.

My model comparison approach revealed that annual estimates of soil respiration and TBCA were most strongly associated with differences in tree species composition and N status, but were unrelated to N deposition (Table 3.4). This result was not entirely surprising since it is well established that rates of decomposition and soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux are positively correlated with the higher litter quality of many broadleaf species including common red spruce associates like maple and birch (Melillo et al. 1982; Taylor et al. 1989; Raich and Tufekciogul, 2000). In addition, previous work in these seven red spruce stands showed that these differences in tree species composition led to distinct profiles of N status at each site (Smith et al. 2016); thus, I would expect that these patterns of belowground C balance would be related to N availability as well as broadleaf importance. Indeed, I found a strong negative correlation between the C:N ratio of organic soil and my annual estimates of soil respiration and TBCA ( $R^2 = 0.53-0.60$ ); likewise, soil respiration and TBCA were positively correlated with organic soil  $\delta^{15}$ N content ( $R^2$ 

= 0.84-0.96). Since soil C:N is primarily controlled by the quantity and quality of aboveground litter inputs, it is likely that both decomposition and total soil respiration would be suppressed in soils enriched in organic matter that is highly recalcitrant to microbial decay (i.e high C:N). Moreover, changes in the  $\delta^{15}$ N composition of foliar and soil pools have been linked to the activity of soil microbes and are well-correlated with rates of N transformations (e.g. nitrification and mineralization) in soil (Mariotti et al. 1981; Pardo et al. 2006; Kahmen et al. 2008). Given that absolute rates of soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux are due in part to the activity of soil heterotrophs, total soil respiration may reflect rates of microbial decomposition as well as the availability of inorganic N.

On the other hand, total soil respiration also includes the respiratory fluxes of autotrophs, so I might expect rates of soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux to decrease with greater N supply. For example, when N is limiting, plants allocate more C to nutrient acquisition pathways (i.e. root production, rhizosphere exudation, mycorrhizal symbiosis) at the expense of higher respiratory costs (Haynes and Gower 1995). My results were in contrast with this conceptual model, with TBCA increasing with respect to site-level differences in N status (Table 3.4; Figure 3.6). Although these results were unexpected, other studies have also shown variable responses in the relationship between belowground allocation and N status (Raich and Nadelhoffer 1989; Ryan et al. 1996; Raich 1998; Giardina et al. 2003). For example, Raich (1998) examined C allocation patterns in three Hawaiian rainforests that differed in soil fertility and productivity. The results of that study showed that TBCA increased with both N mineralization and ANPP; however, the fraction of ANPP that was allocated belowground decreased with N status and productivity. In contrast, Ryan et al. (1996) showed that experimental N additions to Pinus radiata stands reduced both TBCA as well as the fraction of GPP that was allocated belowground (i.e. TBCA/GPP ratio). A similar N fertilization study in *Eucalyptus saligna* stands showed that TBCA was not significantly different between fertilized and control plots, but the TBCA/GPP ratio did decline under high N (Giardina et al. 2003). The general consensus from these studies is that while absolute rates of TBCA may increase, decrease, or remain unchanged in relation to N status, the proportion of GPP that is allocated belowground typically declines when N availability is high. Thus, while my study showed a positive relationship between TBCA and N status, I cannot presently examine the relationship between soil fertility and the relative C

contribution of GPP to TBCA, since my study did not account for aboveground production at my sites.

While my study did show that soil respiration and TBCA were related to differences in species composition and N status at my sites, the hypothesis that belowground C balance would be associated with historically high rates of atmospheric N deposition was not supported. This may be due to several reasons: 1) the estimates of N deposition for my sites were inaccurate; 2) the estimates of deposition are accurate, but the gradient was not broad enough to detect a response; or 3) the magnitude and range of my deposition estimates were sufficiently large, but broadleaf controls on litter C inputs and decomposition overwhelmed any effects of deposition. Although I did not measure rates of N deposition at my sites, my estimates were derived from a wellvalidated dataset of long-term deposition monitoring for this region (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2014). A second concern is whether my selection of study sites represent a broad enough range of N deposition rates (4.2 to 7.4 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>  $y^{-1}$ ) to detect a significant response. While the range of estimated N deposition for my sites is more narrow than similar studies in New England (Aber et al. 2003; Boggs et al. 2007; McNeil et al. 2008) and in the Southern Appalachians (Boggs et al. 2005), there remains some uncertainty as to whether the legacy effects of pollution can contribute to current rates of C flux. As such, I feel that the twofold difference in cumulative wet deposition inputs from 1985 to 2012 (117.5 to 206.9 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) is sufficiently broad enough to still influence soil C cycling. Thus, it appears to me that any potential influence of N deposition on annual soil respiration and TBCA for my sites is minimal compared to tree species effects on litter quality, rates of decomposition, and N availability.

Given the importance of tree species as a potential control on N status and belowground C cycling, the results of this study has broad implications for my understanding of climate change and terrestrial C storage. For example, if broadleaf deciduous species that produce labile litter replace needleleaf evergreen forests as temperatures increase, then it seems likely that soil respiration will become more sensitive to climatic stressors like drought and severe storms, both of which are predicted to increase in frequency and severity under anthropogenic global warming (IPCC 2014). Furthermore, it is predicted that even under the most conservative climate change scenarios, red spruce forests in the Central Appalachians are likely to be replaced by low-

elevation broadleaf deciduous communities migrating to higher elevations (Byers et al. 2010). As a result, I expect a strong decline in the strength of soil C sinks as the broadleaf ecotone shifts upward, owing to higher rates of soil  $CO_2$  efflux coupled with potential declines in TBCA relative to GPP.

In conclusion I showed that site-level differences in tree species composition (and their associated influences on soil organic matter quality and N status) exerted a strong spatial and temporal control on soil respiration and TBCA in high-elevation red spruce forests; however, I found no evidence that historically high rates of N deposition were influencing current patterns of belowground C cycling. While my results do not support the idea that belowground C allocation decreases as a function of soil fertility, I nevertheless showed that soil C dynamics are positively associated with differences in N status, suggesting that the variation in leaf habit in mixed forests can affect both nutrient availability as well as soil C loss, with possible large implications for future C storage.

# 3.6. Tables and Figures.

**Table 3.1.** Model parameter estimates of Lloyd and Taylor (1994) function (*Equation* 4) applied to empirical observations of soil temperature (5 cm) and soil respiration. Models were generated for the entire dataset ("All Pts"), and for 2011 and 2012 observations separately. Note: For the 2012 model, I included some 2011 observations (campaigns shown in parentheses) when low temperature data was not available for 2012.

Site	Model	Data Range Included in Model	$A_{,}$ g C m <sup>-2</sup> hr <sup>-1</sup>	<i>Е</i> <sub>0</sub> , К	<i>Т</i> <sub>0</sub> , К	n	$R^2$
	2011	060811 to 111211	114.4	436.3	222.4	9	0.77
FLR	2012	060612 to 101312 (111211)	144.3	553.0	204.8	8	0.72
	All Pts	060811 to 101312	134.0	579.5	201.7	16	0.49
	2011	043011 to 111311	86.9	504.4	211.6	10	0.89
GKB	2012	060712 to 101312 (043011, 111311)	106.6	447.7	218.9	8	0.88
	All Pts	043011 to 101312	102.6	536.4	207.1	16	0.64
	2011	043011 to 111311	127.7	477.0	216.7	10	0.95
MCG	2012	060712 to 101312 (043011, 111311)	185.9	312.3	240.3	9	0.94
	All Pts	043011 to 101312	166.5	347.9	235.8	17	0.60
	2011	032411 to 111211	99.7	451.6	218.4	11	0.86
CGL	2012	060612 to 101312 (032411, 050111, 111211)	137.9	278.2	243.1	10	0.95
	All Pts	032411 to 101312	129.3	368.7	230.9	18	0.58
	2011	060811 to 111311	108.2	500.8	213.8	9	0.85
UMM	2012	060712 to 101312 (111311)	136.6	390.7	228.5	7	0.95
	All Pts	060811 to 101312	126.0	477.7	217.1	15	0.58
	2011	060811 to 111311	132.2	491.2	215.2	9	0.77
SOR	2012	060712 to 101312 (111311)	179.7	371.5	231.5	7	0.91
	All Pts	060811 to 101312	159.6	448.4	221.3	15	0.50
	2011	032411 to 111211	108.3	436.0	222.8	11	0.91
LSB	2012	061312 to 101312 (032411, 050111, 111211)	137.7	311.0	240.5	9	0.96
	All Pts	032411 to 101312	133.6	393.5	229.4	17	0.71

**Table 3.2.** Monthly comparisons of discrete field measurements (i.e. soil respiration and soil temperature), continuously logged temperature data, and estimated total precipitation between the summer months of 2011 and 2012 (calculated as the average of n = 7 sites). Monthly means were compared by year using one-way ANOVA; asterisks denote values that were significantly different in 2012. Note: No field campaigns were conducted during August 2011.

		Observed D	Continue	Estimated		
Month	Year	Soil Respiration (mg C m <sup>-2</sup> hr <sup>-1</sup> )	Soil Temp (°C)	Air Temp (°C)	Soil Temp (°C)	Total Precip (mm)
June	2011	116.4	13.3	16.9	13.4	103.6
	2012	159.6*	12.0*	15.5*	13.2	73.9*
July	2011	146.7	15.1	19.3	15.7	114.7
	2012	238.7*	15.5*	19.3	16.2	168.6
Aug	2011	-	-	17.6	15.6	98.9
	2012	268.7	14.3	16.8*	15.5	84.6
Sept	2011	138.6	12.7	14.0	13.9	151.4
	2012	185.1	13.1	13.5	13.9	151.0

Note: Precipitation data estimated from Livneh et al. (2015).

**Table 3.3.** Estimates of annual soil respiration, the temperature response function  $(Q_{10})$  of soil respiration over the soil temperature interval 10-15°C, annual litterfall C, and total belowground C allocation (TBCA) for 2011 and 2012.

	Soil res	piration	$Q_{10}$		Litterfall C		TBCA	
	(g C m <sup>2</sup> y <sup>2</sup> )		(10-15°C)		(g C m <sup>2</sup> y <sup>2</sup> )		(g C m <sup>2</sup> y <sup>2</sup> )	
Site	2011	2012	2011	2012	2011	2012	2011	2012
FLR	702.6	1060.7	2.98	2.33	80.0	96.6	622.7	964.2
GKB	576.8	823.5	2.51	2.73	65.4	89.6	511.4	733.9
MCG	855.5	1336.2	2.73	4.58	118.3	114.7	737.2	1221.5
CGL	761.3	1246.6	2.72	4.67	70.5	86.8	690.8	1159.7
UMM	674.4	1032.8	2.64	3.31	103.8	104.1	570.6	928.6
SOR	862.5	1384.0	2.69	3.56	117.4	117.2	745.1	1266.9
LSB	746.5	1057.6	3.02	4.61	99.6	106.4	646.9	951.1

**Table 3.4.** Coefficients of determination ( $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) for linear regressions of soil respiration,  $Q_{10}$  (over the soil temperature interval 10-15°C), and total belowground C allocation (TBCA) versus site-level predictor variables.  $\Delta AIC_c$  for each column of data are shown in parentheses, with  $\Delta AIC_c$  = 0 for the most parsimonious model. Values shown in bold are significant (p < 0.05).

	Soil respiration $(q C m^{-2} v^{-1})$		$Q_{10}$		$\frac{\text{TBCA}}{(\text{g C } \text{m}^{-2} \text{ v}^{-1})}$	
Model	2011	2012	2011	2012	2011	2012
N status indices						
Net nitrification	0.07 (12.3)	0.16 (19.6)	0.02 (2.6)	0.34 (7.0)	0.15 (12.5)	0.20 (20.4)
Net N mineralization	0.23 (10.9)	0.36 (17.7)	0.02 (2.5)	0.53 (4.7)	0.33 (10.8)	0.40 (18.3)
Resin – Total N	0.25 (10.8)	0.33 (18.1)	0.01 (2.7)	0.44 (6.0)	0.32 (10.9)	0.35 (18.9)
$\text{Resin} - \text{NH}_4^+$	0.25 (10.8)	0.33 (18.0)	0.03 (2.5)	0.45 (5.8)	0.33 (10.8)	0.36 (18.8)
$\text{Resin} - \text{NO}_3$	0.24 (10.9)	0.31 (18.2)	0.01 (2.7)	0.41 (6.3)	0.30 (11.1)	0.34 (19.1)
Foliar $\delta^{15}N$	0.43 (8.8)	0.64 (13.6)	0.08 (2.2)	0.33 (7.2)	0.52 (8.5)	0.68 (14.0)
Organic soil $\delta^{15}N$	0.84 (0)	0.95 (0)	0.01 (2.7)	0.40 (6.4)	0.86 (0)	0.96 (0)
Mineral soil $\delta^{15}$ N	0.45 (8.6)	0.59 (14.7)	0.01 (2.6)	0.59 (3.7)	0.48 (9.0)	0.61 (15.4)
Organic soil C:N	0.53 (7.5)	0.58 (14.9)	0.01 (2.7)	0.74 (0.5)	0.60 (7.2)	0.60 (15.6)
Mineral soil C:N	0.43 (8.8)	0.54 (15.4)	0.01 (2.6)	0.70 (1.5)	0.48 (9.1)	0.56 (16.1)
Environmental factors						
Cumulative N Deposition (wet only)	0.02 (12.7)	0.01 (20.9)	0.14 (1.6)	0.30 (7.4)	0.01 (13.6)	0.01 (21.9)
Cumulative N Deposition (wet $+ dry$ )	0.01 (12.8)	0.01 (20.8)	0.03 (2.5)	0.32 (7.2)	0.01 (13.6)	0.01 (21.8)
Mean Annual Temperature	0.51 (7.8)	0.32 (18.2)	0.32(0.1)	0.64 (2.8)	0.45 (9.4)	0.30 (19.5)
Mean Growing Season Temperature	0.54 (7.3)	0.36 (17.7)	0.32 (0)	0.72 (1.2)	0.51 (8.7)	0.35 (19.0)
Annual Precipitation	0.04 (12.5)	0.01 (20.9)	0.04 (2.4)	0.01 (10)	0.01 (13.6)	0.01 (21.9)
Growing Season Precipitation	0.07 (12.3)	0.01 (20.8)	0.14 (1.7)	0.01 (9.9)	0.03 (13.4)	0.01 (21.9)
Stand Age	0.38 (9.5)	0.32 (18.2)	0.01 (2.6)	0.76 (0)	0.45 (9.4)	0.33 (19.2)
BD Relative Importance	0.81 (1.0)	0.81 (9.3)	0.12 (1.8)	0.53 (4.7)	0.83 (1.4)	0.81 (10.2)

**Figure 3.1.** Comparison of (a) cumulative effective degree days and (b) cumulative precipitation between 2011 (solid line) and 2012 (dotted line), averaged across all study sites (shaded area depicts standard error of the mean for n = 7 sites). Cumulative effective degree days were iteratively calculated as the number of days in which the average daily air temperature was > 5°C. Similarly, cumulative precipitation was calculated as the sum of total daily precipitation throughout the year. The two vertical dashed lines represent the first (DOY 157) and last (DOY 287) sampling campaigns that were conducted across all sites for both 2011 and 2012.



**Figure 3.2.** Site-specific relationships between observed mean daily soil respiration and soil temperature at 5-cm depth. Data for 2011 (closed circles) and 2012 (open circles) were fit separately using a modified Arrhenius-type function (Lloyd and Taylor, 1994). I found that the temperature response of soil respiration was significantly different between 2011 and 2012 (p = 0.04) and that the between-year variation in this response was dependent on study site (p = 0.04). All model parameters and goodness of fit are listed in Table 3.1.



**Figure 3.3.** Relationships between the temperature coefficient ( $Q_{10}$ ) of soil respiration and (a) stand age, (b) broadleaf deciduous relative importance values (RIV), and (c) organic soil C:N for the two study years, 2011 and 2012. All  $Q_{10}$  values were estimated over the soil temperature interval, 10-15°C.



**Figure 3.4.** Comparisons of soil respiration and climatic conditions between the two study years (2011 and 2012): (a) data points are daily mean observed soil respiration ( $R_s$ ) for all study sites (2011, closed circles; 2012 open circles) while the daily trend line is modeled mean daytime (0700-1900 hrs) soil respiration averaged across n = 7 sites (2011, solid line; 2012, dotted line); (b) data points are daily mean observed soil temperature at 5-cm depth ( $T_s$ ) for all sites (2011, closed circles; 2012 open circles) while the daily trend line is datalogged mean daytime (0700-1900 hrs) soil temperature averaged across all sites (2011, solid line; 2012, dotted line); (c) mean cumulative monthly precipitation (Ppt) (± standard error bars) averaged across all sites (2011, grey bars; 2012, white bars). Note: Site-level precipitation data estimated from Livneh et al. (2015).



**Figure 3.5.** Relationships between annual soil respiration and annual litterfall for this study (2011: closed circles, 2012: open circles) and for a recently published meta-analysis (plus signs) (Davidson et al. 2002). Linear regression of these variables showed a slight trend for 2011 data (p = 0.057,  $R^2 = 0.54$ ), but was not significant for 2012 data (p = 0.15,  $R^2 = 0.36$ ).



**Figure 3.6.** Relationships between 2011 and 2012 estimates of total belowground C allocation (TBCA) and (a)  $\delta^{15}$ N content of organic soil, (b) cumulative inorganic N in wet deposition (1985-2012), (c) C:N ratio of organic soil, and (d) relative importance values of all canopy broadleaf deciduous species.



# 3.7. Literature Cited.

- Aber, J., W. McDowell, K. Nadelhoffer, A. Magill, G. Berntson, M. Kamakea, S. McNulty, W. Currie, L. Rustad, and I. Fernandez. 1998. Nitrogen saturation in temperate forest ecosystems. BioScience 48:921–934.
- Aber, J. D., C. L. Goodale, S. V. Ollinger, M.-L. Smith, A. H. Magill, M. E. Martin, R. A. Hallett, and J. L. Stoddard. 2003. is nitrogen deposition altering the nitrogen status of northeastern forests? BioScience 53:375–389.
- Ågren, G. I., E. Bosatta, and A. H. Magill. 2001. Combining theory and experiment to understand effects of inorganic nitrogen on litter decomposition. Oecologia 128:94–98.
- Allison, S. D., C. I. Czimczik, and K. K. Treseder. 2008. Microbial activity and soil respiration under nitrogen addition in Alaskan boreal forest. Global Change Biology 14:1156–1168.
- Bae, K., T. J. Fahey, R. D. Yanai, and M. Fisk. 2015. Soil nitrogen availability affects belowground carbon allocation and soil respiration in northern hardwood forests of New Hampshire. Ecosystems 18:1179–1191.
- Batjes, N. H. 2014. Total carbon and nitrogen in the soils of the world. European Journal of Soil Science 65:10–21.
- Boden, T. A., G. Marland, and R. J. Andres. 2010. Global, Regional, and National Fossil-Fuel CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions. Carbon Dioxide Information Analysis Center, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, U.S. Department of Energy, Oak Ridge, TN, USA.
- Boggs, J. L., S. G. McNulty, and L. H. Pardo. 2007. Changes in conifer and deciduous forest foliar and forest floor chemistry and basal area tree growth across a nitrogen (N) deposition gradient in the northeastern US. Environmental Pollution 149:303–314.
- Boggs, J. L., S. G. McNulty, M. J. Gavazzi, and J. M. Myers. 2005. Tree growth, foliar chemistry, and nitrogen cycling across a nitrogen deposition gradient in southern Appalachian deciduous forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35:1901–1913.
- Bond-Lamberty, B., and A. Thomson. 2010. Temperature-associated increases in the global soil respiration record. Nature 464:579–582.
- Bowden, R. D., E. Davidson, K. Savage, C. Arabia, and P. Steudler. 2004. Chronic nitrogen additions reduce total soil respiration and microbial respiration in temperate forest soils at the Harvard Forest. Forest Ecology and Management 196:43–56.
- Burton, A. J., K. S. Pregitzer, J. N. Crawford, G. P. Zogg, and D. R. Zak. 2004. Simulated chronic NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> deposition reduces soil respiration in northern hardwood forests. Global Change Biology 10:1080–1091.

- Byers, E. A., J. P. Vanderhorst, and B. P. Streets. 2010. Classification and Conservation Assessment of Upland Red Spruce Communities in West Virginia. WV Natural Heritage Program, WVDNR, Elkins, WV, 68 p.
- Carreiro, M. M., R. L. Sinsabaugh, D. A. Repert, and D. F. Parkhurst. 2000. Microbial enzyme shifts explain litter decay responses to simulated nitrogen deposition. Ecology 81:2359–2365.
- Chapin, F. S. 1991. Integrated responses of plants to stress. BioScience 41:29-36.
- Cleland, E. E., I. Chuine, A. Menzel, H. A. Mooney, and M. D. Schwartz. 2007. Shifting plant phenology in response to global change. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 22:357–365.
- Craine, J. M., D. A. Wedin, and P. B. Reich. 2001. The response of soil CO<sub>2</sub> flux to changes in atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, nitrogen supply and plant diversity. Global Change Biology 7:947–953.
- Davidson, E. A., and I. A. Janssens. 2006. Temperature sensitivity of soil carbon decomposition and feedbacks to climate change. Nature 440:165–173.
- Davidson, E. A., K. Savage, P. Bolstad, D. A. Clark, P. S. Curtis, D. S. Ellsworth, P. J. Hanson, B. E. Law, Y. Luo, and K. S. Pregitzer. 2002. Belowground carbon allocation in forests estimated from litterfall and IRGA-based soil respiration measurements. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 113:39–51.
- Davidson, E. A., E. Belk, and R. D. Boone. 1998. Soil water content and temperature as independent or confounded factors controlling soil respiration in a temperate mixed hardwood forest. Global Change Biology 4:217–227.
- DeForest, J. L., D. R. Zak, K. S. Pregitzer, and A. J. Burton. 2004. Atmospheric nitrate deposition and the microbial degradation of cellobiose and vanillin in a northern hardwood forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36:965–971.
- Elser, J. J., M. E. S. Bracken, E. E. Cleland, D. S. Gruner, W. S. Harpole, H. Hillebrand, J. T. Ngai, E. W. Seabloom, J. B. Shurin, and J. E. Smith. 2007. Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Ecology Letters 10:1135–1142.
- Fang, C., and J. B. Moncrieff. 2001. The dependence of soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux on temperature. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 33:155–165.
- Garten, J., Charles T., and H. V. Miegroet. 1994. Relationships between soil nitrogen dynamics and natural <sup>15</sup>N abundance in plant foliage from Great Smoky Mountains National Park. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 24:1636–1645.

- Gaumont-Guay, D., T. A. Black, T. J. Griffis, A. G. Barr, R. S. Jassal, and Z. Nesic. 2006. Interpreting the dependence of soil respiration on soil temperature and water content in a boreal aspen stand. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 140:220–235.
- Giardina, C. P., M. G. Ryan, D. Binkley, and J. H. Fownes. 2003. Primary production and carbon allocation in relation to nutrient supply in a tropical experimental forest. Global Change Biology 9:1438–1450.
- Giardina, C. P., and M. G. Ryan. 2002. Total belowground carbon allocation in a fast-growing eucalyptus plantation estimated using a carbon balance approach. Ecosystems 5:487–499.
- Gower, S. T., H. L. Gholz, K. Nakane, and V. C. Baldwin. 1994. Production and carbon allocation patterns of pine forests. Ecological Bulletins 115–135.
- Hanson, P. J., N. T. Edwards, C. T. Garten, and J. A. Andrews. 2000. Separating root and soil microbial contributions to soil respiration: A review of methods and observations. Biogeochemistry 48:115–146.
- Haynes, B. E., and S. T. Gower. 1995. Belowground carbon allocation in unfertilized and fertilized red pine plantations in northern Wisconsin. Tree Physiology 15:317–325.
- Högberg, M. N., and P. Högberg. 2002. Extramatrical ectomycorrhizal mycelium contributes one-third of microbial biomass and produces, together with associated roots, half the dissolved organic carbon in a forest soil. New Phytologist 154:791–795.
- Högberg, P., A. Nordgren, N. Buchmann, A. F. S. Taylor, A. Ekblad, M. N. Högberg, G. Nyberg, M. Ottosson-Löfvenius, and D. J. Read. 2001. Large-scale forest girdling shows that current photosynthesis drives soil respiration. Nature 411:789–792.
- Howard, D. M., and P. J. A. Howard. 1993. Relationships between CO<sub>2</sub> evolution, moisture content and temperature for a range of soil types. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 25:1537–1537.
- IPCC. 2014. Terrestrial and inland water systems. Pages 271–359 in Fields, C. B., V. R. Barros, D. J. Dokken et al., editors. Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects. Contribution of Working Group II to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Janssens, I. A., W. Dieleman, S. Luyssaert, J.-A. Subke, M. Reichstein, R. Ceulemans, P. Ciais, A. J. Dolman, J. Grace, G. Matteucci, D. Papale, S. L. Piao, E.-D. Schulze, J. Tang, and B. E. Law. 2010. Reduction of forest soil respiration in response to nitrogen deposition. Nature Geoscience 3:315–322.

- Janssens, I. A., H. Lankreijer, G. Matteucci, A. S. Kowalski, N. Buchmann, D. Epron, K. Pilegaard, W. Kutsch, B. Longdoz, T. Grunwald, L. Montagnani, S. Dore, C. Rebmann, E. J. Moors, A. Grelle, U. Rannik, K. Morgenstern, S. Oltchev, R. Clement, J. Gudmundsson, S. Minerbi, P. Berbigier, A. Ibrom, J. Moncrieff, M. Aubinet, C. Bernhofer, N. O. Jensen, T. Vesala, A. Granier, E. D. Schulze, A. Lindroth, A. J. Dolman, P. G. Jarvis, R. Ceulemans, and R. Valentini. 2001. Productivity overshadows temperature in determining soil and ecosystem respiration across European forests. Global Change Biology 7:269–278.
- Jenkinson, D. S., D. E. Adams, and A. Wild. 1991. Model estimates of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from soil in response to global warming. Nature 351:304–306.
- Kahmen, A., W. Wanek, and N. Buchmann. 2008. Foliar  $\delta^{15}$ N values characterize soil N cycling and reflect nitrate or ammonium preference of plants along a temperate grassland gradient. Oecologia 156:861–870.
- Kane, E. S., K. S. Pregitzer, and A. J. Burton. 2003. Soil respiration along environmental gradients in Olympic National Park. Ecosystems 6:326–335.
- Khomik, M., M. A. Arain, and J. H. McCaughey. 2006. Temporal and spatial variability of soil respiration in a boreal mixedwood forest. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 140:244–256.
- Kicklighter, D. W., J. M. Melillo, W. T. Peterjohn, E. B. Rastetter, A. D. McGuire, P. A. Steudler, and J. D. Aber. 1994. Aspects of spatial and temporal aggregation in estimating regional carbon dioxide fluxes from temperate forest soils. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 99:1303–1315.
- Kirschbaum, M. U. F. 1995. The temperature dependence of soil organic matter decomposition, and the effect of global warming on soil organic C storage. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 27:753–760.
- Knohl, A., O. Kolle, T. Y. Minayeva, I. M. Milyukova, N. N. Vygodskaya, T. Foken, and E. Schulze. 2002. Carbon dioxide exchange of a Russian boreal forest after disturbance by wind throw. Global Change Biology 8:231–246.
- Law, B. E., M. G. Ryan, and P. M. Anthoni. 1999. Seasonal and annual respiration of a ponderosa pine ecosystem. Global Change Biology 5:169–182.
- LeBauer, D. S., and K. K. Treseder. 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. Ecology 89:371–379.
- Lindroth, A., F. Lagergren, A. Grelle, L. Klemedtsson, O. L. A. Langvall, P. E. R. Weslien, and J. Tuulik. 2009. Storms can cause Europe-wide reduction in forest carbon sink. Global Change Biology 15:346–355.

- Litton, C. M., J. W. Raich, and M. G. Ryan. 2007. Carbon allocation in forest ecosystems. Global Change Biology 13:2089–2109.
- Livneh B., T. J. Bohn, D. W. Pierce, F. Munoz-Arrioloa, B. Nijssen, R. Vose, D. R. Cayan, and L. Brekke. 2015. A spatially comprehensive, meteorological data set for Mexico, the U.S., and southern Canada (NCEI Accession 0129374). NOAA National Centers for Environmental Information. Dataset. doi:10.7289/V5X34VF6. Accessed on October 8, 2015.
- Lloyd, J., and J. A. Taylor. 1994. On the temperature dependence of soil respiration. Functional Ecology 8:315–323.
- Mariotti, A., J. C. Germon, P. Hubert, P. Kaiser, R. Letolle, A. Tardieux, and P. Tardieux. 1981. Experimental determination of nitrogen kinetic isotope fractionation: some principles; illustration for the denitrification and nitrification processes. Plant and Soil 62:413–430.
- Mast, M. A., K. P. Wickland, R. T. Striegl, and D. W. Clow. 1998. Winter fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> from subalpine soils in Rocky Mountain National Park, Colorado. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 12:607–620.
- McDowell, N. G., J. D. Marshall, T. D. Hooker, and R. Musselman. 2000. Estimating CO<sub>2</sub> flux from snowpacks at three sites in the Rocky Mountains. Tree Physiology 20:745–753.
- McNeil, B. E., J. M. Read, T. J. Sullivan, T. C. McDonnell, I. J. Fernandez, and C. T. Driscoll. 2008. The spatial pattern of nitrogen cycling in the Adirondack Park, New York. Ecological Applications 18:438–452.
- Melillo, J. M., J. D. Aber, and J. F. Muratore. 1982. Nitrogen and lignin control of hardwood leaf litter decomposition dynamics. Ecology 63:621–626.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., and B. Fry. 1994. Nitrogen isotope studies in forest ecosystems. Pages 22-44 *in* Lajtha, K., and R. J. Michener, editors. Stable Isotopes in Ecology and Environmental Science. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford, United Kingdom.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., J. W. Raich, and J. D. Aber. 1998. A global trend in belowground carbon allocation: comment. Ecology 79:1822–1825.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., J. D. Aber, and J. M. Melillo. 1985. Fine roots, net primary production, and soil nitrogen availability: a new hypothesis. Ecology 66:1377–1390.
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program. 2014. Total Deposition Maps. Version 2014.02. http://nadp.sws.uiuc.edu/committees/tdep/tdepmaps. Accessed 19 March 2015.
- NOAA National Climatic Data Center, State of the Climate: Synoptic Discussion for June 2012, published online July 2012, retrieved on July 3, 2014 from http://www.ncdc.noaa.gov/sotc/synoptic/2012/6.

- Pardo, L. H., P. H. Templer, C. L. Goodale, S. Duke, P. M. Groffman, M. B. Adams, P. Boeckx, J. Boggs, J. Campbell, B. Colman, J. Compton, B. Emmett, P. Gundersen, J. Kjønaas, G. Lovett, M. Mack, A. Magill, M. Mbila, M. J. Mitchell, G. McGee, S. McNulty, K. Nadelhoffer, S. Ollinger, D. Ross, H. Rueth, L. Rustad, P. Schaberg, S. Schiff, P. Schleppi, J. Spoelstra, and W. Wessel. 2006. Regional assessment of N saturation using foliar and root δ<sup>15</sup>N. Biogeochemistry 80:143–171.
- Peterjohn, W. T., J. M. Melillo, P. A. Steudler, K. M. Newkirk, F. P. Bowles, and J. D. Aber. 1994. Responses of trace gas fluxes and N availability to experimentally elevated soil temperatures. Ecological Applications 4:617–625.
- Phillips, R. P., and T. J. Fahey. 2007. Fertilization effects on fineroot biomass, rhizosphere microbes and respiratory fluxes in hardwood forest soils. New Phytologist 176:655–664.
- Phillips, R. P., and T. J. Fahey. 2008. The influence of soil fertility on rhizosphere effects in northern hardwood forest soils. Soil Science Society of America Journal 72:453–461.
- Piao, S., P. Friedlingstein, P. Ciais, N. Viovy, and J. Demarty. 2007. Growing season extension and its impact on terrestrial carbon cycle in the Northern Hemisphere over the past 2 decades. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 21.
- PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University. http://prism.oregonstate.edu. Accessed 17 April 2015.
- Qi, Y., and M. Xu. 2001. Separating the effects of moisture and temperature on soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux in a coniferous forest in the Sierra Nevada mountains. Plant and Soil 237:15–23.
- Raich, J. W., and K. J. Nadelhoffer. 1989. Belowground carbon allocation in forest ecosystems: global trends. Ecology 70:1346–1354.
- Raich, J. W., and W. H. Schlesinger. 1992. The global carbon dioxide flux in soil respiration and its relationship to vegetation and climate. Tellus B 44:81–99.
- Raich, J. W. 1998. Aboveground productivity and soil respiration in three Hawaiian rain forests. Forest Ecology and Management 107:309–318.
- Raich, J. W., C. S. Potter, and D. Bhagawati. 2002. Interannual variability in global soil respiration, 1980–94. Global Change Biology 8:800–812.
- Raich, J. W., and C. S. Potter. 1995. Global patterns of carbon dioxide emissions from soils. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 9:23–36.
- Raich, J. W., and A. Tufekciogul. 2000. Vegetation and soil respiration: Correlations and controls. Biogeochemistry 48:71–90.

- Ryan, M. G., R. M. Hubbard, S. Pongracic, R. J. Raison, and R. E. McMurtrie. 1996. Foliage, fine-root, woody-tissue and stand respiration in *Pinus radiata* in relation to nitrogen status. Tree Physiology 16:333–343.
- Ryan, M. G., D. Binkley, J. H. Fownes, C. P. Giardina, and R. S. Senock. 2004. An experimental test of the causes of forest growth decline with stand age. Ecological Monographs 74:393–414.
- SAS Institute. 2003. SAS-JMP version 10.0. SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina, USA
- Savage, K. E., and E. A. Davidson. 2001. Interannual variation of soil respiration in two New England forests. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 15:337–350.
- Schaberg, P. G., D. H. DeHayes, G. J. Hawley, P. F. Murakami, G. R. Strimbeck, and S. G. McNulty. 2002. Effects of chronic N fertilization on foliar membranes, cold tolerance, and carbon storage in montane red spruce. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32:1351– 1359.
- Scott-Denton, L., K. L. Sparks, and R. K. Monson. 2003. Spatial and temporal controls of soil respiration rate in a high-elevation, subalpine forest. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 35:525–534.
- Scott, J. T., T. G. Siccama, A. H. Johnson, and A. R. Breisch. 1984. Decline of red spruce in the Adirondacks, New York. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 111:438–444.
- Shearer, G., J. Duffy, D. H. Kohl, and B. Commoner. 1974. A steady-state model of isotopic fractionation accompanying nitrogen transformations in soil. Soil Science Society of America Journal 38:315–322.
- Siccama, T. G., M. Bliss, and H. W. Vogelmann. 1982. Decline of red spruce in the Green Mountains of Vermont. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 109:162–168.
- Singh, J. S., and S. R. Gupta. 1977. Plant decomposition and soil respiration in terrestrial ecosystems. The Botanical Review 43:449–528.
- Sjöberg, G., S. I. Nilsson, T. Persson, and P. Karlsson. 2004. Degradation of hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin in decomposing spruce needle litter in relation to N. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36:1761–1768.
- Smith, K. R., J. M. Mathias, B. E. McNeil, W. T. Peterjohn, and R. B. Thomas. 2016. Site-level importance of broadleaf deciduous trees outweighs the legacy of high nitrogen (N) deposition on ecosystem N status of Central Appalachian red spruce forests. Plant and Soil 1–14.

- Söderström, B., E. Bååth, and B. Lundgren. 1983. Decrease in soil microbial activity and biomasses owing to nitrogen amendments. Canadian Journal of Microbiology 29:1500–1506.
- Steele, S. J., S. T. Gower, J. G. Vogel, and J. M. Norman. 1997. Root mass, net primary production and turnover in aspen, jack pine and black spruce forests in Saskatchewan and Manitoba, Canada. Tree Physiology 17:577–587.
- Taylor, B. R., D. Parkinson, and W. F. J. Parsons. 1989. Nitrogen and lignin content as predictors of litter decay rates: a microcosm test. Ecology 70:97–104.
- Thomas, R. Q., C. D. Canham, K. C. Weathers, and C. L. Goodale. 2010. Increased tree carbon storage in response to nitrogen deposition in the US. Nature Geoscience 3:13–17.
- Vitousek, P. M., and R. W. Howarth. 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: How can it occur? Biogeochemistry 13:87–115.
- Waring, R. H., J. J. Landsberg, and M. Williams. 1998. Net primary production of forests: a constant fraction of gross primary production. Tree Physiology 18:129–134.
- Yan, L., S. Chen, J. Huang, and G. Lin. 2010. Differential responses of auto- and heterotrophic soil respiration to water and nitrogen addition in a semiarid temperate steppe. Global Change Biology 16:2345–2357.
- Yuste, J. C., I. A. Janssens, A. Carrara, and R. Ceulemans. 2004. Annual Q<sub>10</sub> of soil respiration reflects plant phenological patterns as well as temperature sensitivity. Global Change Biology 10:161–169.

Chapter 4. Aboveground growth of red spruce trees at seven forest locations in the Central Appalachian Mountains with differing N availabilities.

# 4.1. Abstract.

Chronic nitrogen (N) additions via atmospheric deposition can have important and often longlasting effects on carbon (C) and N cycling in forest ecosystems. In this study, I used a biometric-based approach to examine the growth of red spruce trees located in a region of historically high rates of atmospheric N deposition. Previous research in these stands has shown that differences in N status among sites were associated with the abundance of broadleaf deciduous trees, but were unrelated to estimates of N deposition. Thus, a primary aim of this project was to assess whether red spruce growth was more strongly related to the legacy effects of N deposition, the current differences in N status, or the influence of other co-varying environmental factors like climate and stand age. I also took repeated measures of foliar net photosynthesis and dark respiration, and red spruce wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux to determine whether observed growth responses could be explained by differences in C balance of aboveground biomass. During 2011 and 2012, I observed significant between-site variation in the growth of red spruce trees (p < 0.0001), but surprisingly, these growth responses were not correlated with either N status or N deposition estimates. Instead, I found that red spruce growth patterns were positively correlated with mean temperature ( $R^2 = 0.92$  and 0.95, annual and growing season, respectively) and stand age ( $R^2 = 0.58$ ). I also found a slight trend where red spruce aboveground production was negatively associated with the ratio of foliar dark respiration to net photosynthesis ( $R^2 = 0.54$ ); in addition, red spruce wood biomass increment was positively correlated with wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux expressed on a stem surface area basis ( $R^2 = 0.77$ ), but not on a wood biomass basis ( $R^2 = 0.01$ ). These findings suggest that, despite site-level differences in N status and historical N deposition, the observed red spruce growth patterns appear to be driven by local climatic conditions that favor a positive balance between C uptake via photosynthesis and C loss via increased respiration. Thus, red spruce growth is more constrained by cooler temperatures than by N-limitation.

#### 4.2. Introduction.

Forest ecosystems play an important role in the global carbon (C) cycle by sequestering an estimated 2.4 Pg C annually (Pan et al. 2011) and roughly 30% of anthropogenic C emissions (Le Quéré et al. 2013). However, while studies have suggested that forests may continue to be a substantial sink for increases in atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> (Nabuurs et al. 2003; Pan et al. 2011), the efficiency of these C sinks may decline in response to a multitude of environmental stressors, including climate change, drought, and land use change (Falkowski et al. 2000; Hurtt et al. 2002; Friedlingstein et al. 2006). Understanding the impacts of environmental change on forest C sequestration is of vital importance to improving terrestrial biosphere models. However, our ability to predict future C storage by forests is constrained by our limited knowledge on how environmental factors influence the processes that underlie tree growth in forest ecosystems.

For many forests, the availability of N to support aboveground production produces a large constraint on C sink strength (Nadelhoffer et al. 1985; Vitousek and Howarth 1991; LeBauer and Treseder 2008). Indeed, several lines of evidence have shown that N additions via fertilization or atmospheric N deposition often stimulate productivity in ecosystems that are strongly co-limited by N availability (Miller 1981; Ågren 1983; Bonan 1990; Elser et al. 2007). For example, as N supply increases, trees are expected to shift biomass allocation from belowground to the production of new foliage and wood biomass above ground (Giardina et al. 2003). In addition to enhanced foliar biomass and canopy leaf area, foliar N content may also increase (Aber et al 1989, 1998), and is likely to be accompanied by greater rates of photosynthesis and respiration (Evans 1989; Mitchell and Hinckley 1993).

While N deposition can enhance forest productivity by satisfying plant nutritional demands (Hyvönen et al. 2008; Nave et al. 2009), adverse effects due to chronic N saturation have also been observed (McNulty et al. 1996; Peterjohn et al. 1996; Wallace et al. 2007). The widely-accepted paradigm of N saturation suggests that when the sustained supply of inorganic N exceeds biological demand, critical changes in ecosystem N cycling begin to occur (Aber et al. 1989, 1998). Among these changes are increased  $NO_3^-$  leaching into surface waters, higher rates of net nitrification, and increased soil acidification (Fenn et al. 1998; Driscoll et al. 2003). These

symptoms of progressive N saturation have been observed in a variety of controlled and observational studies (McNulty et al. 1991; McNulty et al. 1996; Magill et al. 2004), but there are often numerous exceptions due to confounding effects of soil type, species composition, and climate (Nadelhoffer et al. 1999; Aber et al. 2003; Emmett 2007). To resolve some of these inconsistencies, Lovett and Goodale (2011) offered an alternative conceptual model of N saturation in forest ecosystems, which posited that forest responses to N deposition depends on whether added N can be efficiently retained in vegetation and soil. However, predicting the efficiency of these N sinks is complicated since a number of factors influence how N is retained, including tree species composition, resource limitation, and stand age (Lovett and Goodale 2011). Thus, our limited understanding of how N availability and other environmental factors regulate forest C sequestration remains an area of uncertainty in current attempts to estimate C budgets for terrestrial ecosystems.

Red spruce forests in the northeastern United States are an ideal model system to examine the influence of N status on forest production, since they are among the most sensitive ecosystems to the acidic effects of atmospheric N deposition (Adams et al. 2012). Beginning in the 1960s and continuing through much of the 1980s, multiple red spruce stands exhibited symptoms of declining growth, including reduced crown volume and basal area, needle chlorosis, and mortality that were associated with high rates of acidic deposition in the region (Siccama et al. 1982; Foster and Reiners 1983; Scott et al. 1984; Johnson and McLaughlin 1986). The mechanism that initiated this decline was primarily related to acid-induced imbalances of key foliar nutrients (e.g. Ca/N and Mg/N; McNulty et al. 1991; McNulty et al. 2005) and associated reductions in cold stress tolerance of red spruce foliage (DeHayes et al. 1999; Schaberg et al. 2002). Following the enactment of the Clean Air Act in 1990, rates of N deposition have declined throughout the Central Appalachian Mountains (US Environmental Protection Agency 2015); consequently, many of the red spruce stands that were negatively affected by N deposition may be in a stage of recovery (Rollins et al. 2010). Although this evidence is encouraging, it nevertheless remains an open question whether historically high rates of N deposition are continuing to affect the N status and tree growth in these sensitive ecosystems.

This study builds on previous work conducted in high-elevation red spruce forests located in a region that once received some of the highest rates of atmospheric N deposition in the United States. Previously, I examined whether decades of atmospheric N deposition were responsible for site-level differences in N status among seven red spruce study sites in the Central Appalachian region (Smith et al. 2016). The results of this study showed that although these sites had distinctly different levels of N availability, these differences were not currently associated with historical or current N deposition. Instead, I found that the abundance of broadleaf deciduous (BD) tree species were a better predictor of N status, primarily due to differences in the quality of aboveground litter inputs among different species at each site. I also tested a similar hypothesis, that historically high rates of N deposition might be responsible for changes in soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux and total belowground C allocation (TBCA) (Smith et al. *in preparation*). I found that both soil respiration and TBCA were positively associated with increases in BD tree abundance, suggesting that species differences in leaf habit and litter quality translated into higher rates of soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux (and lower soil C accumulation) for sites where BD species were more prevalent.

In the current study, my objectives were to estimate aboveground growth of red spruce trees and to examine whether tree growth was positively correlated with differences in N status among the seven study sites. To test this hypothesis, I used a biometric approach to estimate aboveground growth over two years from repeated measures of basal area increment and litter production at each location. I also examined net photosynthesis and autotrophic respiration of leaves and stems at each site to determine whether red spruce growth responses could be explained by either enhanced C uptake through photosynthesis or increased respiratory C costs for the construction and maintenance of leaf and wood biomass. I then tested these response variables against a range of site level environmental predictors (including N status, N deposition, climate, and stand age) to evaluate which factors were most strongly related to observed growth responses. Although previous work in these stands revealed little evidence that historical N deposition was responsible for current patterns of N availability and soil C flux, I included this parameter in my models to evaluate whether the long-term effects of deposition were more evident in aboveground tree growth responses than in soil processes.

94

#### 4.3. Methods.

#### Study site details

High-elevation study sites (n = 7, 100-m diameter) containing red spruce as a major, canopydominant species were established in June 2011. These locations were originally selected based on their position along a transect of historically high rates of atmospheric N deposition for the region. At its peak in 1985, wet deposition of atmospheric N (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> + NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) was 4x greater at the northernmost stand of the transect (McGowan Mountain) than the southernmost stand (Little Spruce Bog), with estimates ranging from 8.1 to 2.0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> (North to South). Since the Clean Air Act, however, the concentration of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in rainwater has declined by 39-51% along this transect, while NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> rainwater concentrations have remained relatively constant (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2016). Because of these steep declines in rainwater concentrations of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, the gradient of wet deposition has been diminished, with recent estimates of N deposition that range between 6.6 and 3.5 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> (North to South).

I used a robust spatial model of atmospheric N deposition for the study region to estimate annual N deposition rates for each field site (National Atmospheric Deposition Program 2014). Using the range of data that was available, I obtained estimates of cumulative wet-only N inputs that ranged from 117.5 to 206.9 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for the period 1985 to 2012. After accounting for the influence of dry deposition ( $HNO_3 + NO_3^- + NH_4^+$ ), I calculated cumulative total deposition loading for the same time period, with estimates that ranged from 326.1 to 399.6 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Smith et al. 2016).

All of my red spruce study sites are located at high elevations above 900 m in the Central Appalachian Mountains, with each site having a SW aspect and slopes between 0 and 10%. These sites are representative of second growth forests, with red spruce and eastern hemlock (*Tsuga canadensis*) as the commonly-occurring needleleaf evergreen species; the most common broadleaf deciduous (BD) associates at my sites were yellow birch (*Betula alleghaniensis* var. *alleganiensis*), red maple (*Acer rubrum*), and black cherry (*Prunus serotina* var. *serotina*).

Given the lack of long-term climate monitoring at my field sites, I used a spatially-interpolated climate model to estimate 30-year averages (1981-2010) of annual and growing season (May through September) temperature and precipitation (PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University). Across the study region, mean annual temperatures range from 6.3 to 8.4°C while annual precipitation ranges from 1238 to 1591 mm. Additional details of estimated N deposition, community composition, climate, and soil type for these red spruce stands are described in Smith et al (2016).

#### Red spruce aboveground production

In June 2011, I installed stainless steel dendrometer bands at 1.4 m above ground level on sixteen randomly selected red spruce trees at each study site to estimate annual rates of red spruce aboveground production (Keeland and Sharitz 1993). I recorded circumference measurements for each tree at the end of the growing season (September) and again the following June to estimate tree growth over the entire year (e.g June 2011 to June 2012). These measurements were then repeated until June 2013 to determine growth over a two-year interval. I calculated tree size on the basis of basal area (BA; cm<sup>2</sup>) and estimated tree growth as average basal area increment (BAI; cm<sup>2</sup> tree<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) over the two-year time interval using:

$$BAI = \pi (R_t^2 - R_{t-n}^2) \tag{1}$$

where *R* is the tree radius at a given time *t*, and *n* is the time interval of interest.

I also expressed annual tree growth measurements in terms of aboveground biomass C increment (*BCI*) on a per tree basis, which I estimated as the annual change in aboveground biomass C (kg C tree<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>). Total aboveground biomass for a given time point was calculated by applying dendrometer estimates of tree diameter to published allometric equations for aboveground red spruce biomass (Whittaker et al. 1974; Siccama et al. 1994), using the assumption that the C content of aboveground biomass was 50%.

In addition to the development of new wood biomass, aboveground net primary productivity (*ANPP*) also includes the loss of C via canopy litterfall. To account for this important

component of ANPP, I also measured the contribution of red spruce fine litterfall (leaves plus woody tissue < 1 cm in diameter) to total litterfall of all overstory trees for each study site. In June 2011, I deployed eight litter traps ( $0.42 \text{ m}^2$  ground area) at each forest location and periodically collected all fine litterfall over a two-year time interval. Litter samples were returned to the laboratory where they were hand-sorted into foliage and woody debris (twigs, branches, bark, and reproductive tissue). To examine litterfall production of red spruce trees only, I separated red spruce litter from the larger sample. These samples were then dried at 65°C for a minimum of 48 h and weighed to determine dry biomass expressed on a ground area basis (kg m<sup>-2</sup>).

After pooling red spruce litter samples of each type (foliage and wood) for every site, I took a small finely ground subsample to analyze for total C content using a NC 2500 elemental analyzer (Carlo Erba, Milan, Italy). The C concentration of both foliage and woody tissue was found to be approximately 50% across all sites and this value was used to convert all biomass estimates to a C basis. I estimated annual litterfall C (*LFC*) on a per tree basis by dividing the contribution of litterfall from red spruce trees only (kg C m<sup>-2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) by site-level estimates of red spruce tree density (trees ha<sup>-1</sup>). In doing so, I was able to estimate total aboveground tree growth (biomass C increment plus litterfall C) per red spruce tree at each site. Although this is not a true measure of *ANPP*, it nevertheless allows us to estimate the productivity of only red spruce trees in sites that vary in tree species composition. I hereafter refer to this estimate of total aboveground growth of red spruce trees as *ABG*.

### Ecophysiological measurements

## Foliar gas exchange

I randomly selected three canopy-dominant red spruce trees from each study site to measure light-saturated photosynthesis ( $A_{net}$ ) and foliar dark respiration ( $R_{dark}$ ) in July and August 2012. From each tree, I collected two small branch samples from the upper canopy using a shotgun (n = 6 foliage samples per site per measurement period;  $n_{tot} = 12$  foliar gas exchange samples per site). After harvests, sample stems were immediately inserted into a water pick to facilitate normal stomatal function during measurements of foliar gas exchange. Net photosynthesis was measured using an open-flow infrared gas analyzer (LI-6400XT, Li-Cor, Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA) after equilibration for 5-10 minutes at a  $CO_2$  concentration of 380 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup>. Leaf temperature was maintained at 25°C and relative humidity was maintained at approximately 50-60% by controlling airflow through a Li-COR Drierite scrub. Light levels were 1500 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> net photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD), which was predetermined to be saturating light for photosynthesis.

Foliar dark respiration ( $R_{dark}$ ; µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) was measured between 2200 and 0300 h on the same foliage samples used for photosynthesis measurements. Needles were enclosed in the LI-6400XT sample chamber and were allowed to acclimate to the chamber environment for 5-10 minutes. Instantaneous rates of  $R_{dark}$  were logged every 20 seconds for 5 minutes, with chamber conditions kept constant at 400 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> CO<sub>2</sub> and at 20°C, in the dark. I estimated  $R_{dark}$  for each sample as the average of instantaneous measurements collected over the 5-minute interval and standardized to 25°C using the equation:

$$R_{25} = R_{dark} Q_{10}^{(25-T)/10} \tag{2}$$

where  $R_{25}$  is the estimated rate of foliar dark respiration at 25°C,  $R_{dark}$  is the observed rate of dark respiration at leaf temperature *T*, and  $Q_{10}$  of 2 and is the parameter that describes the temperature sensitivity of respiration.

Following measurements of dark respiration, needles contained within the leaf cuvette were removed from the stem and returned to lab to determine total projected leaf area of fresh biomass (ImageJ, v. 1.33u; National Institute of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA). Foliar samples were then placed in a drying oven at 65°C for 48 hrs to determine dry biomass, and leaf mass to area ratio (LMA). Foliar gas exchange measurements were expressed in units of projected needle area ( $\mu$ mol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and needle biomass ( $\mu$ mol CO<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>).

#### *Wood CO*<sup>2</sup> *efflux*

I measured wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux ( $R_{wood}$ ) on eight randomly selected canopy-dominant red spruce trees at each study site over the course of three separate field campaigns in June, September, and October 2012 ( $n = 8 \mod CO_2$  efflux samples per site per campaign;  $n_{tot} = 24 \mod CO_2$  efflux
samples per site). All measurements were conducted at night between 2200 and 0400 hr in order to limit CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes from any potential bark photosynthesis (– flux) and from the diffusion of xylem-transported CO<sub>2</sub> (+ flux; Cernusak and Marshall 2000; McGuire and Teskey 2004; Bowman et al. 2005; Teskey et al. 2008). I modified the horizontally-oriented soil chamber technique (Xu et al. 2000) to measure  $R_{wood}$  using a LI-8100 Automated Soil CO<sub>2</sub> Flux System (with LI-8100-102 chamber, Li-Cor Inc., Lincoln, NE, USA). Each tree was fitted with a PVC collar (4 cm height, 10 cm open diameter) at breast height (1.3 m) and fastened using gas-tight putty to prevent air leaks. During sampling, the LI-8100-102 survey chamber was attached to the PVC collar and automatically opened and closed to achieve ambient CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations.  $R_{wood}$  for each tree was estimated as the average rate of stem CO<sub>2</sub> flux recorded over a 90 second interval. Stem temperature was measured simultaneously with  $R_{wood}$  by inserting a temperature probe approximately 1 cm past the cambium (3 cm total depth).

I expressed  $R_{wood}$  on the basis of stem surface area and wood biomass. Stem surface area enclosed by the chamber was estimated using the equation:

$$S = \frac{\pi^2}{720} D_c D_t \arcsin\left(\frac{D_c}{D_t}\right)$$
(3)

where *S* is the surface area of the stem enclosed by the chamber,  $D_c$  is the diameter of the chamber, and  $D_t$  is the diameter of the tree at chamber placement. To approximate wood volume sampled by the survey chamber, I multiplied the volume of the underlying wood cylinder (height equal to chamber height and radius equal to  $\frac{1}{2} DBH$ ) by the ratio of the stem surface area enclosed by the chamber (*S*) to the total surface area of the wood cylinder. Wood volume was then converted to biomass using the density of red spruce wood (Whittaker et al. 1974). I expressed  $R_{wood}$  as the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> efflux per unit stem surface area (µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) or per unit wood biomass (µmol CO<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) after standardization to 25°C using a Q<sub>10</sub> of 2.

#### Statistical analysis

I used one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey-Kramer HSD tests to examine sitelevel differences in mean red spruce *BAI* and *BCI* (averaged over the two-year study interval), as well as mean estimates of foliar and wood gas exchange (standardized to 25°C). To test whether red spruce growth was associated with site-level differences in N status, I performed a series of bivariate regressions with red spruce *BAI*, *BCI*, litterfall, and *ABG* as response variables and multiple indices of N status (see Smith et al. 2016 for full details) as predictor variables. I also tested whether red spruce growth was related to additional environmental parameters by regressing my estimates of *BAI* and *ABG* against cumulative atmospheric N deposition for the period 1985-2012 (wet and total deposition), mean temperature (annual and growing season May - September) and precipitation (annual and growing season) (PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University), stand age, and the relative importance of BD tree species (hereafter referred to as BD RIV) (Smith et al. 2016).

To examine whether red spruce growth differences could be explained by the variation in aboveground gas exchange estimates, I performed similar analyses by regressing red spruce *BAI* and *ABG* against mean estimates of  $A_{net}$ ,  $R_{dark}$ , and  $R_{wood}$ . Finally, I used linear regression to determine whether red spruce carbon balance varied independently from growth based on site-level differences in N status, N deposition, and climate. All analyses were performed using SAS-JMP 10.0 software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, USA).

## 4.4. Results.

## *Red spruce growth*

Mean *BAI* and *BCI* were not significantly different between the two years of study (p = 0.45); as such, all data related to red spruce growth have been averaged across the two-year interval. I found differences in mean red spruce *BAI* and *BCI* across the seven study sites (p < 0.0001; Figure 4.1), with average *BAI* ranging from 7.6 (Gaudineer Knob) to 25.2 cm<sup>2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> (Little Spruce Bog). Expressed in units of biomass C, the average annual *BCI* of red spruce trees ranged between 1.5 (Gaudineer Knob) and 5.4 kg C y<sup>-1</sup> (Little Spruce Bog). Contrary to my initial hypothesis, the variation in red spruce tree growth could not be explained by differences in M status among sites (Table 4.1). Red spruce *BAI* was weakly associated with differences in mean growing season temperature (p = 0.048) and mean annual temperature (p = 0.061). Additionally, I observed a slight trend, whereby red spruce *BAI* was negatively associated with modelled estimates of cumulative inorganic N in wet deposition (p = 0.099); however, this was largely

driven by only one site (Little Spruce Bog) that had the lowest rates of N deposition and highest growth. Therefore, I treat this relationship as being controlled by one outlier point as opposed to a meaningful trend. I found strong support that *ABG* (expressed on a per red spruce tree basis) was positively correlated with differences in temperature (annual and growing season) and stand age across sites (Table 4.1; Figure 4.2). Although site-level differences in N status indices could not explain the variation in *ABG*, I did observe a weakly positive correlation between *ABG* and BD RIV (p = 0.06), which was previously found to be associated with higher soil N availability (Smith et al. 2016).

#### Foliar gas exchange

I observed significant differences in mean  $A_{net}$  (expressed in units of leaf biomass at 25°C) between sites that ranged from 7.4 to 15.9 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> (p = 0.04; Figure 4.3). Foliar  $R_{dark}$ ranged between 1.7 and 3.1 µmol CO<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> but was not significantly different across the seven study sites (p = 0.07; Figure 4.3). I found that canopy-related differences in *LMA* could explain 19% of the observed variation in  $R_{dark}$ , but not  $A_{net}$  (Figure 4.4).

I found little evidence that the differences in mean  $A_{net}$  and  $R_{dark}$  were related to N status (Table 4.1); however, there was a trend where  $A_{net}$  was lower for sites with high soil organic C:N (p = 0.07) and low BD RIV (p = 0.03). I also used average rates of  $A_{net}$  and  $R_{dark}$  to examine whether the balance between daytime net foliar C uptake and C efflux at night (expressed as the ratio of  $R_{dark} / A_{net}$ ) was related to any of the environmental factors that I included in my model analysis. My results showed no significant relationships between N status and  $R_{dark} / A_{net}$  (Table 4.1). Mean  $A_{net}$  was strongly associated with differences in temperature (annual and growing season) among sites (p = 0.01-0.03); whereas, none of the environmental predictors could explain the variation in mean  $R_{dark}$ . Given the strong positive correlation between mean annual temperature and  $A_{net}$  coupled with the lack of variation in  $R_{dark}$ , I observed a slight negative trend relating the  $R_{dark} / A_{net}$  ratio to differences in annual temperature (p = 0.04) and growing season temperatures (p = 0.05).

## Wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux

Mean stem CO<sub>2</sub> efflux per unit wood biomass at 25°C ranged from 0.12 to 0.15  $\mu$ mol CO<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> and did not significantly differ across sites (p = 0.35; Figure 4.3). I observed consistent evidence that stem CO<sub>2</sub> efflux per unit biomass was negatively associated with most (but not all) indices of site N status, particularly the  $\delta^{15}$ N content of red spruce needles (p = 0.007; Table 4.1). When expressed on a per stem surface area basis, however, none of these relationships were present.

#### Relationships between red spruce growth and carbon balance

Red spruce growth differences were most consistently explained by site-level differences in mean  $A_{net}$  (Table 4.2).  $A_{net}$  expressed on a leaf biomass basis explained approximately 52% of the increases in both red spruce *BAI* and *BCI* (both p = 0.07). When  $A_{net}$  was expressed on a leaf area basis, mean  $A_{net}$  explained up to 63% of the variability in *BAI* and *BCI* (p = 0.03). I found a strong positive relationship between  $A_{net}$  and *ABG*, with  $A_{net}$  (area- and biomass-based) predicting up to 76% of the variability in aboveground production (p = 0.01; Figure 4.5a).

None of the red spruce growth parameters were associated with the variation in mean foliar  $R_{dark}$  (p > 0.34; Figure 4.5b); however, I observed a negative trend relating *ABG* to the  $R_{dark} / A_{net}$  ratio (p = 0.06; Figure 4.5c). Similarly, there was not a significant relationship between red spruce growth and mean rates of stem CO<sub>2</sub> efflux ( $R_{wood}$ ) expressed in units of wood biomass (p > 0.95). However, when expressed per unit stem surface area,  $R_{wood}$  was positively associated with site-level variation in red spruce *BAI* and *BCI* (p = 0.01) but not *ABG* (p = 0.17).

# 4.5. Discussion.

Despite a strong N availability gradient across the seven red spruce locations (Smith et al. 2016), the hypotheses that site N status would be an important driver of red spruce aboveground growth and C sequestration was not supported in this study of red spruce tree growth conducted over two years. Given the site-level variation in both N availability and historical N deposition, I found it surprising that red spruce growth varied independently of the N cycling history of these forest sites, since many studies across diverse ecosystems have shown a clear linkage between plant

productivity and N status (Pastor et al. 1984; Newman et al. 2006; Hyvönen et al. 2008; LeBauer and Treseder 2008). On the other hand, tree growth responses to enhanced N availability are species-specific (Boggs et al. 2005; Bedison and McNeil 2009; Thomas et al. 2010) and a long-term forest fertilization study has shown that the growth of sugar maple, but not red spruce, was stimulated with N additions (Elvir et al. 2003). Here, I found that that the observed differences in red spruce growth were more strongly related to site-level differences in mean annual temperature (Figure 4.2a), as well as the variation in stand age from 68 to 157 years (Figure 4.2b), than to N availability gradient across the seven forest locations.

The variation in red spruce growth and its underlying physiological processes were more associated with local differences in climate rather than N status, where higher mean annual temperatures appeared to be optimal for aboveground growth (Figure 4.2), and is consistent with our current understanding of climatic controls on forest productivity. For my sites, approximately 53% of the variation in red spruce *BCI* was explained by mean annual temperature (Table 4.1). I also found that the strength of this relationship was improved once I accounted for C losses through aboveground litterfall, with mean annual temperature explaining 92% of the variation in ABG (Figure 4.2). These results support field studies conducted along latitudinal and elevation gradients that have shown that forest ANPP is strongly correlated with differences in mean annual temperature (Raich et al. 1997; Curtis et al. 2002). Likewise, a meta-analysis of the environmental controls of productivity in boreal forests showed that ANPP increased linearly with mean annual temperature across a broad range of boreal forest types (Gower et al. 2001). A number of dendroecological studies have also examined the sensitivity of red spruce growth to interannual climate variation, where favorable springtime conditions during the early growing season were correlated with maximum latewood density (i.e. an indicator increased cambial activity) (Conkey 1986), while unfavorable conditions (e.g. above-average August and belowaverage December temperatures) during the year prior to ring formation were associated with synchronous red spruce growth declines across much of the northeastern United States (Johnson et al. 1988; Cook and Johnson 1989). This negative association with prior-year climate was especially evident during the mid 1960s through the mid 1980s, a period in which high rates of acidic deposition likely weakened red spruce trees to extreme climate stress (DeHayes et al. 1999). Thus at regional and global scales, temperature is often found to be among the important

factors influencing tree growth and forest productivity, especially in high-elevation needleleaf evergreen ecosystems (Churkina and Running 1998).

The widespread association between temperature and forest productivity may be partially attributed to the temperature dependence of both foliar net photosynthesis and dark respiration, since the greatest red spruce growth responses were associated with a low  $R_{dark} / A_{net}$  ratio (p = 0.06; Figure 4.5c). In this study, net photosynthesis of red spruce trees measured at a standard temperature of 25°C was positively correlated with differences in mean annual temperature at my study sites (Table 4.1), suggesting that the photosynthetic temperature response of red spruce was locally-adapted to the temperature regime of their native habitat, as has been found in many plants (Berry and Björkman 1980). In contrast, there was little variation in foliar dark respiration across the seven study sites (p = 0.07; Figure 4.3) and, as a result, there was a trend where the  $R_{dark} / A_{net}$  ratio was negatively related to site-level differences in temperature (p < 0.07). Based on these data, I hypothesize that unlike net photosynthesis, foliar dark respiration was less thermally acclimated to the local climate at each stand. In addition, the negative relationship between red spruce *ABG* and foliar  $R_{dark} / A_{net}$  ratio suggests that tree growth was lower in locations where photosynthetic C gains were more significantly offset by C losses through foliar respiration.

In comparison to my results for foliar C gas exchange, I observed more within-site variation in wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux than the variation between sites (p = 0.35; Figure 4.3). In addition, the hypothesis that red spruce tree growth differences could be explained by differences in wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux was only partially supported. When expressed on the basis of stem surface area, wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux was positively correlated with red spruce *BAI* and *BCI*, but not *ABG* (Table 4.2); however, when expressed in units of wood biomass, none of these relationships were present. This was likely due to the fact that wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux sampled on the stem surface of a large tree will have proportionally greater underlying sapwood volume compared to a similar measurement made on a smaller tree. As a result, we would expect that as the volume of wood biomass increases, it will incur greater respiratory costs through the construction and maintenance of woody tissue (Levy and Jarvis 1998; Asao et al. 2015); whereas, wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux per unit wood biomass appears to be somewhat conserved. My results are generally in

agreement with other studies that show a positive relationship between tree growth and wood  $CO_2$  efflux per unit surface area (Ryan et al. 1994; Zha et al. 2004).

The results of this study have broad implications for predicting red spruce responses to future environmental change. Given their historical sensitivity to climate stress (Hamburg and Cogbill 1988), the high-elevation red spruce forests of Central Appalachian Mountains have been predicted to diminish in land area due to pressures from anthropogenic climate change (Prasad et al. 2007; Iverson et al. 2008; Byers et al. 2010). However, my study showed that red spruce production was positively related to site-level differences in temperature, suggesting that red spruce may be suited to a relatively broad range of thermal environments. On the other hand, climate change is also likely to promote the encroachment of BD trees into these high-elevation habitats (Davis and Shaw 2001). I expect that shifts in species composition will also be accompanied by increased N availability and soil C release via enhanced litter decomposition, as evidenced in previous work at these stands. Since red spruce growth appeared to vary independently of N status, it may simply be a "passive observer" to changes in N availability and could be outcompeted by its faster-growing, nitrophillic counterparts. Thus, the positive relationships between red spruce growth and temperature observed in this study should be interpreted with caution, since most climate change scenarios appear to favor the growth of BD species over needleleaf evergreens like red spruce (Hansen et al. 2001; Iverson and Prasad 2001; Aitken et al. 2008).

# Conclusions

This study examined two years of red spruce tree growth in seven forest locations that differ in N status. I found that growth responses were more strongly associated with the local temperature regime particular site and stand age than to soil N availability. I also observed evidence that these growth patterns could be partially explained by the relative balance of C uptake via foliar net photosynthesis and C losses via autotrophic respiration. This could suggest that for these sites, red spruce growth was more temperature-dependent than N-limited, and supports the view that climate is an important driving force for differences in tree growth across broad spatial gradients. This study provides important baseline data that can be re-examined in future studies to further test hypotheses about the effects of N availability on the productivity of red spruce

forests, as well as the effects of continuing changes in environmental factors, such as air pollution and climate.

# 4.6. Tables and Figures.

**Table 4.1.** Coefficients of determination ( $R^2$ ) for linear regressions of red spruce growth (expressed on a per red spruce tree basis and averaged over a two-year interval, 2011-2013) and gas exchange (expressed in units of biomass and standardized to 25°C) versus site-level predictor variables. *BAI*, basal area increment; *BCI*, biomass C increment; *ABG*, total aboveground growth;  $A_{net}$ , light-saturating photosynthesis;  $R_{dark}$ , foliar dark respiration;  $R_{wood}$ , wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux. <sup>†</sup>, p < 0.1; \*, p < 0.05; \*\*, p < 0.01; \*\*\*, p < 0.0001.

	Red spruce growth		Red spruce gas exchange (at 25°C)				
Model	$\frac{BAI}{(cm^2 y^{-1})}$	BCI (kg C y <sup>-1</sup> )	ABG (kg C y <sup>-1</sup> )	$\frac{A_{\text{net}}}{(\mu \text{mol kg}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1})}$	$\frac{R_{\text{dark}}}{(\mu \text{mol kg}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1})}$	R <sub>dark</sub> / A <sub>net</sub>	$\frac{R_{\text{wood}}}{(\mu \text{mol kg}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1})}$
N status indices							
Net nitrification	0.08	0.10	0.02	0.10	0.16	0.01	$0.56^{\dagger}$
Net N mineralization	0.08	0.10	0.10	0.16	0.06	0.03	0.71*
Resin – Total N	0.04	0.06	0.16	0.38	0.01	0.23	$0.53^{\dagger}$
$\text{Resin} - \text{NH}_4^+$	0.03	0.04	0.14	0.25	0.01	0.10	0.74*
$\text{Resin} - \text{NO}_3$	0.04	0.06	0.16	0.41	0.01	0.27	$0.45^{+}$
Foliar $\delta^{15}N$	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.06	0.04	0.02	0.79**
Organic soil $\delta^{15}N$	0.02	0.02	0.27	0.29	0.01	0.24	$0.54^{\dagger}$
Mineral soil $\delta^{15}N$	0.07	0.08	0.17	0.17	0.01	0.15	0.44
Organic soil C:N	0.17	0.19	0.42	$0.53^{\dagger}$	0.01	0.34	$0.57^{\dagger}$
Mineral soil C:N	0.09	0.10	0.23	0.29	0.01	0.23	$0.54^{+}$
Environmental factors							
Cumulative N Deposition (wet only)	$0.45^{\dagger}$	0.42	0.37	0.08	0.01	0.09	0.05
Cumulative N Deposition (wet $+ dry$ )	0.35	0.34	0.25	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.01
Mean Annual Temperature	$0.54^{\dagger}$	0.53 <sup>†</sup>	0.92***	0.63*	0.03	$0.56^{+}$	0.02
Mean Growing Season Temperature	0.58*	0.57*	0.95***	0.75*	0.02	0.61*	0.06
Annual Precipitation	0.01	0.01	0.15	0.01	0.20	0.07	0.16
Growing Season Precipitation	0.05	0.04	0.19	0.01	0.07	0.07	0.17
Stand Age	0.27	0.29	0.58*	0.33	0.01	0.11	$0.55^{\dagger}$
BD Relative Importance	0.20	0.22	$0.53^{\dagger}$	0.66*	0.01	$0.50^{+}$	0.28

**Table 4.2.** Coefficients of determination ( $R^2$ ) for linear regressions of red spruce gas exchange (expressed on the basis of either surface area or biomass) and red spruce growth parameters. *BAI*, basal area increment; *BCI*, biomass C increment; *ABG*, total aboveground growth;  $A_{\text{net}}$ , light-saturating photosynthesis;  $R_{\text{dark}}$ , foliar dark respiration;  $R_{\text{wood}}$ , wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux. <sup>†</sup>, p < 0.1; \*, p < 0.05; \*\*, p < 0.01.

Model	$\frac{BAI}{(cm^2 y^{-1})}$	BCI (kg C y <sup>-1</sup> )	ABG (kg C y <sup>-1</sup> )
Red spruce gas exchange			
$A_{\text{net}}$ (area, $\mu \text{mol m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$ )	$0.62* \\ 0.52^{\dagger}$	$0.63^{*}$	0.76*
$A_{\text{net}}$ (mass, $\mu \text{mol kg}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ )		$0.52^{\dagger}$	0.75*
$R_{\text{dark}}$ (area, $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	0.15	0.18	0.01
$R_{\text{dark}}$ (mass, $\mu$ mol kg <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	0.10	0.12	0.02
$R_{ m dark}$ / $A_{ m net}$ (area)	0.14	0.12	$0.45^{\dagger} \\ 0.54^{\dagger}$
$R_{ m dark}$ / $A_{ m net}$ (mass)	0.20	0.18	
$R_{\text{wood}}$ (area, $\mu$ mol m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	0.76*	0.77**	0.34
$R_{\text{wood}}$ (mass, $\mu$ mol kg <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	0.01	0.01	0.07

**Figure 4.1.** Box plot of red spruce basal area increment (*BAI*, cm<sup>2</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) averaged across the twoyear study period (June 2011 through June 2013). Solid squares show the mean of n = 16 trees at each study site, and sites that are connected by different letters had significantly different mean *BAI* values (Tukey-Kramer HSD). Circles represent outliers.



**Figure 4.2.** Linear regressions of red spruce total aboveground growth per unit tree (*ABG*; kg C y<sup>-1</sup>) versus site-level differences in (a) mean annual temperature (°C) and (b) stand age (y). In a bivariate regression of mean annual temperature and stand age, we found a slight positive trend between these two variables, but no significant relationship was identified (p = 0.099,  $R^2$  = 0.45; *data not shown*). \*, p < 0.05; \*\*, p < 0.01; \*\*\*, p < 0.0001.



**Figure 4.3.** Box plots of red spruce gas exchange data expressed on the basis of biomass and standardized to 25°C ( $\mu$ mol kg<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). Solid squares represent mean values for each study site, and sites that are connected by different letters had significantly different mean gas exchange values (Tukey-Kramer HSD). Circles represent outliers.  $A_{net}$ , light-saturating photosynthesis;  $R_{dark}$ , foliar dark respiration;  $R_{wood}$ , wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux.



**Figure 4.4.** Relationships between leaf mass per area (*LMA*, g m<sup>-2</sup>) and (a) light-saturating photosynthesis ( $A_{\text{net}}$ , µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and (b) foliar dark respiration ( $R_{\text{dark}}$ , µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). Points represent individual measurements of foliar gas exchange collected during the 2012 growing season. \*\*\*, p < 0.0001.



**Figure 4.5.** Linear regression of red spruce total aboveground growth (*ABG*; kg C y<sup>-1</sup>) versus site-level differences in (a) light-saturating photosynthesis ( $A_{net}$ ), (b) foliar dark respiration ( $R_{dark}$ ), and (c) the ratio of dark respiration to net photosynthesis ( $R_{dark} / A_{net}$ ). All gas exchange data standardized to 25°C and expressed on the basis of biomass (µmol CO<sub>2</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). <sup>†</sup>, p < 0.1; \*, p < 0.05.



# 4.7. Literature Cited.

- Aber, J., W. McDowell, K. Nadelhoffer, A. Magill, G. Berntson, M. Kamakea, S. McNulty, W. Currie, L. Rustad, and I. Fernandez. 1998. Nitrogen saturation in temperate forest ecosystems. BioScience 48:921–934.
- Aber, J. D., C. L. Goodale, S. V. Ollinger, M.-L. Smith, A. H. Magill, M. E. Martin, R. A. Hallett, and J. L. Stoddard. 2003. Is nitrogen deposition altering the nitrogen status of northeastern forests. BioScience 53:375–389.
- Aber, J. D., K. J. Nadelhoffer, P. Steudler, and J. M. Melillo. 1989. Nitrogen saturation in northern forest ecosystems. BioScience 39:378–386.
- Adams, M. B., C. Cogbill, E. R. Cook, D. H. DeHayes, I. J. Fernandez, K. F. Jensen, A.H. Johnson, D. W. Johnson, R. J. Kohut, S. B. McLaughlin, and M. M. Miller-Weeks. 2012. Ecology and decline of red spruce in the eastern United States. Vol. 96. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Ågren, G. I. 1983. Nitrogen productivity of some conifers. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 13:494–500.
- Aitken, S. N., S. Yeaman, J. A. Holliday, T. Wang, and S. Curtis McLane. 2008. Adaptation, migration or extirpation: climate change outcomes for tree populations. Evolutionary Applications 1:95–111.
- Asao, S., R. Bedoya-Arrieta, and M. G. Ryan. 2015. Variation in foliar respiration and wood CO<sub>2</sub> efflux rates among species and canopy layers in a wet tropical forest. Tree Physiology 35:148–159.
- Bedison, J. E., and B. E. McNeil. 2009. Is the growth of temperate forest trees enhanced along an ambient nitrogen deposition gradient? Ecology 90:1736–1742.
- Berry, J., and O. Björkman. 1980. Photosynthetic response and adaptation to temperature in higher plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology 31:491–543.
- Boggs, J. L., S. G. McNulty, M. J. Gavazzi, and J. M. Myers. 2005. Tree growth, foliar chemistry, and nitrogen cycling across a nitrogen deposition gradient in southern Appalachian deciduous forests. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 35:1901–1913.
- Bonan, G. B. 1990. Carbon and nitrogen cycling in North American boreal forests. Biogeochemistry 10:1–28.
- Bowman, W. P., M. M. Barbour, M. H. Turnbull, D. T. Tissue, D. Whitehead, and K. L. Griffin. 2005. Sap flow rates and sapwood density are critical factors in within and between tree variation in CO<sub>2</sub> efflux from stems of mature Dacrydium cupressinum trees. New Phytologist 167:815–828.

- Byers, E. A., J. P. Vanderhorst, and B. P. Streets. 2010. Classification and Conservation Assessment of Upland Red Spruce Communities in West Virginia.
- Cernusak, L. A., and J. D. Marshall. 2000. Photosynthetic refixation in branches of Western White Pine. Functional Ecology 14:300–311.
- Churkina, G., and S. W. Running. 1998. Contrasting climatic controls on the estimated productivity of global terrestrial biomes. Ecosystems 1:206–215.
- Conkey, L. E. 1986. Red spruce tree-ring widths and densities in eastern North America as indicators of past climate. Quaternary Research 26:232–243.
- Cook, E. R., and A. H. Johnson. 1989. Climate change and forest decline: a review of the red spruce case. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 48:127–140.
- Curtis, P. S., P. J. Hanson, P. Bolstad, C. Barford, J. C. Randolph, H. P. Schmid, and K. B. Wilson. 2002. Biometric and eddy-covariance based estimates of annual carbon storage in five eastern North American deciduous forests. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 113:3–19.
- Davis, M. B., and R. G. Shaw. 2001. Range shifts and adaptive responses to Quaternary climate change. Science 292:673–679.
- DeHayes, D. H., P. G. Schaberg, G. J. Hawley, and G. R. Strimbeck. 1999. Acid rain impacts on calcium nutrition and forest health alteration of membrane-associated calcium leads to membrane destabilization and foliar injury in red spruce. BioScience 49:789–800.
- Driscoll, C. T., D. Whitall, J. Aber, E. Boyer, M. Castro, C. Cronan, C. L. Goodale, P. Groffman, C. Hopkinson, and K. Lambert. 2003. Nitrogen pollution in the northeastern United States: sources, effects, and management options. BioScience 53:357–374.
- Elser, J. J., M. E. S. Bracken, E. E. Cleland, D. S. Gruner, W. S. Harpole, H. Hillebrand, J. T. Ngai, E. W. Seabloom, J. B. Shurin, and J. E. Smith. 2007. Global analysis of nitrogen and phosphorus limitation of primary producers in freshwater, marine and terrestrial ecosystems. Ecology Letters 10:1135–1142.
- Elvir, J. A., G. B. Wiersma, A. S. White, and I. J. Fernandez. 2003. Effects of chronic ammonium sulfate treatment on basal area increment in red spruce and sugar maple at the Bear Brook Watershed in Maine. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33:862–869.
- Emmett, B. A. 2007. Nitrogen saturation of terrestrial ecosystems: some recent findings and their implications for our conceptual framework. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution: Focus 7:99–109.

- Evans, J. R. 1989. Photosynthesis and nitrogen relationships in leaves of C3 plants. Oecologia 78:9–19.
- Falkowski, P., R. J. Scholes, E. E. A. Boyle, J. Canadell, D. Canfield, J. Elser, N. Gruber, K. Hibbard, P. Högberg, and S. Linder. 2000. The global carbon cycle: a test of our knowledge of earth as a system. Science 290:291–296.
- Fenn, M. E., M. A. Poth, J. D. Aber, J. S. Baron, B. T. Bormann, D. W. Johnson, A. D. Lemly, S. G. McNulty, D. F. Ryan, and R. Stottlemyer. 1998. Nitrogen excess in North American ecosystems: predisposing factors, ecosystem responses, and management strategies. Ecological Applications 8:706–733.
- Foster, J. R., and W. A. Reiners. 1983. Vegetation patterns in a virgin subalpine forest at Crawford Notch, White Mountains, New Hampshire. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 110:141–153.
- Friedlingstein, P., P. Cox, R. Betts, L. Bopp, W. Von Bloh, V. Brovkin, P. Cadule, S. Doney, M. Eby, and I. Fung. 2006. Climate-carbon cycle feedback analysis: Results from the C4MIP model intercomparison. Journal of Climate 19:3337–3353.
- Giardina, C. P., M. G. Ryan, D. Binkley, and J. H. Fownes. 2003. Primary production and carbon allocation in relation to nutrient supply in a tropical experimental forest. Global Change Biology 9:1438–1450.
- Gower, S. T., O. Krankina, R. J. Olson, M. Apps, S. Linder, and C. Wang. 2001. Net primary production and carbon allocation patterns of boreal forest ecosystems. Ecological Applications 11:1395–1411.
- Hamburg, S. P., and C. V. Cogbill. 1988. Historical decline of red spruce populations and climatic warming. Nature 331:428–431.
- Hansen, A. J., R. P. Neilson, V. H. Dale, C. H. Flather, L. R. Iverson, D. J. Currie, S. Shafer, R. Cook, and P. J. Bartlein. 2001. Global change in forests: responses of species, communities, and biomes interactions between climate change and land use are projected to cause large shifts in biodiversity. BioScience 51:765–779.
- Hurtt, G. C., S. W. Pacala, P. R. Moorcroft, J. Caspersen, E. Shevliakova, R. A. Houghton, and B. I. I. I. Moore. 2002. Projecting the future of the US carbon sink. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99:1389–1394.
- Hyvönen, R., T. Persson, S. Andersson, B. Olsson, G. I. Ågren, and S. Linder. 2008. Impact of long-term nitrogen addition on carbon stocks in trees and soils in northern Europe. Biogeochemistry 89:121–137.
- Iverson, L. R., and A. M. Prasad. 2001. Potential changes in tree species richness and forest community types following climate change. Ecosystems 4:186–199.

- Iverson, L. R., A. M. Prasad, S. N. Matthews, and M. Peters. 2008. Estimating potential habitat for 134 eastern US tree species under six climate scenarios. Forest Ecology and Management 254:390–406.
- Johnson, A. H., and S. B. McLaughlin. 1986. The nature and timing of the deterioration of red spruce in the northern Appalachian Mountains. Pages 200–230 *in* J. Gibson, editors. Acid deposition: Long-term trends. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C.
- Johnson, A. H., E. R. Cook, and T. G. Siccama. 1988. Climate and red spruce growth and decline in the northern Appalachians. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 85:5369–5373.
- Keeland, B. D., and R. R. Sharitz. 1993. Accuracy of tree growth measurements using dendrometer bands. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 23:2454–2457.
- Le Quéré, C., G. P. Peters, R. J. Andres, R. M. Andrew, T. Boden, P. Ciais, P. Friedlingstein, R. A. Houghton, G. Marland, and R. Moriarty. 2013. Global carbon budget 2013. Earth System Science Data Discussions 6:689–760.
- LeBauer, D. S., and K. K. Treseder. 2008. Nitrogen limitation of net primary productivity in terrestrial ecosystems is globally distributed. Ecology 89:371–379.
- Levy, P. E., and P. G. Jarvis. 1998. Stem CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes in two Sahelian shrub species (*Guiera* senegalensis and Combretum micranthum). Functional Ecology 12:107–116.
- Lovett, G. M., and C. L. Goodale. 2011. A new conceptual model of nitrogen saturation based on experimental nitrogen addition to an oak forest. Ecosystems 14:615–631.
- Magill, A. H., J. D. Aber, W. S. Currie, K. J. Nadelhoffer, M. E. Martin, W. H. McDowell, J. M. Melillo, and P. Steudler. 2004. Ecosystem response to 15 years of chronic nitrogen additions at the Harvard Forest LTER, Massachusetts, USA. Forest Ecology and Management 196:7–28.
- McGuire, M. A., and R. O. Teskey. 2004. Estimating stem respiration in trees by a mass balance approach that accounts for internal and external fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>. Tree Physiology 24:571–578.
- McNulty, S. G., J. D. Aber, and R. D. Boone. 1991. Spatial changes in forest floor and foliar chemistry of spruce-fir forests across New England. Biogeochemistry 14:13–29.
- McNulty, S. G., J. D. Aber, and S. D. Newman. 1996. Nitrogen saturation in a high elevation New England spruce-fir stand. Forest Ecology and Management 84:109–121.

- McNulty, S. G., J. Boggs, J. D. Aber, L. Rustad, and A. Magill. 2005. Red spruce ecosystem level changes following 14 years of chronic N fertilization. Forest Ecology and Management 219:279–291.
- Miller, H. G. 1981. Forest fertilization: some guiding concepts. Forestry 54:157–167.
- Mitchell, A. K., and T. M. Hinckley. 1993. Effects of foliar nitrogen concentration on photosynthesis and water use efficiency in Douglas-fir. Tree Physiology 12:403–410.
- Nabuurs, G. J., M. J. Schelhaas, and C. B. Field. 2003. Temporal evolution of the European forest sector carbon sink from 1950 to 1999. Global Change Biology 9:152–160.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., J. D. Aber, and J. M. Melillo. 1985. Fine roots, net primary production, and soil nitrogen availability: a new hypothesis. Ecology 66:1377–1390.
- Nadelhoffer, K. J., B. A. Emmett, P. Gundersen, O. J. Kjønaas, C. J. Koopmans, P. Schleppi, A. Tietema, and R. F. Wright. 1999. Nitrogen deposition makes a minor contribution to carbon sequestration in temperate forests. Nature 398:145–148.
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program. 2014. Total Deposition Maps. Version 2014.02. http://nadp.sws.uiuc.edu/committees/tdep/tdepmaps. Accessed 19 March 2015.
- National Atmospheric Deposition Program. 2016. NTN Data Access. NADP Program Office, Illinois State Water Survey, University of Illinois, Champaign, IL. http://nadp.isws.illinois.edu/data/ntn. Accessed 1 January 2016.
- Nave, L. E., C. S. Vogel, C. M. Gough, and P. S. Curtis. 2009. Contribution of atmospheric nitrogen deposition to net primary productivity in a northern hardwood forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 39:1108–1118.
- Newman, G. S., M. A. Arthur, and R. N. Muller. 2006. Above-and belowground net primary production in a temperate mixed deciduous forest. Ecosystems 9:317–329.
- Pan, Y., R. A. Birdsey, J. Fang, R. Houghton, P. E. Kauppi, W. A. Kurz, O. L. Phillips, A. Shvidenko, S. L. Lewis, and J. G. Canadell. 2011. A large and persistent carbon sink in the world's forests. Science 333:988–993.
- Pastor, J., J. D. Aber, C. A. McClaugherty, and J. M. Melillo. 1984. Aboveground production and N and P cycling along a nitrogen mineralization gradient on Blackhawk Island, Wisconsin. Ecology 65:256–268.
- Peterjohn, W. T., M. B. Adams, and F. S. Gilliam. 1996. Symptoms of nitrogen saturation in two Central Appalachian hardwood forest ecosystems. Biogeochemistry 35:507–522.
- PRISM Climate Group, Oregon State University. http://prism.oregonstate.edu. Accessed 17 April 2015.

- Prasad, A. M., L. R. Iverson, S. Matthews, and M. Peters. 2007. A Climate Change Atlas for 134 Forest Tree Species of the Eastern United States [Database]. Northern Research Station, USDA Forest Service, Delaware, OH.
- Raich, J. W., A. E. Russell, and P. M. Vitousek. 1997. Primary productivity and ecosystem development along an elevational gradient on Mauna Loa, Hawai'i. Ecology 78:707–721.
- Rollins, A. W., H. S. Adams, and S. L. Stephenson. 2010. Changes in forest composition and structure across the red spruce-hardwood ecotone in the Central Appalachians. Castanea 75:303–314.
- Ryan, M. G., R. M. Hubbard, D. A. Clark, and R. L. Sanford Jr. 1994. Woody-tissue respiration for *Simarouba amara* and *Minquartia guianensis*, two tropical wet forest trees with different growth habits. Oecologia 100:213–220.
- SAS Institute. 2003. SAS-JMP version 10.0. SAS Institute, Cary, North Carolina, USA.
- Schaberg, P. G., D. H. DeHayes, G. J. Hawley, P. F. Murakami, G. R. Strimbeck, and S. G. McNulty. 2002. Effects of chronic N fertilization on foliar membranes, cold tolerance, and carbon storage in montane red spruce. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 32:1351– 1359.
- Scott, J. T., T. G. Siccama, A. H. Johnson, and A. R. Breisch. 1984. Decline of red spruce in the Adirondacks, New York. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 111:438–444.
- Siccama, T. G., S. P. Hamburg, M. A. Arthur, R. D. Yanai, F. H. A. Bormann, and G. E. Likens. 1994. Corrections to allometric equations and plant tissue chemistry for Hubbard Brook Experimental Forest. Ecology 75:246–248.
- Siccama, T. G., M. Bliss, and H. W. Vogelmann. 1982. Decline of red spruce in the Green Mountains of Vermont. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club 162–168.
- Smith, K. R., J. M. Mathias, B. E. McNeil, W. T. Peterjohn, and R. B. Thomas. 2016. Site-level importance of broadleaf deciduous trees outweighs the legacy of high nitrogen (N) deposition on ecosystem N status of Central Appalachian red spruce forests. Plant and Soil 1–14.
- Teskey, R. O., A. Saveyn, K. Steppe, and M. A. McGuire. 2008. Origin, fate and significance of CO<sub>2</sub> in tree stems. New Phytologist 177:17–32.
- Thomas, R. Q., C. D. Canham, K. C. Weathers, and C. L. Goodale. 2010. Increased tree carbon storage in response to nitrogen deposition in the US. Nature Geoscience 3:13–17.

- US Environmental Protection Agency. 2015. National Emissions Inventory (NEI) Air Pollution Emissions. US Environmental Protection Agency, Chicago. http://www.epa.gov/ttn/chief/trends/index.html. Accessed 15 August 2015.
- Vitousek, P. M., and R. W. Howarth. 1991. Nitrogen limitation on land and in the sea: how can it occur. Biogeochemistry 13:87–115.
- Wallace, Z. P., G. M. Lovett, J. E. Hart, and B. Machona. 2007. Effects of nitrogen saturation on tree growth and death in a mixed-oak forest. Forest Ecology and Management 243:210–218.
- Whittaker, R. H., F. H. Bormann, G. E. Likens, and T. G. Siccama. 1974. The Hubbard Brook ecosystem study: forest biomass and production. Ecological Monographs 44:233–254.
- Xu, M., T. A. DeBiase, and Y. Qi. 2000. A simple technique to measure stem respiration using a horizontally oriented soil chamber. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30:1555–1560.
- Zha, T., S. Kellomäki, K.-Y. Wang, A. Ryyppö, and S. Niinistö. 2004. Seasonal and annual stem respiration of Scots pine trees under boreal conditions. Annals of Botany 94:889–896.

Chapter 5. General conclusions about the controls on N status and C balance in Central Appalachian red spruce forests.

In this project I examined the environmental controls on the N status and C balance of seven high-elevation red spruce forests that are located in a region where rates of atmospheric N deposition have historically been moderate to high. Given that red spruce ecosystems have been particularly sensitive to N deposition in the past, the overall aim of this research was to test whether these historically elevated rates of N deposition were having persistent effects on patterns of 1) N availability, 2) belowground C balance, and 3) tree growth.

In *Chapter 2*, I tested the hypothesis that patterns of N status at these sites were associated with the long-term effects of N deposition. I characterized the N status of these forests by measuring multiple indices of N availability (e.g. N transformation rates, resin ion-exchange, and foliar/soil  $\delta^{15}$ N and C:N) that integrate the N cycling history of a particular site over short- to long-term timescales (from seasons to decades). Next, I used a statistical model selection approach to evaluate which environmental factors were most strongly correlated with observed differences in N availability along the study gradient. The environmental predictor variables that were used in this model comparison included estimates of cumulative N deposition (wet-only and total) for the period 1985-2012, mean temperature and precipitation (annual and growing season) for the period 1981-2010, stand age, and the relative importance values (RIV) for all canopy broadleaf deciduous (BD) trees. Contrary to my initial hypothesis, I did not observe any evidence that the N status of these seven red spruce forests was correlated with historical estimates of N deposition. Instead, I found that the variation in N status was most consistently related to differences in the abundance of BD tree species at each site. For example, I found that BD RIV could explain more than 50% of the variation in N status indices that integrate over short- (e.g. ion-resin N supply), medium- (e.g.  $\delta^{15}$ N content of foliage and soil), and long-term timescales (e.g. soil C:N) (Figure 2.2). Overall, this evidence suggests that any potential legacy effects of historically high atmospheric N deposition on N status were overwhelmed by the influence of tree species composition and their associated litterfall characteristics.

In *Chapter 3* of this research project, I examined the variation in annual soil respiration and total belowground C allocation (TBCA) at these red spruce stands to determine whether these processes were associated with site-level differences in N cycling history. Our current understanding of how N influences belowground C balance suggests that both soil respiration

and TBCA will be inversely related to soil fertility; however, N deposition has also been shown to inhibit respiration and TBCA via altered plant biomass allocation and shifts in saprotrophic community structure and function. Given the finding that N status of these forests is primarily related to BD abundance rather than historically high atmospheric N inputs, I tested multiple alternative hypotheses: 1) that soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux and TBCA would be lowest at sites that have high N availability (and high BD abundance), 2) that these processes would instead be suppressed in sites that had previously received the highest rates of N deposition, or 3) that belowground C balance is more strongly driven by other environmental factors like climate or stand age. In 2011 and 2012 I took repeated measures of soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux and litterfall at each of the seven study sites and scaled these measurements to evaluate site-level variation in annual belowground C flux. Using a C mass balance approach, I estimated TBCA as the net sum of C release via soil respiration minus C inputs via litterfall. Similar to the results of *Chapter 2*, I found that the variation in soil respiration and TBCA over the two-year study interval was more strongly associated with differences in BD RIV ( $R^2 = 0.81$ ) than any other environmental factor, including N deposition ( $R^2 < 0.09$ ) (Figure 3.5). Contrary to my initial hypothesis, however, I found that soil respiration and TBCA were positively (not negatively) correlated with increasing N availability. This result was unexpected since plants tend to allocate a greater proportion of gross primary production (GPP) to belowground structures when resources (like N supply) are low. On the other hand, I did not account for GPP in these stands, so it remains an open question whether the ratio of TBCA/GPP was in fact negatively correlated with N status. Despite this limitation in my methodology, I found consistent evidence that differences in tree species affected not only N status but also belowground C cycling at these forest sites, suggesting that potential shifts in community composition may result in enhanced soil C efflux as well as increased C allocation belowground.

Finally, in *Chapter 4* I used a biometric-based approach to estimate annual rates of red spruce growth along the study transect, and examined whether these growth responses could be explained by differences in C balance of foliage and woody tissue. Since red spruce is among the more sensitive species to acid deposition, I hypothesized that the long-term impacts of N deposition may result in reduced aboveground growth by red spruce trees, despite the evidence that N deposition has declined over recent years. However, given the finding that BD tree

species had an overriding control on N availability and belowground C balance, I also examined whether these red spruce growth responses were instead linked to species composition, or whether another environmental factor (e.g. climate or stand age) had a more important role. In 2011 and 2012, I measured red spruce growth at each site by applying allometric relationships to dendrometer-based measurements of tree diameter. I also estimated the contribution of red spruce fine litterfall (leaves plus woody tissue < 1 cm in diameter) to total litterfall of all overstory trees by separating red spruce litter from the larger sample of canopy litter. These samples were then composited for each site, dried, and analyzed for C content in order to calculate red spruce aboveground growth (ABG), which is the annual sum of red spruce biomass increment plus litterfall C (kg C  $v^{-1}$ ). During this two-year study interval, I also took repeated measurements of net photosynthesis and dark respiration of red spruce foliage and stems to determine whether red spruce growth patterns could be explained by the C balance of aboveground biomass. In contrast with my initial hypotheses, I found that the observed variation red spruce ABG was positively correlated with differences in mean annual temperature ( $R^2 =$ 0.92) and stand age ( $R^2 = 0.58$ ) (Figure 4.2), but was unrelated to both N deposition and N status (Table 4.1). Moreover, we found a weak negative correlation between red spruce ABG and the ratio of foliar dark respiration to net photosynthesis ( $R^2 = 0.54$ ); whereas, ABG was not associated with differences in wood respiration (Table 4.2). Thus, these results suggest that red spruce growth in these forests is more strongly limited by cooler growth temperatures than by N status or N deposition.

In summary, I did not observe any evidence that N deposition has had cumulative, long-term effects on patterns of N availability, belowground C balance, and red spruce growth in these stands. Instead, I found that the variation in tree species composition had an overwhelming influence on soil N and C cycling, which was likely the result of differences in the quality and decomposability of aboveground litter. Since red spruce litter is of poor quality (i.e. high C:N) and is highly recalcitrant to decay, sites that were dominated by red spruce tended to have lower N availability and lower rates of soil C release. In contrast, sites that had a higher abundance of broadleaf deciduous tree species (e.g. yellow birch and red maple) tended to display characteristics of a more rapid nutrient economy, with higher rates of soil respiration (which partially reflects decomposer activity) and greater N availability. Although total belowground C

allocation was positively correlated with N status, aboveground red spruce growth varied primarily as a function of growth temperatures and stand age. Moreover, I found that red spruce growth was negatively associated with the relative balance of C uptake via foliar net photosynthesis and C losses via autotrophic respiration. These result suggests that red spruce growth depended more on favorable climatic conditions than species-related differences in soil fertility.

The results of this research project highlight the importance of tree species composition as a driving force for C and N cycling dynamics in temperate forest ecosystems. In addition, despite being among the more sensitive tree species to the negative effects of N deposition, these red spruce stands appear to be currently unaffected by N deposition, which could be the result of steep declines in pollutant emissions for the central Appalachian Mountains. On the other hand, my research did show that red spruce growth was a) sensitive to climate and b) a "passive observer" to differences in N availability. Given that anthropogenic climate change is projected to cause widespread shifts in tree species composition in the future, it is expected that red spruce will eventually be outcompeted and replaced by the advancement of broadleaf deciduous species migrating to higher elevations. As a consequence, these species shifts could facilitate higher rates of C and N mineralization through increased decomposition of soil organic matter (SOM), resulting in a significant release of soil CO<sub>2</sub> to the atmosphere as well as potential adverse effects from enhanced N availability. Thus, while my results are encouraging in the context of red spruce recovery from pollution, it does provide some preliminary evidence of the potential outcomes that could be expected under future climate change scenarios.

Appendix. Supplementary Tables and Figures.

**Table S2.1.** Community composition for the seven red spruce stands in the central AppalachianMountains.Species composition was determined using the point-quarter sampling methodduring May 2014.

		Relative Importance Value (%)						
Species	Common name	FLR	GKB	MCG	CGL	UMM	SOR	LSB
Acer pensylvanicum	Striped maple	0	0	0	1.5	0	0	0
Acer rubrum	Red maple	19.9	0	2.5	15.9	3.2	6.5	4.8
Acer saccharum	Sugar maple	0	0	0	0	2.7	0	0
Amelanchier canadensis	Shadblow serviceberry	0	0	0	0	0	0	1.5
Betula alleghaniensis	Yellow birch	6.2	0	37.7	12.8	0	18.6	11.7
Betula lenta	Sweet birch	0	0	0	0	2.4	0	1.5
Fagus grandifolia	American beech	0	0	1.5	12.9	2.3	0	0
Ilex montana	Mountain winterberry	0	0	0	0	0	0	2.9
Magnolia fraseri	Fraser magnolia	0	0	1.6	0	0	0	0
Nyssa sylvatica	Black tupelo	0	0	0	0	0	0	10.2
Pinus rigida	Pitch pine	0	0	0	0	0	0	5.2
Picea rubens	Red spruce	71.2	100	20.5	56.9	73.8	27.7	39.8
Prunus serotina	Black cherry	0	0	6.5	0	15.6	12.5	0
Tsuga canadensis	Eastern hemlock	2.6	0	29.7	0	0	34.7	22.4
All Broadleaf Deciduous Species		26.2	0	49.8	43.1	26.2	37.6	32.6
Shannon Diversity Index		0.79	0	1.39	1.23	0.66	1.46	1.7

**Table S2.2.** Soil descriptions of red spruce study sites. Soil pH determined from 10 g subsamples of homogenized mineral soil (5 cm depth) collected from each site during September 2012. Courtesy: Soil Survey Staff, Natural Resources Conservation Service, United States Department of Agriculture. Soil Survey Geographic (SSURGO) Database for Pocahontas, Randolph and Tucker Cos., WV and for Giles Co., VA. Available online at http://soildatamart.nrcs.usda.gov. Accessed 6 Dec 2012.

Study Site	Soil Series	Taxonomic Class	Drainage Class	Description	Soil pH
FLR	Gauley	Frigid Typic Haplorthods	Moderately deep, well drained	Loamy-skeletal, siliceous, superactive	3.24
GKB	Leetonia	Mesic Entic Haplorthods	Deep, well to excessively drained	Sandy-skeletal, siliceous	3.33
MCG	Ernest	Mesic Aquic Fragiudults	Very deep, moderately well to poorly drained	Fine-loamy, mixed, superactive	3.84
CGL	Snowdog	Frigid Typic Fragiudepts	Very deep, moderately well drained	Fine-loamy, siliceous, active	3.75
UMM	Mandy	Frigid Typic Dystrudepts	Moderately deep, well drained	Loamy-skeletal, mixed, active	3.37
SOR	Snowdog	Frigid Typic Fragiudepts	Very deep, moderately well drained	Fine-loamy, siliceous, active	3.32
LSB	Lily (LB Complex)	Mesic Typic Hapludults	Moderately deep, well drained	Fine-loamy, siliceous, semiactive	3.67
	Bailegap (LB Complex)	Mesic Typic Hapludults	Deep, well drained	Fine-loamy, siliceous, semiactive	3.67

**Table S2.3.** Nutrient supply rates (means and standard error) for each site measured using PRS, Plant Root Simulator<sup>TM</sup>-probes. Data was collected across a 59-day interval during June 2011. Values with an asterisk (\*) are significantly greater (p < 0.05) than remaining red spruce sites. Italicized values are below method detection limit (MDL) for each measured nutrient.

			PRSTM-P	robe Supp	ly Rate (µ	g 10 cm <sup>-2</sup> 5	$59 \text{ days}^{-1}$ )	
Nutrient	Statistic	FLR	GKB	MCG	CGL	UMM	SOR	LSB
	N	4	5	5	5	5	5	5
Total N	Mean	31	24	100*	92*	30	28	28
	StdErr	5.3	4.1	25.5	12.8	5.2	9.6	7.6
NO <sub>3</sub> -N	Mean	21	11	73*	64	21	14	16
	StdErr	5.3	2.4	25.8	13.2	4.1	7.8	8.3
NH4-N	Mean	10.5	12.8	27.8*	28.5*	9.3	13.7	11.2
	StdErr	0.6	2.5	5.7	8.1	1.4	1.9	0.7
Ca	Mean	266	101	595*	198	102	230	215
	StdErr	70	21	139	43	27	48	55
Mg	Mean	102	43	157*	71	59	130	94
C	StdErr	25.1	7.4	30.5	12.5	15.2	28.6	22.3
Κ	Mean	333	177	146	408*	401*	316	195
	StdErr	71	24	23	59	91	66	22
Р	Mean	4.6	1.8	1.5	9.2	6.4	1.9	7.1
	StdErr	1.9	0.6	0.2	3.9	2	0.4	2.1
Fe	Mean	1.5	1.9	5	8.6	9.9*	4.4	6.2
	StdErr	0.1	0.1	1.6	1.7	1.7	1.6	2.7
Mn	Mean	43.3	14.7	62.4*	45.4	11.5	11.4	7.3
	StdErr	7.6	4.4	11.3	14.8	3.6	1.7	0.7
S	Mean	115	179*	144	86	71	57	68
	StdErr	5.7	47.1	22.1	13.1	9.3	7.9	10.7
Pb	Mean	0.9	1.5	3.2*	0.9	0.7	0.8	1.4
	StdErr	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.3
Al	Mean	15	15	36	45*	43*	29	37
	StdErr	1.7	0.5	6.2	9.5	4.3	4.2	6.4
Cd	Mean	0.04	0.06	0.30*	0.04	0.02	0.04	0.05
	StdErr	0.01	0.01	0.05	0.01	0	0.01	0.01

**Table S2.4.** Geology of red spruce study sites. Associated formations are shown in parentheses. Data derived from geological maps of West Virginia (ca. 1968) and Virginia (ca. 1993), courtesy of the WV Geological and Economic Survey.

Study Site	Period	Group	Туре
FLR	Pennsylvanian (Mississippian)	Pottsville (Mauch Chunk)	Sandstone (Shale)
GKB	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	Sandstone
MCG	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	Sandstone
CGL	Pennsylvanian	Pottsville	Sandstone
UMM	Devonian	Chemung (Pocono)	Shale (Sandstone)
SOR	Devonian	Chemung	Shale
LSB	Silurian-Devonian	Silurian-Devonian Undivided	Sandstone (Limestone)

Index	Fit	Nitrification	Mineralization
$PRS^{TM} NH_4^+$	Lin	0.75*	0.83**
$PRS^{TM} NO_3^{-}$	Lin	0.63*	0.70*
$PRS^{TM}$ Total N	Lin	0.67*	0.75*
Foliar %N	Exp	0.19	0.23
Foliar δ <sup>15</sup> N	Exp	0.76*	0.85**
Organic $\delta^{15}$ N	Exp	0.45	0.67*
Mineral $\delta^{15}$ N	Exp	0.52	0.84**
Organic C:N	Exp	0.67*	0.86**
Mineral C:N	Exp	0.71*	0.94***
* ~ < 0.05. ** ~	< 0.01	*** ~ < 0.001	

**Table S2.5.** Coefficients of determination  $(R^2)$  for bivariate regression models between field-based indices of soil N availability and specific N cycling rates from laboratory incubations.

\*, *p* < 0.05; \*\*, *p* < 0.01; \*\*\*, *p* < 0.001

**Figure S2.1.** Linear regressions of mean net N mineralization and net nitrification rates ( $\pm$  std. error bars; n = 2) versus total dissolved inorganic N (DIN) supply rates (measured using PRS<sup>TM</sup> probes across a 59-d burial period) for each study site along a gradient of atmospheric N deposition (n = 7). \*, p < 0.05; \*\*, p < 0.01.

